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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

To the Sole Shareholder of Criteria Caixa, S.A, (Sole-Shareholder Company),

Report on the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Criteria Caixa, S.A. (Sole-Shareholder Company)
(the Company), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, and the statement
of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes to the
financial statements for the year then ended,

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2OtB, and its results and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting

framework applicable to the Company (identified in Note 2-a) to the financial statements) and,
in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained therein.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those regulations are further described in the Auditor's Responsibitities
for the Audit of the Financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including
those pertaining to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Spain pursuant to the audit regulations in force. In this regard, we have not provided any
services other than those relating to the audit of financial statements and there have not been
any situations or circumstances that, in accordance with the aforementioned audit regulations,
might have affected the requisite independence in such a way as to compromise our
independence.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters,

Impairment of investments in associates
Description

Procedures applied in the audit

As described in Note 7, the Company
has ownership interests in the share
capital of associates the carrying
amount of which was EUR 15,361
million at year-end.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the
review of the design and implementation of the
relevant controls that mitigate the risks associated
with the process of assessing the impairment of
the investments in associates, as well as tests to
verify that the aforementioned controls operate
effectively.

Determining whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment of
the net investment giving rise to a
loss with an impact on estimated
future cash flows requires the use of
significant judgements and estimates
by management of the Company,
both in determining future cash flow
discounting as the valuation method
and in considering the key
assumptions established for each
method in question (use of correction
factors to adapt the comparable data
considered, use of discount rates,
etc. ).
The aforementioned matters, and the
significance of the ownership interests
held, led us to determine the
situation described to be a key matter
in our audit.

We also obtained and analysed the valuations of
the aforementioned investments performed by
management of the Company, and verified the
clerical accuracy thereof and the appropriateness
of the valuation method used in relation to the
investment held. In addition, we reviewed the
future cash flow forecasts and compared them
with external data and historical information of
the investees in order to assess the
reasona bleness thereof.
We checked that the main assumptions
considered in the model are reasonable based on
public information on the business sector in which
the investee operates and also reviewed the
sensitivity analysis prepared by the Company.
We involved our internal valuation experts in the
performance of our procedures in order to

evaluate, mainly, the methodology employed by
the Company in the analysis conducted, the
discount rates considered and the terminal value,
expressed in perpetuity growth terms, of the
projected future cash flows, where appropriate.
Lastly, we checked that the disclosures included in
Note 7 to the accompanying financial statements
in connection with this matter are in conformity
with those required by the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Company.
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Valuation of investment property and property inventories
Description

Procedures applied in the audit

The Company owns a portfolio of real estate
assets for lease ("Investment Property")
and a portfolio of land, housing
developments in progress and completed
housing developments (" Property
Inventories") located throughout Spain, the
carrying amounts of which at 31 December
2018 were EUR 111 million and EUR 899
million, respectively, as detailed in Notes 5
and 9.

Our audit procedures included, among
others, the review and assessment of the
valuation process for investment property
and property inventories.
Also, we conducted tests to verify the
completeness of the information used as the
basis for estimating impairment.

In this connection, with the cooperation of
our internal specialists in the valuation of
property assets, we: (i) evaluated the
competence, capability and objectivity of
the experts engaged by the Company to
value its property assets, as well as the
adequacy of their work for use as audit
evidence, (ii) analysed and concluded upon,
for a sample of appraisals determined on a
selective basis, the reasonableness of the
valuation procedures and methodology used
by the experts engaged by Company
management and (iii) analysed the
reasonableness and consistency of the main
property-related assumptions considered in
the Company's internal valuation model,

The Company measures its investment
property at acquisition cost, less the related
accumulated depreciation, and recognises
impairment losses, where appropriate, if the
recoverable amount of the investment
property falls below its carrying amount; in
addition, the Company measures its
property inventories at the lower of
acquisition cost and net realisable value, to
which end it bases its conclusions on
appraisals and valuations conducted by
external experts engaged for this purpose,
and these appraisals and valuations are
subsequently adjusted using an internal
valuation model,

Lastly, we checked that the disclosures
included in Notes 5 and 9 to the
accompanying financial statements in
connection with the investment property
and property inventories, respectively, are
in conformity with the requirements of the
regulatory financial reporting framework
applicable to the Company,

The valuation of the investment property
and that of the property inventories are key
matters in our audit, since they require
valuation techniques that involve the use of
significant estimates and judgements with a
high degree of uncertainty, the most
noteworthy of which are those relating to
the experience of sales of similar real estate
assets, the difference between the effective
sale price and the appraised value for
properties sold by the Company in the last
24 months, marketing costs and the future
evolution of the rental of certain assets.
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Recoverability of deferred tax assets
Description

Procedures applied in the audit

The balance sheet as at 31 December 201B
includes EUR BB1 million of deferred tax
assets, of which EUR 648 million relate
mainly to tax loss and tax credit
carryforwards that are recoverable in the
context of the tax group headed by
CaixaBank, S.A. to which the Company
belongs.

Our audit procedures included, among
others, the review of the aforementioned
financial models, including the analysis of
the reasonableness of the actual results
obtained compared with the results
projected in the previous year's models, the
reasonableness of the results included in
the current year's models, and the
applicable tax legislation, as well as the
reasonableness of the projections for future
years.

At the end of the year management of the
parent of the tax group prepares financial
models to assess the recoverability of the
aforementioned tax assets, taking into
consideration new legislative developments
and based on the tax group's earnings
projections.

Also, we involved our internal experts from
the tax area in the analysis of the
reasonableness of the tax assumptions
considered on the basis of the applicable
legislation.

We identified this matter as key in our
audit, since the preparation of these models
requires a significant level of judgement,
mainly in connection with the projections of
business performance, which affect the
estimate made of the recoverability of the
tax assets.

Furthermore, we obtained confirmation of
the procedures performed by the auditors of
the parent of the tax group in relation to
the recoverability of the deferred tax assets
and assessed the sufficiency of these
procedures and the reasonableness of their
conclusions.
Lastly, we evaluated whether Note 15 to the
accompanyi ng financial statements contains
the disclosures required in this connection
by the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Company.
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Other Information : Directors' Report
The other information comprises only the directors' report for
2018, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Company's directors and which does
not form part of the financial
statements.

our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the directors'
report. our
responsibility

relating to the information contained in the directors'report
is defined in the audit
regulations in force, which establish two distinct levels of responsibility
in this regard:

a) A specific level that applies to certain information included in the Annual
corporate

Governance Report, as defined in Article 35.2.b) of Spanish Audit
Law 22/2015, which consists
solely of checking that the aforementioned information has been provided
in the directors,
report and, if this is not the case, reporting this fact.

b) A general level applicable to the other information included in the
directors, report, which
consists of evaluating and reporting on whether the aforementioned
information is consistent
with the financial statements, based on the knowledge of the entity
obtained in the audit of
those financial statements and excluding any information other
than that obtained as evidence
during the audit, as well as evaluating and reporting on whether
the content and presentation
of this section of the directors'report are in conformity with the
applicable regulations. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material
misstatements, we are
required to report that fact.
Based on the work performed, as described above, we have
checked that the information
described in section a) above is provided in the directors' report
and that the other information
in the directors'report is consistent with that contained in the financial
statements for 2018
and its content and presentation are in conformity with the applicable
regulations.

Responsibilities of the Directors and of the Audit and Control Committee
for
the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying financial
statements so that they
present fairly the company's equity, financial position and
results in accordance with the
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the company
in spain, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Company,s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The audit and control committee is responsible for overseeing the process
involved in the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for th e Audit of the Financial Statements
our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the audit regulations in force
in spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements,
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is included
in Appendix I to this auditor's report. This description, which
is on page B, forms part of our
auditor's report.
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Report on other Legar and Reguratory Requirements
Additional Report to the Audit and Control Committee
The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the
content of our additional report to
the company's audit and contror committee dated 15 March 2019.

Engagement Period
The company's sole shareholder, per the minutes of resolutions
dated 1g May 2oTT,appointed
us as auditors for a period of one year from the year ended
31 Decemb er 2or7.

Previously, we were designated pursuant to a resolution
of the sole shareholder for the period
of one year and have been auditing the financial statements uninterruptedly
since the year
ended 31 December 2oo7 and, therefore, since the year
ended 31 December 2011, the year
in which the Company became a public interest entity.
DELOITTE, S.L.

Registered in ROAC under no, 50692

Jo
Reg

in ROAC under no. t7529

15 March 2019
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Appendix

I to our auditor's report

Further to the information contained in our auditor's report, in this Appendix we include our
responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements.

Auditor's Responsibilities fo r the Audit of the Financial Statements
As part of an audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain, we exercise
professionaljudgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, We
also:

'

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control,

o

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting est¡mates and related disclosures made by the directors.

'

Conclude on the appropriateness of the use by the directors of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company,s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

¡

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the entity's audit and control committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the entity's audit and control committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we
have communicated with it to report on all matters that may reasonably be thought to
jeopardise our independence, and where applicable, on the related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the entity's audit and control committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.
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BALANCE SHEET
at 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.

31/12/2018

ASSETS

31/12/2017(*)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Non-current investments in Group companies, associates
and joint ventures

(Note 4.a)
(Note 4.b)
(Note 5)

Investments in Group companies
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Other financial assets
Non-current financial assets
Equity instruments
Debt securities
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets

(Note 7.1)
(Note 7.2)
(Note 7.4)
(Note 8.1)
(Note 8.2)
(Note 8.3)
(Note 15)

Total non-current assets

737
4,234
110,842

657
3,718
285,811

18,035,231

18,927,401

2,359,745
15,360,911
314,575
1,821,144
1,790,048
30,634
462
880,919

1,343,530
17,305,190
278,681
937,611
936,134
1,477
958,640

20,853,107

21,113,838

898,952
115,944
588
86,496
19
28,841
792,799
792,799
716,305
81,811
634,494
620,750

968,673
127,967
2,993
124,689
275
10
247,154
247,154
26,782
26,782
655,959

3,144,750

2,026,535

23,997,857

23,140,373

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Receivable from Group companies and associates
Sundry accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable from public administrations
Current investments in Group companies and associates
Other financial assets
Current financial assets
Debt securities
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

(Note 9)

(Note 17)
(Note 15)
(Note 7.4)
(Note 8.2)
(Note 8.3)
(Note 10)

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
(*) The figures at 31 December 2017 are presented for comparison purposes only

The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet at 31 December 2018
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BALANCE SHEET
at 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.
31/12/2018

31/12/2017(*)

18,702,040
1,834,166
2,344,519
366,833
11,830,436
16,800
2,559,286
(250,000)
(29,542)
(28,671)
(871)

16,717,740
1,834,166
2,344,519
366,833
11,894,241
16,800
361,181
(100,000)
115,617
116,210
(593)

(Note 11)

18,672,498

16,833,357

(Note 12)

1,858
4,159,805
1,732,875
2,406,431
20,054
445

2,583
6,192,335
2,742,499
3,437,104
10,938
1,794

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY:
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital
Share premium
Legal reserve
Other reserves
Other shareholder contributions
Profit/(loss) for the period
(Interim dividend paid during the period)
Valuation adjustments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Hedging instruments
Total equity
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-current provisions
Non-current payables
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities

(Note 13.1)
(Note 13.2)
(Note 14)
(Note 13.3)

Non-current payables to Group companies and associates

(Note 14)

12,426

9,989

Deferred tax liabilities

(Note 15)

1,197

-

4,175,286

6,204,907

932
1,027,559
971,153
20,000
35,351
629
426

36,731
36,731
-

831

854

120,603
18,312
681
20,463
2,890
75,961
2,296
148

64,524
29,376
11,534
13,136
3,168
5,890
1,420
-

1,150,073

102,109

23,997,857

23,140,373

Total non-current liabilities
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current provisions
(Note 12)
Current payables
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
(Note 13.1)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
(Note 13.2)
Interest payable
(Note 13)
Derivatives
(Note 14)
Other financial liabilities
(Note 13.3)
Current payables to Group companies, associates and joint
ventures
Trade and other payables
Suppliers
Payable to suppliers – Group companies and associates
(Note 17)
Accounts payable
Personnel
Other accounts payable to public administrations
(Note 15)
Customer advances
Current accruals
Total current liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(*) The figures at 31 December 2017 are presented for comparison purposes only

The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet at 31 December 2018
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.
2018
A) CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue
Return on equity investments
(Note 16.a)
Changes in fair value of financial instruments
Gains/(losses) on disposal of equity instruments
Real estate sales and building leases
(Note 16.a)
Services
(Note 16.a)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group
(Note 16.b)
companies and associates
Change in inventories of finished products and work in
progress
Change in inventories of developments underway
Procurements
(Note 9)
Purchases of land, developments in progress
and completed developments
Impairment of land, developments in progress
and completed developments
Staff expenses
(Note 16.c)
Other operating expenses
External services
(Note 16.d)
Taxes other than income tax
Losses on, impairment of and changes in
allowances for trade receivables
Depreciation and amortisation
(Notes 4 and 5)
Changes in provisions
Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non(Note 16.f)
current assets
Impairment and other losses
Gains/(losses) on disposal and other
Impairment and other losses on financial
(Note 16.g)
instruments
Exchange
differences
Other gains/(losses)

2017 (*)
1,419,938
1,316,527
(70)
103,041
440

850,677
813,442
4,038
30,970
2,227

1,633,798

(247,829)

6,447

506

6,447
(71,185)

506
30,490

(87,312)

(9,411)

16,127

39,901

(13,331)
(64,197)
(50,207)
(13,580)

(12,750)
(79,612)
(65,166)
(16,070)

(410)

1,624

(6,628)
521

(11,646)
-

17,369

2,476

12,577
4,792
(216,669)
4,879
99

(10,419)
12,895
(68,702)
(50)
973

2,711,041

464,533

5,584
(112,398)
(11,784)

5,745
(149,759)
19,294

(1,023)

1,587

NET FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSE)

(119,621)

(123,133)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

2,591,420

341,400

(32,134)

19,781

2,559,286

361,181

B) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

-

-

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

2,559,286

361,181

NET OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Financial income
Financial expenses
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of
financial instruments

Income tax
–PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD FROM CONTINUING

(Note 16.h)
(Note 16.i)
(Note 16.j)
(Note 16.k)

(Note 15)

OPERATIONS

(*) The figures at 31 December 2017 are presented for comparison purposes only

The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART A)
STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.
2018

2017 (*)

A) PROFIT/(LOSS) AS PER STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2,559,286

361,181

B) Income and expense recognised directly in equity
Arising from revaluation of financial instruments
(Note 11.d)
Arising from cash flow hedges
(Note 11.d)
Grants, donations and legacies received
Arising from actuarial gains and losses and other adjustments
Tax effect
(Note 11.d)
C) Transfers to profit or loss
(Note 11.d)

(145,752)
(162,461)
(1,245)
17,954

123,083
123,676
(847)
254

593
847
(254)

-

2,414,127

484,264

Arising from revaluation of financial instruments
Arising from cash flow hedges
Grants, donations and legacies received
Tax effect
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (A + B + C)
(*) The figures at 31 December 2017 are presented for comparison purposes only

The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART B)
STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.

Share
Capital

premium

Other
Reserves

shareholder

Profit/(loss)

Interim

Shareholders’

Valuation

for the period

dividend

equity

adjustments

contributions

Closing balance 2016 (*)

1,834,166

equity

16,800

8,835

-

16,756,560

(7,466)

16,749,094

-

361,181

-

361,181

123,083

484,264

-

(300,000)-

-

(100,000)

(400,000)

-

(400,000)

-

8,834

-

(8,835)

-

(1)

-

(1)

2,344,519 12,261,074

16,800

361,181 (100,000)

16,717,740

115,617

16,833,357

-

-

II. Transactions with shareholders

-

III. Other changes in equity

-

1,834,166

net

in equity

2,344,519 12,552,240

I. Total recognised income and expense

Closing balance 2017 (*)

Total

-

-

I. Total recognised income and expense

-

-

-

-

2,559,286

-

2,559,286

(145,159)

2,414,127

II. Transactions with shareholders (Notes 3 and 11)

-

-

111,181

-

(361,181)

(150,000)

(400,000)

-

(400,000)

III. Other changes in equity (Note 11)

-

-

(174,986)

-

-

-

(174,986)

-

(174,986)

2,344,519 12,197,269

16,800

2,559,286 (250,000)

18,702,040

(29,542)

18,672,498

Closing balance 2018

1,834,166

(*) The figures for 2017 and 2016 are presented for comparison purposes only

The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in thousands of euros
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.
A) Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
1. Profit/(loss) before tax
2. Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Allowances for impairment losses (Notes 9, 16.f and 16.g)
Changes in provisions
Net profit/(loss) on derecognition and disposal of non-current assets (Note 16.f)
Gains/(losses) on derecognition and disposal of equity instruments
Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates (Note 16.b)
Change in the fair value of financial instruments (Note 14)
Return on equity investments (Note 16.a)
Financial income (Note 16.h)
Financial expenses (Note 16.i)
Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments (Note 16.k)
Exchange differences
Other income and expense
3. Changes in working capital
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current liabilities
Other assets and other liabilities
4. Other cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Interest paid
Dividends received (Notes 7.1, 7.2, 8.1 and 16.a)
Interest received
Payments on account of income tax - current period
Income tax recovered/(paid)
Other payments and collections
B) Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities
Payments (-)
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Investment property (Note 5)
Group companies, associates and joint ventures (Notes 7.1, 7.2 and 7.4)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 8.1)
Non-current assets held for sale
Debt securities (Note 8.2)
Temporary financial investments (Note 8.3)
Proceeds (+)
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Investment property (Note 5)
Group companies, associates and joint ventures (Notes 7.1 and 7.2)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 8.1)
Debt securities (Note 8.2)
Non-current assets held for sale
Temporary financial investments (Note 8.3)
C) Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid
(Notes 3 and 11)
Proceeds and payments relating to financial liability instruments (Note 13)
a) Issuances:
- Bonds and other marketable debt securities
- Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
b) Repayments and redemptions:
- Bonds and other marketable debt securities
- Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
- Borrowings from Group companies and associates
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2018
1,035,891
2,591,420
(2,645,824)
6,628
187,965
(111)
(4,792)
70
(1,633,798)
11,784
(1,316,527)
(5,584)
112,397
1,023
(4,879)
61,570
80,865
35
(19,166)
(164)
1,028,725
(107,303)
1,557,666
3,302
(543,827)
119,007
(120)
450,747
(3,127,410)
(1,833)
(2,566)
(821,873)
(1,040,303)
(161,480)
(1,099,355)
3,578,157
526
20,738
3,005,021
556
51,961
499,355
(1,521,847)

2017(*)
621,292
341,400
(409,167)
11,646
39,220
(913)
(12,895)
247,829
(23,332)
(813,442)
(5,745)
149,759
(1,587)
50
243
2,851
6,579
(4,149)
(293)
714
686,208
(126,521)
813,004
8,833
23,238
(32,346)
550,218
(1,021,945)
(4,348)
(179)
(896,368)
(113,342)
(7,708)
1,572,163
5,689
1,485,688
20,000
60,786
(2,390,847)

(400,000)

(400,000)

(1,121,847)
50,000
50,000
(1,171,847)
(41,847)
(1,130,000)
(35,209)
655,959
620,750

(1,990,847)
1,439,652
746,490
693,162
(3,430,499)
(2,255,499)
(625,000)
(550,000)
(1,219,337)
1,875,296
655,959

(*) The figures at 31 December 2017 are presented for comparison purposes only
The accompanying Notes 1 to 22 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of cash flows for 2018
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.

1. Corporate information
Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (the “Company”, “Criteria” or “CriteriaCaixa”), formerly Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U.,
was incorporated on 16 December 2003 under the name Gestora de Microfinances, S.A.U.
On 25 July 2007, the resolutions taken by the Board of Directors on 16 July 2007 were placed on public
record, changing the company name from Gestora de Microfinances, S.A.U. to Servihabitat XXI, S.A.U. On
18 December 2013, by virtue of the reverse merger between Servihabitat XXI, S.A.U. (absorbing company)
and Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. (absorbed company), the Company changed its name to Criteria
CaixaHolding, S.A.U. On 7 October 2015, the resolution taken by the Board of Trustees of Fundación
Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” (the Company’s sole shareholder), modifying
the corporate name from Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. to Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., was signed before a notary
public and placed on public record.
Its registered office is located at Plaza Weyler 3, Palma de Mallorca.
According to Article 2 of its Articles of Association, the corporate purpose of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. consists
of the following activities:
a)

acquisition, sale and administration of transferable securities and holdings in other companies,
whether or not their securities are listed on the stock exchange;

b) administration and management of companies, and administration and management of
securities representing the equity of entities resident and non-resident in Spain;
c)

financial, tax, technical and stock exchange counselling or any other type of advisory service;

d) consultancy, advisory and promotional activities for industrial, business, urban development or
agricultural initiatives and those of any other type;
e)

construction, refurbishment, maintenance and technical assistance, acquisition, administration,
management, promotion, sale and leasing, except for financial leasing, of real estate of all types,
owned by the company itself or by third parties; and

f)

marketing of real estate, on behalf of either the company itself or third parties, in the broadest
terms and through all marketing channels, including online channels through use and
management of websites.

The Company may also hold shares in other companies and may even be involved in their incorporation,
partner with them and hold any type of interest in them.
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CriteriaCaixa forms part of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
Group, the parent of which is the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation.
The ”la Caixa” Group consolidated financial statements for 2017 were authorised for issue by the CEO of
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation on 29 March 2018 and approved by the Board of Trustees on 24 May 2018.
On approval, they were filed with the Companies Registry of Palma de Mallorca and the Ministry of
Justice’s National Foundations Registry.
At 31 December 2018, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation was the sole shareholder of CriteriaCaixa, meaning
the Company is classified as a single-member company (see Note 17).
Criteria is the parent of a group of subsidiaries and, pursuant to prevailing legislation, is required to
prepare separate consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements, along with
the separate financial statements, were prepared by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2019, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union. The
accompanying financial statements do not reflect the Group’s position, the key indicators of which are as
follows at 31 December 2018 and 2017:
Thousands of euros
Consolidated equity
Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to the Group
Total consolidated assets

2018
18,630,549
1,577,290
25,085,816

2017
17,961,383
1,458,728
25,323,941

Figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated explicitly.
Certain financial information in these notes was rounded off and, consequently, the figures shown herein
as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the individual figures given before them.
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2. Basis of presentation
a)

Regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company

The accompanying financial statements, which were formally prepared by the Company’s Board of
Directors, are presented in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to
the Company, which consists of:
a)

the Spanish Commercial Code and all other Spanish corporate law;

b) the Spanish General Chart of Accounts (Plan General de Contabilidad) enacted by Royal Decree
1514/2007, as modified by Royal Decree 602/2016, and its industry applications;
c)

the mandatory rules approved by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute in order to
implement the Spanish General Chart of Accounts and the related rules and regulations; and

d) all other applicable Spanish accounting law and regulations.
b) True and fair view
The accompanying financial statements, which were prepared from the Company’s accounting records,
are presented in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company
and, in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained therein and, accordingly, present
fairly the Company’s equity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows for 2018.
These financial statements, which were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors at its meeting held
on 14 March 2019, will be submitted for approval by the Company’s sole shareholder, and it is considered
that they will be approved without any changes. The financial statements for 2017 were approved by the
sole shareholder on 24 May 2018.
In the financial statements, information or breakdowns, for which a qualitative breakdown is not required
due their significance, and are considered immaterial or as having no relevance under the terms of
materiality or importance described in the framework of the general chart of accounts, have been
omitted.
The ordinary activities of the Company, understood to be those carried out by the Company regularly and
from which revenue is earned on a regular basis, correspond to that of a holding company. Therefore, the
Company’s Directors took into account the ruling published in Official Gazette no. 79 (published on
28 July 2009) of the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) in relation to the accounting
classification in separate financial statements of the income and expenses of holding companies and to
the determination of the revenue of entities of this nature, taking into account the ordinary activity.
Under this ruling, all income obtained by a holding company as a result of its financial activities will
constitute “Revenue”, provided that these activities are considered to be ordinary activities. Therefore,
both dividends and profit/(loss) obtained from the disposal of investments, except those arising from the
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, constitute “Revenue”.
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Based on the premise that the Company’s ordinary activities include the strategic and long-term
ownership of equity investments in other companies, details of the line headings forming an integral part
of “Revenue” are as follows:
-

Services: include services rendered to other companies;

-

Return on equity investments: including dividends received as a result of the ownership of equity
investments in other companies;

-

Change in fair value of financial instruments; and

-

Gains/(losses) on disposal of equity instruments.

Impairments and losses on financial instruments as well as exchange differences, where applicable, are
included in the Company’s operating income or loss.
Pursuant to the ruling of the ICAC, “Net financial income/(expense)” is introduced, in which the financial
income earned and financial expenses incurred during the period are included. The financial income
earned on loans granted to subsidiaries is retained under “Net financial income/(expense)”, since
financing to subsidiaries is not a part of the Company’s ordinary activity.
c)

Non-obligatory accounting principles applied

The Directors formally prepared these financial statements taking into account all the obligatory
accounting principles and standards with a significant effect hereon. All obligatory accounting principles
were applied. No non-obligatory accounting principles were applied.
d) Comparison of information
The information contained in these notes to the financial statements at 31 December 2017 is presented
for comparison purposes with that relating to 31 December 2018.
Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in group companies and associates, which in the statement of
profit or loss at 31 December 2017 were shown under “Revenue”, have now been moved to
“Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates” in the accompanying
statement of profit or loss.
Accounting principles and standards have been applied uniformly across 2018 and 2017. Accordingly, no
operation or transaction has been recognised on the basis of any other accounting principles or standards
that could lead to discrepancies or inconsistencies in the interpretation of the comparative figures
provided for both periods.
e)

Critical issues regarding the measurement and estimation of uncertainties

In preparing the accompanying financial statements, estimates were made on the basis of historical
experience and on various other factors considered reasonable in accordance with prevailing
circumstances. These have been used as the basis for determining the carrying amount of certain assets,
liabilities, income, expenses and commitments whose value is not readily determinable through other
sources. The Company continuously reviews its estimates.
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The main forward-looking assumptions assumed and other relevant sources of uncertainty regarding the
estimates made at the close date and that could have a significant impact in the years to come relate to:
-

Determining impairment losses on investment property and inventories (see Notes 5 and 9).

-

Determining the recoverable amount of investments in Group entities, associates and joint ventures
(see Note 7).

-

Determining the recoverable amount of certain financial instruments (see Note 8).

-

The calculation and recognition of provisions and contingent liabilities (see Note 12);

-

The recognition of tax assets and the assessment as to their recoverability (see Note 15).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the close of 2018,
future events may require that the estimates be revised (upward or downward) in future periods. Such
revisions would, if applicable, be made prospectively.
f)

Grouping of headings

Certain items in the balance sheet, statement of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows are grouped together to facilitate their understanding; however, whenever the
amounts involved are material, the information is broken down in the related notes to the financial
statements.
g)

Changes in accounting policies

There were no significant changes in accounting policies in 2018 with respect to those applied in the
preparation of the information for 2017.
h) Error correction
In preparing the accompanying financial statements, no significant errors were detected that would have
made it necessary to restate the amounts included in the financial statements for 2017.
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3. Appropriation of profit
The proposed appropriation of profit in 2018 presented by the Directors of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. and the
appropriation of profit in 2017 are as follows:
(Thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Profit/(loss) for the year

2,559,286

361,181

Appropriation:
Voluntary reserve
Interim dividend
Final dividend

2,109,286
250,000
200,000

211,181
100,000
50,000

Total

2,559,286

361,181

Basis of appropriation

On 26 July 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the distribution of a first interim dividend
against 2018 profits, in the amount of EUR 200,000 thousand, which was paid to ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation on 27 July 2018.
Further, on 18 October 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the distribution of a second
interim dividend against 2018 profits, in the amount of EUR 50,000 thousand, which was paid to ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation on 29 October 2018.
The Board plans to submit a proposal to pay a final dividend of EUR 200,000 thousand against 2018
earnings for approval by the sole shareholder.
The table below shows the mandatory provisional financial statements prepared by the Board of
Directors, indicating there is sufficient cash to pay the aforementioned interim dividends.
Thousands of euros
Date of resolution to pay interim dividend
Applicable balance sheet date

26.07.2018
30.06.2018

18.10.2018
30.09.2018

Profit from 1 January 2018
Interim dividend paid
Appropriation to legal reserve (10%)

2,429,023
-

2,525,864
(200,000)
-

Maximum amount distributable
Interim dividend agreed

2,429,023
(200,000)

2,325,864
(50,000)

Remainder

2,229,023

2,275,864

Amounts available in demand deposits at the balance sheet date
Projected changes in cash in 12-month period

1,442,826
(460,477)

1,014,227
(227,049)

982,349

787,178

(200,000)

(50,000)

782,349

737,178

Liquidity
Interim dividend
Remaining liquidity
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4. Accounting policies and measurement bases
The principal accounting policies and measurement bases used in the preparation of the financial
statements for 2018 and 2017, in accordance with the Spanish General Chart of Accounts in force, were
as follows:
a)

Intangible assets

In general, intangible assets are initially recognised at cost of acquisition or production and include,
basically, the cost of developing new computer software. They are subsequently reduced by any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised over
their useful life, which is estimated to be three years.
Disposals for 2018 generated losses of EUR 25 thousand, recognised under “Impairment and gains/(losses)
on disposal of non-current assets” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.f).
Charges to the statements of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017 as amortisation of intangible assets
amounted to EUR 399 thousand and EUR 1,411 thousand, respectively, and are shown under
“Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets” in the accompanying statements of profit or loss.
The cost of the fully amortised assets still in use at 31 December 2018 and 2017 amounted to EUR 937
thousand and EUR 1,257 thousand, respectively.
Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
If there are any signs of impairment, the Company estimates possible losses in the recoverable amount of
its intangible assets or property, plant and equipment compared with their carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is calculated as the greater of fair value at the time less cost of sale and value in
use. Whenever possible, impairment calculations are conducted asset by asset, in an individualised
manner.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. A reversed impairment loss is recognised as income.
b)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment for own use, as well as furniture and office equipment, are initially
recognised at cost of acquisition or production and subsequently reduced for any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The property, plant and equipment upkeep and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the year incurred. Conversely, the amounts invested in improvements that help to increase the
capacity or efficiency or lengthen the useful life of such assets are recognised as a higher cost.
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The Company depreciates its tangible assets for own use on a straight-line basis at annual rates based on
the following years of estimated useful life:
Years of
estimated
useful life
Property, plant and equipment:
Facilities
Electronic equipment
Other

6
4
6 - 10

The gains or losses arising on the sale or derecognition of an asset are calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and its selling price, and are recognised under “Impairment and
gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets” in the statement of profit or loss.
Disposals for 2018, which primarily relate to other property, plant and equipment, generated losses of
EUR 9 thousand, recognised under “Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets” in
the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.f).
Charges to the statements of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017 as depreciation of property, plant and
equipment amounted to EUR 805 thousand and EUR 655 thousand, respectively, and are shown under
“Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets” in the accompanying statements of profit or loss.
The cost of the fully amortised assets still in use at 31 December 2018 and 2017 amounted to EUR 264
thousand and EUR 231 thousand, respectively.
The Company takes out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its items of property, plant
and equipment are subject. At the end of 2018 and 2017, assets were fully insured against these risks.
c)

Investment property

“Investment property” in the balance sheet reflects the values of the land, buildings and other structures
held either to earn rentals or gains from the sale thereof as a result of future increases in their respective
market prices.
Investment property is recognised at cost of acquisition or production less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or
efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are recognised as additions to the cost of
the related assets, whereas upkeep and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of profit or
loss for the period in which they are incurred.
In relation to projects in progress, only the costs of construction and borrowing costs are capitalised,
provided that they had been incurred before the assets became ready for their intended use and the
duration of the construction work exceeded one year.
The Company did not capitalise any borrowing costs in 2018 or 2017.
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The Company depreciates its investment property on a straight-line basis at annual rates based on the
following years of estimated useful life:
Years of
estimated
useful life
Constructions:
Buildings
Facilities

50
12

The gains or losses arising on the sale or derecognition of an asset are calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and its selling price, and are recognised under “Impairment and
gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets” in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment of investment property
The Company regularly checks that there are no indications of impairment of its investment property that
might change their recoverable amount. Likewise, at year-end the Company compares the carrying
amount of the various items of its investment property with their recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The Company determines fair value on the basis of
appraisals or valuations made by independent experts. These appraisals are no more than two years old
and are subsequently adjusted in accordance with an internal valuation model.
In this respect, Criteria has a corporate policy that guarantees the professional competence and the
independence and objectivity of external valuation agencies, under which these agencies must comply
with neutrality and credibility requirements so that use of their estimates does not undermine the
reliability of their valuations. This policy stipulates that all appraisers used by Criteria in Spain must be
included in the Bank of Spain’s Official Registry.
The Company conducts detailed studies of the segmentation of its assets, drawing up an individual action
plan for each property segment. For each of the asset segments defined, the internal valuation model
adjusts appraisals primarily taking into account the difference between the real sale price of the assets
and their appraisal value, for those properties sold by the Company in the last 24 months, in addition to
other factors such as marketing costs and the future rental performance of certain assets.
When the value obtained from the adjusted appraisal is less than its carrying amount of the asset in
question, the Company recognises the appropriate impairment loss with a charge to the statement of
profit or loss for the period.
Meanwhile, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the
impairment loss recorded in prior periods is recognised by crediting the statement of profit or loss. In no
circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that
which it would have had no impairment losses had been recognised in prior years.
d)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards inherent in the asset to the lessee are
considered finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
At 31 December 2018, all the leases held by the Company were classified as operating leases.
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Operating leases
Lease income and expenses from operating leases are recognised in income on an accrual basis.
Any collection or payment, other than deposits, that might be made when arranging an operating lease
will be treated as a prepaid lease collection or payment, which will be taken to profit or loss over the lease
term in accordance with the time pattern in which the benefits of the leased asset are provided or
received.
In addition, when the Company acts as lessor, the acquisition cost of a leased asset is classified in the
balance sheet as if it were owned, increased for directly attributable contract expenses, which are
subsequently expensed throughout the life of the lease arrangement following the same criteria used to
recognise lease income.
e)

Investments in Group companies, associates and joint ventures

The Company considers Group companies to be those linked to the Company through a relationship of
control. Control is evidenced when it has:
-

power to direct the relevant activities of the investee, i.e. the rights (legal, statutory or through
agreements) that give the ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the
investee’s returns,

-

the present (practical) ability to exercise the rights to exert power over the investee to affect its
returns and,

-

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.

Joint ventures include entities which are not subsidiaries and which are jointly controlled with other
shareholders under a contractual arrangement.
Associates are companies over which the Company exercises significant direct or indirect influence, but
which are not subsidiaries or joint ventures. In the majority of cases, significant influence is understood
to exist when the Company holds 20% or more of the voting power of the investee. If it holds less than
20%, significant influence is deemed to exist when the Company expressly states that it exercises such
significant influence and if any of the circumstances provided for in accounting legislation exists, such as
(i) the voting rights corresponding to other shareholders are held; (ii) there is sufficient representation on
the governing bodies; or (iii) there are agreements among entities.
Investments in which the Group has significant influence with a stake of less than 20% are as follows:
•

The Bank of East Asia (BEA): the ”la Caixa” Group began its relationship with this investee in 2007,
and it was reclassified as an associate in 2009. Criteria and BEA have entered into a strategic
investment and collaboration agreement. Likewise, the Chairman of Criteria’s Board of Directors
sits on BEA's Board of Directors as well as on its Appointments Committee. Collaboration
agreements have also been arranged between the BEA foundation and ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation. CaixaBank, a Criteria Group associate, is a BEA banking partner in carrying out
commercial activities. Criteria’s stake in BEA was 17.59% at 31 December 2018.
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•

Grupo Financiero Inbursa (GFI): the ”la Caixa” Group began its relationship with this investee in
2008, with an initial stake of 20%. GFI Inbursa has been classified as an associate since that time.
Criteria has a shareholders agreement with GFI’s controlling shareholders. Meanwhile, GFI’s
board of directors has two members related to Criteria, one of whom is also a member of GFI’s
Corporate Practices Committee and the other is a member of its Management, Credit and Risks
Committee. In addition, both are invited (with the right to speak but not to vote) to attend the
Audit Committee. CaixaBank, a Criteria Group associate, is a GFI banking partner in carrying out
commercial activities. At 31 December 2018, Criteria’s stake in GFI stood at 9.10%, making it the
second majority shareholder.

Equity investments in Group companies, associates and joint ventures are initially measured at cost, i.e.
the fair value of the consideration paid plus directly attributable transaction costs. The value of any
preferential subscription rights acquired is also included in the initial measurement.
These investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
These investments are assessed for impairment at least at the end of each reporting period and whenever
there is objective evidence that a carrying amount may not be recoverable. The impairment is calculated
as the difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount, which is the higher of its current
fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the estimated cash flows from the investment. Unless
there is better evidence of the recoverable amount, account is taken of the equity of the investee,
adjusted for unrealised gains at the measurement date. The main assumptions used to estimate the
recoverable value of investments in Group companies, associated and joint ventures are explained in
Note 7.3.
Impairment losses and any reversals are recognised as an expense or income, respectively, in the
statement of profit and loss.
Where an impairment loss reverses, the carrying amount of the investment is increased, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised.
f)

Financial instruments

The Company recognises a financial instrument in its balance sheet when it becomes a party to the
contract or legal transaction giving rise to it.
a.

Financial assets

Classification and initial and subsequent measurement
The Company categorises its current and non-current financial investments as follows:
a)

Loans and receivables

These are financial assets arising from the sale of goods or the rendering of services in the ordinary course
of the Company’s business, or financial assets which, not having commercial substance, are not equity
instruments or derivatives, have fixed or determinable payments and are not traded in an active market.
Financial assets in this category are initially recognised by the Company at the fair value of the
consideration given, plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Thereafter these financial assets are measured at their amortised cost and interest accrued is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.
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Transactions maturing within twelve months where there is no contractual interest rate, dividends
receivable and capital calls on equity instruments expected to be received at short term are measured at
face value, since the effect of not discounting the cash flows is not material.
b)

Held-to-maturity investments

This category includes debt securities with a fixed maturity date and collections of specific or
quantifiable amounts, traded in an organised market and which the Company has the positive intent
and ability to hold to maturity.
Financial assets in this category are initially recognised by the Company at the fair value of the
consideration given, plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Thereafter, these financial assets are measured at their amortised cost and interest accrued is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.
c)

Financial assets held for trading

These are assets acquired with the intention of selling them in the near term and assets that form part
of a portfolio for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. This
category also includes financial derivatives that are not financial guarantees and that have not been
designated as hedging instruments.
These assets are measured at their fair value without deducting any costs to sell that might be
incurred. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Company includes in this category financial assets that are not held-for-trading financial assets,
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables or investments in Group companies, associates and joint ventures. At 31 December
2018, this category included mainly equity investments in listed companies.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration paid, plus
transaction costs.
Subsequently, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value and the gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in equity until the asset is disposed of or it is
determined that it has become (permanently) impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in equity are recognised in the net profit or loss for the period. In this regard,
(permanent) impairment is presumed to exist, barring evidence to the contrary, if the market value of
the asset has fallen by more than 40% or if there has been a prolonged fall in market value over a
period of 18 months without the value having recovered. If all or part of the impairment loss is
subsequently reversed, the reversed amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the
period in which the reversal occurs (under “Valuation adjustments” in the balance sheet in the case of
own equity instruments).
e)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company recognises under “Cash and cash equivalents” cash on hand and in bank accounts, shortterm deposits and other highly liquid investments that will mature within three months from the date
on which they were arranged.
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Impairment of financial assets
At least at each reporting date the Company tests financial assets not measured at fair value through
profit or loss for impairment. Objective evidence of impairment is considered to exist when the
recoverable amount of the financial asset is lower than its carrying amount. When this occurs, the
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
For equity instruments measured at cost because their fair value cannot be reliably determined, in
estimating the impairment, account is taken of the equity of the investee adjusted for the unrealised
gains at the measurement date.
In the case of debt securities, objective evidence of impairment will exist when an event has an adverse
impact on the future cash flows that were estimated at the transaction date, where the borrower is
unable or will be unable to meet its obligations in time or form, or when the asset’s carrying amount
may not be fully recovered.
Derecognition of financial instruments
The Company derecognises the financial assets when they expire or the rights on the cash flow from
the corresponding financial asset are assigned and the risks and rewards inherent to ownership have
been substantially transferred.
Conversely, the Company does not derecognise the financial assets and recognises a financial liability
for the same amount of the consideration received in financial asset assignments in which the risks
and rewards inherent to ownership are substantially retained.
b.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Company that have arisen from the purchase of
goods or services in the normal course of the Company’s business and those which, not having
commercial substance, cannot be classed as derivative financial instruments.
Accounts payable (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds issued) are initially
recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the directly attributable
transaction costs. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The borrowing costs
incurred are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged or cancelled or expires.
c.

Derivatives and hedges

The Company uses financial derivatives as a financial risk management tool. When these transactions
meet certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting.
When the Company designates a transaction as a hedge, this is done at inception of the transaction
or of the instruments included in the hedge and the hedging relationship is documented in accordance
with the regulations in force. The hedge accounting documentation duly identifies the hedging
instrument or instruments, and the hedged item or forecast transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed over its entire life taking into
account the risk intended to be hedged.

CriteriaCaixa – 2018 Financial Statements

21

The Company applies hedge accounting for hedges that are highly effective. A hedge is considered to
be highly effective if, during its expected life, the changes in fair value or in the cash flows that are
attributed to the hedged risk are almost entirely offset by changes in the fair value or in the cash flows,
as appropriate, of the hedging instrument or instruments.
To measure the effectiveness of hedges, an analysis is performed to determine whether if, at the
inception of the hedge and during its life, it can be expected, prospectively, that the changes in fair
value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk are nearly completely
offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and, retrospectively, that
the actual results of the hedge are within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item.
Hedging transactions fall into two categories:
- Fair value hedges, which hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments, or an identified portion of such assets, liabilities or
firm commitments, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.
- Cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised financial asset or liability or with a highly probable
forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss.
In the specific case of financial instruments designated as hedged items or qualifying for hedge
accounting, gains and losses are recognised as follows:
- In fair value hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the
portion attributable to the hedged risk are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss.
- In cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on hedged items determined to be an effective
hedge is recognised temporarily in equity under “Valuation adjustments - Hedging instruments”
and is not recognised in profit or loss until the gain or loss on the hedged item is taken to the
statement of profit or loss or the hedged item matures, or in certain situations in which hedge
accounting is discontinued. The gains or losses on the derivative are recognised under the same
heading of the statement of profit or loss as gains or losses on the hedged item. The ineffective
portion of the gains or losses on the hedging instrument are recognised directly under “Change in
the fair value of financial instruments” in the financial income section of the statement of profit
or loss.
The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, when
the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or when it revokes the designation.
d.

Own equity instruments

An own equity instrument is a residual interest in the assets of the Company once all its liabilities have
been deducted.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised in equity at the amount received, net of
issuance costs.
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g)

Inventories

Inventories, which consists of real estate assets (land, property developments under construction and
completed properties), are measured at the lower of their acquisition price, production cost including any
financial charges accrued during production, and net realisable value. Net realisable value is defined as
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of production, acquisition and sale. The production
cost includes direct and indirect construction costs in addition to the financial expenses incurred in
financing the construction work while in progress, so long as the construction work takes longer than a
year.
The Company did not capitalise any borrowing costs in 2018 or 2017.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of appraisals or valuations made by independent experts.
These appraisals are no more than two years old and are subsequently adjusted in accordance with an
internal valuation model.
In this respect, Criteria has a corporate policy that guarantees the professional competence and the
independence and objectivity of external valuation agencies, under which these agencies must comply
with neutrality and credibility requirements so that use of their estimates does not undermine the
reliability of their valuations. This policy stipulates that all appraisers used by Criteria in Spain must be
included in the Bank of Spain’s Official Registry.
The Company has conducted a detailed study of the segmentation of its assets, drawing up an individual
action plan for each property segment. For each of the asset segments defined, the internal valuation
model adjusts appraisals primarily taking into account the difference between the real sale price of the
assets and their appraisal value, for those properties sold by the Company in the last 24 months, in
addition to other factors such as marketing costs and the future rental performance of certain assets.
The Company makes the appropriate valuation adjustments, which are recognised as an expense in the
statement of profit or loss when the net realisable value of the inventories is lower than the acquisition
cost (or production cost).
Any write-downs to inventories or subsequent reversals of write-downs are recognised in “Procurements
– Impairment of land, developments in progress and completed developments” in the statement of profit
and loss for the year in which the write-down or reversal occurs.
Prepayments made in connection with call options on properties are recognised as inventory
prepayments and it is assumed that expectations regarding the conditions enabling their exercise will be
met.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is derecognised and an expense
recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The expense is recognised under “Purchases of land, developments in progress and completed
developments” in the statement of profit or loss.
h)

Non-current assets held for sale

This line item basically includes assets or groups of assets the Company has decided to sell, where it is
estimated that the sale will take place in the next 12 months.
If the assets remain in the balance sheet for a longer time than initially envisaged, the value of the assets
is reviewed to recognise any impairment losses arising from difficulties finding buyers or reasonable
offers.
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These assets or disposal groups are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell. Any additional impairment is taken to the statement of profit or
loss.
When an asset ceases to be classified as a non-current asset held for sale, the asset is measured at the
lower of the carrying amount when the asset was classified as non-current and its recoverable amount at
the date of the reclassification.
i)

Current/Non-current classification

In the accompanying balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within no more than twelve months
are classified as current items and those maturing within more than twelve months are classified as noncurrent items, except for “Inventories”, which are classified as current assets, since they are assets that
will be realised in the Company’s normal operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is the time between
the acquisition of assets for inclusion in the various property developments and the realisation of the
related goods in the form of cash or cash equivalents.
Also, bonds and other marketable debt securities and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are classified
as non-current if the Company has the irrevocable right to meet the related payments within more than
twelve months from the reporting date.
j)

Foreign currency transactions

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Accordingly, all foreign currency
transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate on the transaction
date. Monetary items are translated at year end at the exchange rates then prevailing. Both foreign
exchange losses and exchange gains arising in this process and those arising when the related items are
settled are recognised in income in the year in which they arise.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to
euros using the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated to euros using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined.
The exchange rates used in translating the foreign currency balances to euros are those published by the
European Central Bank at 31 December of each year.
The exchange differences arising on the exchange of foreign currency balances and transactions to the
functional currency of Criteria are generally recognised under “Exchange differences” in the statement of
profit or loss. However, exchange differences arising on changes in the value of non-monetary items are
recognised under “Equity – Valuation adjustments” in the balance sheet until they are realised, while
exchange differences arising on financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss with no distinction made from other changes in fair value.
k)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions cover present obligations arising from past events that could give rise to a loss for the Company
and that is considered likely to occur. They are certain as to their nature but uncertain as to their amount
and/or timing.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the Company.
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The Company’s financial statements include all the significant provisions with respect to which it is
considered more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. Unless the obligation is
considered remote, contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual financial statements, but are
disclosed is the notes.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
or transfer the obligation based on available information about the event and its consequences,
recognising adjustments from updating the provision as a financial expense as they accrue.
The compensation to be received from a third party on settlement of the obligation is recognised as an
asset, provided that there are no doubts that the reimbursement will take place, unless there is a legal
relationship whereby a portion of the risk has been externalised as a result of which the Company is not
liable; in this situation, the compensation will be taken into account for the purpose of estimating the
amount of the related provision.
l)

Income tax

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax
rate to the taxable profit for the year, less any allowable tax deductions, plus the change in deferred tax
assets and liabilities recognised. Current tax expense or income is the estimated amount payable or
recoverable for the period, on the basis of the tax rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the tax base of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Therefore, the Company recognises a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences that do not constitute the exceptions established in
accounting legislation for being able not to recognise such a liability. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax credits and deductions and unused tax loss carry
forwards insofar as it is probable that there will be a taxable profit against which they can be applied with
the Spanish tax authorities. The Company forms part of a consolidated tax group (see Note 15), and files
consolidated tax returns and, accordingly, the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arising from
the eliminations of the results obtained from the transactions performed with other companies in the tax
group for the calculation of the consolidated tax base and which may be included in the future are
recognised.
Tax assets and liabilities are measured at the effective tax rate expected to apply in the year when they
are analysed or paid, based on tax rates and tax law in force or enacted at the balance sheet date.
The tax benefit relating to possible applicable tax credits is deducted from the income tax expense for the
year in which entitlement to the tax credit arises or is exercised (see Note 15). Compliance with the
requirements set forth in current legislation is required in order to be able to use these tax credits.
The income tax expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, unless the tax relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognised in equity.
At each accounting close, the recognised deferred tax assets are reassessed and appropriate adjustments
made to the extent that there are doubts regarding their future recovery. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are also reassessed and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
m)

Value Added Tax (VAT)

The Company is taxed under the deductible proportion VAT regime. Non-deductible input VAT forms part
of the acquisition cost of current and non-current assets as well as of services that are subject to the tax.
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n)

Income and expenses

General approach
Income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. when the real flow of goods or services
relating to the item arises, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received, net of discounts and taxes.
Revenue from sales is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods sold
have been transferred to the buyer, and the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the end of the reporting period, provided the outcome of the transaction can be estimated
reliably.
Interest received on financial assets is recognised using the effective interest rate method. In any event,
interest and dividends from financial assets accrued since the time of acquisition are recognised as income
in the statement of profit or loss.
“Revenue” includes the dividends received from financial investments, which are recognised as revenue
in the year in which the dividends are announced by the Board of Directors of the related investee (see
Note 16.a).
Recognition of sales of property developments and land
The Company recognises revenue from sales of property developments and land when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods sold have been transferred to the buyer.
In all other cases, the cost incurred in the construction of the development is retained in “Inventories”,
and the amount received on account of the total selling price is recognised under “Customer advances”
in the accompanying balance sheet.
o) Related party transactions
The Company carries out all related party transactions at market value. Furthermore, transfer prices are
adequately underpinned and as such the Company Directors do not expect any impact on its financial
position or performance in the future.
p)

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows was prepared using the indirect method and is made up of the following
items:
- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. They also include the Company’s payments
and collections, including interest payments, dividends received and taxes, together with other activities
that are not investing or financing activities.
- Operating activities: activities typical of operating activities and other activities that cannot be
described as investing or financing activities.
- Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of non-current assets and other investments
not included in cash and cash equivalents.
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- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities
do not form part of operating activities. These include the proceeds received as a result of the acquisition
by third parties of securities issued by the Company or from loans and other financing instruments granted
by banks or third parties, together with the payments made to repay such loans and financing
instruments. They also include the dividends paid to the sole shareholder.
q)

Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Company is required to make severance payments to employees whose
employment is terminated under certain conditions. Therefore, severance payments that may be
reasonably quantified are expensed in the year in which the decision to terminate the employment
relationship is made. No provision has been recognised in the financial statements in this connection,
since no situations of this nature are effective to arise.
r)

Environmentally-related assets and liabilities

Environmentally-related assets are those that can be used in the long term during the Company’s course
of business, for the primary purpose of minimising the environmental impact of its activities and
protecting or improving the environment, including the reduction or elimination of future contamination.
Due to the nature of its activities, the Company does not impact the environment.
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5. Investment property
Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2018 and 2017 and the most significant disclosures thereon are
as follows:
Thousands of euros

Cost:
Land and buildings
Facilities
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings
Facilities
Impairment
Total

31/12/2017

Additions

Disposals

Transfers and other

31/12/2018

623,734
604,680
19,054

2,574
2,572
2

(26,742)
(26,185)
(557)

(246,715)
(257,980)
11,265

352,851
323,087
29,764

(52,661)
(48,126)
(4,535)
(285,262)

(5,424)
(4,559)
(865)
12,577

2,209
2,068
141
8,621

32,842
34,647
(1,805)
45,089

(23,034)
(15,970)
(7,064)
(218,975)

285,811

9,727

(15,912)

(168,784)

110,842

Thousands of euros
31/12/2016

Additions

Disposals

Cost:
Land and buildings
Facilities

649,774
630,720
19,054

195
195
-

(6,679)
(6,679)
-

(19,556)
(19,556)
-

623,734
604,680
19,054

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings
Facilities

(45,885)
(42,249)
(3,636)

(9,580)
(8,681)
(899)

614
614
-

2,190
2,190
-

(52,661)
(48,126)
(4,535)

(215,892)

(73,499)

1,246

2,883

(285,262)

387,997

(82,884)

(4,819)

(14,483)

285,811

Impairment
Total

Transfers

31/12/2017

In 2018, the Company recognised an impairment charge of EUR 11,202 thousand and reversals of
impairment amounting to EUR 23,779 thousand under “Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of noncurrent assets” (see Note 16.f) in the accompanying statement of profit or loss, in relation to investment
property where the recoverable value based on appraisals and valuations conducted by independent
experts (adjusted according to an internal valuation model) was less or more than the net carrying amount
(EUR 105,816 thousand and EUR 32,317 thousand in impairment charges and reversal of impairment,
respectively, in 2017).
In 2018, the Company transferred several real estate assets from “Investment property” to “Inventories”
as they were earmarked for sale. The total net amount of these transfers was EUR 19,537 thousand (see
Note 9).
Meanwhile, transfers in the year included the non-monetary contribution of various properties to Inmo
Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (wholly-owned by Criteria) for the net sum of EUR 149,247 thousand. Notably, these
real estate assets include a building located at calle Provençals 39 (Barcelona), the former ”la Caixa”
central services office located at Via Laietana 56 (Barcelona), a commercial building located at calle Ribera
16 (Valencia), a residential building located at calle República Argentina 258 (Barcelona) and a block of
flats located at calle Gran Via de les Corts Catalanes 655 (Barcelona) (see Note 7.1).
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Additionally, the Company disposed of items of investment property in 2018 with a net cost of EUR 15,912
thousand, obtaining a pre-tax gain of EUR 4,826 thousand on these sales. This amount was recognised
under “Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets” in the accompanying statement
of profit or loss (see Note 16.f).
Types of investment property and use
The Company’s investment property relates mainly to real estate assets held for rental.
The use and geographical location of investment property held for lease, as included under “Investment
property”, was as follows at year-end 2018 and 2017:

Square metres
Distribution by type of use

2018

2017

Home purchase
Offices and commercial premises
Industrial buildings

210,464
4,942
2,065

235,422
40,663
819

Total

217,471

276,904

Square metres
Distribution by geographical area

2018

2017

Barcelona
Toledo
Las Palmas
Alicante
Madrid
Other

21,535
18,277
9,706
9,165
5,814
152,974

34,661
25,368
15,033
17,579
10,575
173,688

Total

217,471

276,904

The value of fully depreciated investment properties in use at 31 December 2018 was EUR 49 thousand
(EUR 3,165 thousand at 31 December 2017).
The Company takes out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its investment property is
subject. The Company’s Directors review annually, or whenever circumstances dictate, its coverage and
the risks against which it is insured, and amounts required to reasonably cover these risks for the coming
year are agreed upon. At the end of 2018 and 2017, assets were fully insured against these risks.
At the 2018 year end, there are no types of restrictions on realising investment property or collecting
income and proceeds of disposal. There were no purchase commitments at 31 December 2018.
Income accrued in 2018 and 2017 in connection with the rental of such investment property stood at
EUR 12,852 thousand and EUR 16,688 thousand, respectively (Note 16.a) and is recognised under
“Revenue - Real estate sales and building leases” on the accompanying statement of profit or loss.
Meanwhile, operating expenses reported in 2018 and 2017 for all concepts relating to such revenue
amounted to EUR 3,087 thousand and EUR 5,189 thousand, respectively.
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6. Leases
At the 2018 and 2017 year ends, all of the Company’s operating leases are cancellable with prior
notification, mostly of one month. Therefore, there are no minimum instalments payable under noncancellable operating leases under the current leases.
In relation to the leases for offices, commercial premises and industrial buildings, the terms of the Group’s
leases with lessees included the following minimum lease payments, under the current leases, not
including any charges for shared expenses, future rent increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent
rises under the lease (in thousands of euros):

Operating leases
Minimum lease payments
Less than one year
Between one and five years

2018

2017
190
548

3,310
8,986

More than five years

122

12,116

Total

860

24,412

In 2018, the Company delivered to Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. most of the real estate assets that are rented
and leased as offices, commercial premises and industrial facilities (see Note 5).
No contingent rent payments existed at 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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7. Current and non-current investments in Group companies, associates and joint
ventures
The most significant information relating to the securities included under “Investments in Group
companies” and “Investments in associates and joint ventures” at year-end 2018 can be found in
Appendices I and II, respectively.
7.1 Investments in Group companies
At 31 December 2018, no Group company in which the Company invests is listed on the stock market.
Changes in investments in Group companies in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Additions

Disposals

Thousands of euros
Dividends
deducted
Impairment
from
cost

Transfers
and
other

Balance at 31/12/2017
Saba Infraestructuras, S.A.
Criteria Movilidad, S.L.U.
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.
Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U.
Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.
Energía Boreal 2018, S.A.
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.U.
Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A.
Caixa Capital Micro II, F.C.R.

438,176
5,800
32,000
96
25,000
4,000
-

(60,483)
(975)

(138,486)
(67,414)
-

(540)
3,849
(3,262)
167

(473,823)
298,837
(92,088)
524,425
520,936
-

Change in 2018

505,072

(61,458)

(205,900)

214

778,287

Balance at 31/12/2018

1,016,215

Thousands of euros
Dividends
deducted
Impairment
from
cost

Disposals

Transfers
and

Total

other
12,515,142

-

(1,316,828)

-

-

(9,896,764)

(11,213,592)

280
10,000
348,838
348,838-

-

(9,997)

(525)
(10,057)
(57,322)
2,221
-

-

(245)
(57)
(57,322)
351,059
(9,997)

-

(228,452)
(74,202)

-

(893)
(1,764)

46,176
17,677

(183,169)
(58,289)

359,118

(1,619,482)

(9,997)

(68,340)

(9,832,911)

(11,171,612)

Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento, S.L. (*)
Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II, S.L. (*)
Change in 2017

1,343,530
(174,133)
304,637
(127,897)
(92,628)
560,274
521,032
25,000
738
(808)

2,359,745

Additions
Balance at 31/12/2016
Listed
CaixaBank, S.A.
Non-listed
Caixa Capital Micro II, F.C.R.
Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A.
Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U.
Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.
Saba Infraestructuras, S.A.

Total

Balance at 31/12/2017

1,343,530

(*) The amount recognised as “Transfers and other” related to the condonation and waiver of interest in favour of Inmo Criteria
Arrendamiento (formerly, Servihabitat Alquiler) and Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II (formerly, Servihabitat Alquiler II),
respectively.
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In 2018, Criteria carried out the following transactions involving Group companies:
Saba Infraestructuras, S.A. and Criteria Movilidad, S.L.U.
On 30 July 2018, Criteria acquired the 48.68% stake previously held by Torreal, S.A., Kohlberg Kravis
Roberts & Co. Ltd and ProA Capital de Inversiones, S.G.E.R.C.R., S.A. in Saba Infraestructuras, S.A. for the
total sum of EUR 438,176 thousand, effectively making it the controlling shareholder of Saba
Infraestructuras, S.A. with a 98.78% stake.
The remaining capital in Saba Infraestructuras, up to the 49.90% that was not owned by Criteria, was in
the hands of minority shareholders. Criteria, acting through its wholly-owned subsidiary Criteria
Movilidad, S.L.U., then proceeded to acquire the remaining 1.22%, subject to the same terms and
conditions as the earlier acquisition completed in July. The process ended on 15 November 2018 with
uptake of 58.65%, equivalent to 0.71% of the share capital of Saba Infraestructuras, S.A. and entailing a
payout of EUR 5,493 thousand. This effectively made Criteria the direct and indirect owner of 99.50% of
Saba’s share capital.
In June and September 2018, Saba Infraestructuras paid out two dividends against the share premium for
a combined total of EUR 150,025 thousand. Both were recognised as a decrease in the portfolio and the
total amount attributable to Criteria came to EUR 138,486 thousand.
On 13 December 2018, Criteria Movilidad effected a capital increase, which Criteria subscribed in full in
exchange for a non-monetary contribution of its holding in Saba Infraestructuras and by capitalising a loan
worth EUR 5,800 thousand (see Note 7.4). Since the arrangement involved the contribution of a business
line to a Group company, and in accordance with the special regulations set out in Rule 21 of the Spanish
General Chart of Accounts, Criteria measured the increase in its investment in Criteria Movilidad as the
carrying amount of the assets of Saba Infraestructuras as shown on the consolidated annual financial
statements of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group at the date on which the transaction was completed.
This event generated a negative impact of EUR 174,986 thousand on Criteria’s reserves (see Note 11).
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A. (in which Criteria holds a 55.54% stake) held a stake in the share capital of
Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. (Abertis) of 6.07%, this holding being the company’s main asset.
On 4 May 2018, Criteria’s Board of Directors and the general meeting of Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.
announced their intent to accept the takeover bid received from German company Hochtief
Aktiengesellschaft (Hochtief), such bid targeting all shares in Abertis (see Note 7.2). Meanwhile, on 4 May
2018 the general meeting of Inversiones Autopistas agreed to pay out an interim dividend against earnings
for the year, earning Criteria a total of EUR 497,737 thousand. On that same date, a further dividend of
EUR 148,422 thousand was paid out against reserves, of which Criteria received EUR 82,427 thousand,
deducting EUR 67,414 thousand from the cost of the investment and taking the rest to the statement of
profit or loss. Hochtief completed payment for the takeover on 16 May 2018, whereupon Inversiones
Autopistas, S.A. received a total of EUR 103,859 thousand.
Subsequently, the general meeting of Inversiones Autopistas held on 29 June 2018 resolved to effect the
simultaneous dissolution and liquidation of the company and to carve up its available assets among all its
shareholders. As a result, Criteria received a total of EUR 60,483 thousand, which it deducted from the
cost of the investment. Of this amount, a total of EUR 31,847 thousand was received in cash while the
remaining EUR 28,636 thousand came in the form of tax credit with the Spanish tax authorities relating
to the return of split payments for corporate income tax for 2017 and 2018. Of this credit, a total of EUR
25,565 thousand had been paid at 1 February 2019.
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Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U.
On 12 July 2018, Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U. (company wholly owned by Criteria) carried out a capital
increase for the sum of EUR 252,425 thousand by offsetting loans and other payment rights owed by
Criteria, amounting to EUR 250,000 thousand as principal and EUR 2,425 thousand as interest (see Note
7.4).
Additionally, on 3 December 2018, Criteria subscribed a capital increase in favour of Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U. (InmoCaixa) for the total sum of EUR 156,688 thousand by contributing its entire stake in Els Arbres
de la Tardor, S.L.U. Since the arrangement involved the contribution of a business line to a Group
company, and in accordance with the special regulations set out in Rule 21 of the Spanish General Chart
of Accounts, Criteria measured the increase in its investment in InmoCaixa as the carrying amount of the
assets of Els Arbres de la Tardor as shown on the consolidated annual financial statements of the Criteria
Group at the date on which the transaction was completed. That value was the same as the net carrying
amount of the Els Arbres de la Tardor stake at Criteria. Accordingly, the contribution has no impact
whatsoever on the Company’s reserves.
Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (InmoCaixa)
On 29 June 2018, InmoCaixa increased its share capital by EUR 32,000 thousand, issuing 100,000 new
shares each with a par value of EUR 100 and with a total share premium of EUR 22,000 thousand. The
rights issue was fully subscribed and paid up by Criteria.
On 3 December 2018, InmoCaixa effected a further increase again subscribed for in full by Criteria in
exchange for a non-monetary contribution of its entire stake in Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U., as
mentioned previously, along with various properties it owned (see Notes 5 and 9), giving a total of EUR
524,425 thousand. As regards the non-monetary contribution of real estate assets, the items in question
were measured at their fair value. However, since the non-monetary contribution was made to a Group
company, the Company followed the same criteria as for the swaps of property, plant and equipment
(non-trade swaps), while the increase in the ownership interest at InmoCaixa was determined at the net
carrying amount of the items delivered (the real estate asset), without this giving rise to any accounting
profit/(loss) at Criteria.
Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. (formerly, Caixa Titol, S.A.)
On 5 October 2018, Criteria, BCN Godia, S.L.U. and G3T, S.L. contributed between them 5% of the share
capital of Naturgy Energy Group S.A. (formerly, Gas Natural, S.D.G., S.A.) to Energía Boreal 2018, S.A.
(company controlled by Criteria). More precisely, Criteria contributed 3.60% of the share capital of
Naturgy for the sum of EUR 520,936 thousand, while BCN Godia contributed 0.60% and G3T 0.80%. The
shares contributed were measured at their fair value, although the increase in the stake at Energía Boreal
was valued at the net carrying amount of the Naturgy shares delivered, since it qualifies as a nonmonetary contribution to a Group company.
Additionally, Criteria signed two separate shareholder agreements with BCN Godia and G3T, whereby
both companies have syndicated to Criteria the voting rights attaching to 1,264,954 shares in Naturgy
(0.13%) and 1,000,000 shares in Naturgy (0.10%), respectively, which they directly own (see Note 7.2).
At 31 December 2018, the Company’s holding in Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. came to 71.95%.
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Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.U.
On 26 March 2018, Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.U. increased its share capital by EUR
25,000 thousand, issuing 36,585 new shares each with a par value of EUR 41 and with the total share
premium amounting to EUR 23,500 thousand. This rights issue was fully subscribed and paid up by Criteria.
At 31 December 2018, the Company held 100% of the capital of Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community.
Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A.
On 21 November 2018, Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A. increased its share capital by EUR 4,000
thousand, issuing 1,000,000 new shares each with a par value of EUR 1 and with the share premium
totalling EUR 3,000 thousand. This rights issue was fully subscribed and paid up by Criteria.
At 31 December 2018, the Company’s ownership interest in Criteria Venture Capital was 100%.
Highlights for 2017 included the transactions carried out in relation to Criteria’s stake in CaixaBank. On
6 February 2017, a package of 318,305,355 CaixaBank shares, owned by Criteria, was placed with
institutional and/or qualified investors through an accelerated bookbuild, comprising approximately
5.322% of its share capital. The transaction amounted to EUR 1,068,008 thousand at a selling price of
EUR 3.3572 per share. The resulting loss of EUR 248,820 thousand was recognised under “Gains/(losses)
on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for 2017. Subsequently, and as discussed in Note 1 to Criteria’s financial statements for 2017, control
over material decision-making at CaixaBank was effectively lost in the third quarter of 2017 after
successfully meeting each of the requirements established by the European Central Bank for the purposes
of prudential deconsolidation. As a result, Criteria began to recognise its stake in CaixaBank as an associate
holding since it retains significant influence over the bank.
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7.2 Investments in associates and jointly-controlled entities
At 31 December 2018, Criteria was not party to any joint venture.
Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Additions
Balance at 31/12/2017
Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A.
Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.
Grupo Financiero Inbursa,
S.A.B. de C.V.
CaixaBank, S.A.

Thousands of euros
Dividends
deducted
Impairment
from
cost

Disposals

and

Total

other

-

(473,823)
(520,936)

17,305,190
(1,132,783)
(581,716)

(12,893)

(216,883)

-

(229,776)

(4)

-

-

-

(4)

(1,193,567)

(12,893)

(216,883)
(216,883)

(520,936)

(1,944,279)

438,176-

(1,132,783)
(60,780)

-

-

-

-

Change in 2018

Transfers

Balance at 31/12/2018

Additions

15,360,911

Thousands of euros
Disposals
Transfers

Balance at 31/12/2016

Total
7,399,070

CaixaBank, S.A.
Grupo Financiero Inbursa, S.A.B. de C.V.
Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A.

10,039
-

(683)

9,896,764
-

9,896,764
10,039
(683)

Change in 2017
Balance at 31/12/2017

10,039

(683)

9,896,764

9,906,120
17,305,190

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the fair value of investments in associates amounted to EUR 14,346,796
thousand and EUR 19,421,903 thousand, respectively. In determining the fair value, the Company
considered the market value at 31 December 2018 for the listed companies and the recoverable amounts
calculated by the Company using generally accepted valuation techniques for the non-listed companies.
At 31 December 2017, the fair value included the stake in Abertis Infraestructuras, which has since been
sold in 2018.
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In 2018, Criteria carried out the following transactions involving associates and joint ventures:
Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. (Abertis)
On 15 May 2017, Italian company Atlantia, S.p.A. (Atlantia) announced its decision to launch a takeover
bid (Atlantia takeover bid) targeting all the shares in Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. (Abertis), involving the
payment of EUR 16.50 per Abertis share and/or the swap of 0.697 special Atlantia shares for each Abertis
share. The prospectus was authorised on 9 October 2017 by the Spanish securities market regulator
(CNMV), although the acceptance period for the bid was suspended on 18 October 2017 when the
German company Hochtief Aktiengesellschaft (Hochtief) —controlled by the Spanish company ACS,
Actividades de Construcción y Servicios, S.A.— presented a competing bid also targeting 100% of the
shares in Abertis (the Hochtief takeover bid). The Hochtief takeover bid comprised the payment of EUR
18.76 per Abertis share and/or the swap of 0.1281 new Hochtief shares for each Abertis share.
Hochtief announced a change to its offer on 19 February 2018, offering a payment of EUR 18.36 per
Abertis share and/or the swap of 0.1254 new Hochtief shares for each Abertis share, subject to the
approval by the Annual General Meeting of Abertis of a final dividend of EUR 0.40 per share.
The CNMV authorised the Hochtief takeover bid on 12 March 2018, with the acceptance period starting
on 20 March 2018. However, an agreement between Hochtief and Atlantia was announced on 14 March
2018, in which it was agreed to modify the Hochtief takeover bid, withdrawing the Atlantia takeover bid,
and creating a holding company for the shares of Abertis following the settlement of the Hochtief takeover
bid. This modification was sent to the CNMV on 23 March 2018, and was authorised on 12 April 2018,
when the Atlantia takeover bid was also withdrawn. The acceptance period for the Hochtief takeover bid,
including the modification, closed on 8 May 2018.
On 4 May 2018, Criteria’s Board of Directors and the annual general meeting of Inversiones Autopistas,
S.A. (55.54% owned by Criteria) announced their intent to accept the takeover bid for their direct
investments in the share capital of Abertis of 15.07% and 6.07%, respectively.
This bid was settled by Hochtief on 16 May 2018. Following the deal, Criteria no longer holds any interest
in the share capital of Abertis and has now received EUR 2,740,510 thousand in exchange for the shares
it held directly in the company. As a result, Criteria recognised a capital gain of EUR 1,595,652 thousand
under “Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates” in the
accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.b.)
Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. (Naturgy, formerly known as Gas Natural, S.D.G., S.A.)
In September 2018, the Company sold 4,200,000 shares representing 0.42% of the share capital of
Naturgy for EUR 98,926 thousand, prompting it to recognise a capital gain of EUR 38,146 thousand under
“Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates” in the accompanying
statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.b).
At 31 December 2018, Criteria’s economic stake in Naturgy amounted to 24.02%, of which 20.42% was
held directly and the remaining 3.60% through its stake in Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. (see point 7.1 of this
Note). The Criteria Group’s total stake in Naturgy stands at 25.42%, which includes its direct holding of
24.02% plus the indirect holding of 5.00% held through Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. (a company that Criteria
controls for corporate purposes by virtue of its 71.95% stake). Meanwhile, the stake conferring voting
rights comes to 25.65%, taking due account of the shareholder agreements signed with the other
shareholders of Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. (see Note 7.1).
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Grupo Financiero Inbursa, S.A.B. de C.V. (GFI)
In April 2018, Criteria received a dividend of EUR 12,893 thousand from GFI against undistributed profit
earned in years prior to the acquisition of the investee, which Criteria deducted from the cost of the
investment.
At 31 December 2018, the Company’s stake in Grupo Financiero Inbursa, S.A.B. de C.V. was 9.10%.
The Bank of East Asia, Limited (BEA)
In 2018, Criteria received shares in BEA from scrip dividends totalling EUR 18,167,430, effectively raising
the Company’s stake in BEA at 31 December 2018 to 17.59% (17.44% at 31 December 2017).
7.3 Impairment of investments in Group companies, associates and joint ventures
It is the Company’s policy to continuously review the value of its investments. At year-end, the Company
tested all its investments for impairment to determine their recoverable amount and to record possible
valuation adjustments.
For the main investments in Group companies and associates, the Company measured their recoverable
amounts by relying on generally accepted valuation methods, based chiefly on estimates of its share in
future expected cash flows from the investee company, whether in the ordinary course of business or
through disposal or derecognition of these investments. For those investments in which the fair value
cannot be reliably determined, the recoverable amount was established based on the underlying carrying
amount plus the unrealised gains/(losses) on those investments, net of the related tax effect. Specifically,
for investments in the Group’s real estate companies, these unrealised gains/(losses) were basically
attributable to real estate assets, the fair value of which was determined on the basis of appraisals and
valuations conducted at the end of the period by independent valuers and using the internal valuation
model (see Note 4.g.).
Ownership interest in bank holdings
Criteria estimates recoverable amount based on value in use, which was determined by discounting the
estimated dividends over the medium term according to the strategic plan of each investee and internal
forecasts based on a five-year time horizon.
The main assumptions used in the model are based on conservative hypothesis and were obtained from
highly reputable sources, considering the countries in which each of the investees operates. They envision
a growth rate of between 1.7% and 3.8% (between 1.6% and 3.9% according to the impairment tests
carried out at 31 December 2017). The discount rate applied to the projections ranged from 9.3% to 11.7%
(8.9% to 9.4% as per the impairment tests carried out at 31 December 2017).
A sensitivity analysis was carried out for key variables. In this respect, in addition to the baseline scenario,
possible variations in the main assumptions used in the model were calculated, including the discount
rate: -0.5%, +0.5%, and growth rate: -0.5%, +0.5% and sustainable ROE: -1%, +1%, in addition to business
volume, net interest income, fees and commissions, cost-to-income and cost of risk. All of this is to confirm
that the recoverable amount continues to exceeds the amount to be recovered.
The analysis revealed the need to recognise EUR 216,883 thousand under “Impairment and other losses
on financial instruments” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.g) as impairment
on the stake in Grupo Financiero Inbursa. While GFI is one of the leading financial service groups in
Mexico, this impairment resulting from the valuation exercise essentially reflects the recent growing
economic and political instability in the country, which has been led to high exchange rate volatility.
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Ownership interests in industrial and service companies
The sum of parts discounted cash flows (DCF) valuation methodology was mainly used. The balance sheet
and statement of profit or loss projections used, in certain cases, a five-year time horizon, and in others,
the concession terms, relevant investment plans, the locations of investments in emerging economies,
and other similar factors.
The main assumptions used in the model are based on conservative hypothesis and were obtained from
highly reputable sources. Discount rates for each business and country were applied, ranging from 6.7%
to 8.6% (5.6% to 10.7% in the tests conducted at 31 December 2017) and control premiums were not used
when valuing the investees. Maximum growth rates of 1.5% were used to calculate residual value beyond
the projected period (1.5% in the impairment tests carried out at 31 December 2017). These growth rates
were estimated based on the data of the latest projected period and never exceed nominal GDP growth
estimated for the country or countries in which the investees operate.
Given the uncertainty inherent in these assumptions, sensitivity analyses are performed using reasonable
changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units (CGU) is
based to confirm whether this continues to exceed the amount to be recovered. In this respect, possible
variations in the main assumptions used in the models were calculated and a sensitivity analysis carried
out for the most significant variables, including the various business drivers and statements of profit or
loss of investees, to assess the resistance of the value of these investments to more adverse scenarios.
Possible variations in the main assumptions used in the model included discount rate: -0.5%, +0.5%; riskfree rate: -0.5%, +0.5%, and growth rate: -0.5%, +0.5%.
The sensitivity analyses conducted reveal that no reasonably plausible variation in the key assumptions
would generate any significant impairment.
7.4 Other financial assets
This heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2018 and 2017 can be
broken down as follows:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Non-current

31/12/2017
Current

Non-current

Current

Loans to Group companies
Other financial assets

314,575
-

209,198
583,601

276,331
2,350

247,154
-

Total

314,575

792,799

278,681

247,154

Loans to Group companies
Thousands of euros
31/12/2017

Additions

Repayments

Market
capitalisation

31/12/2018

Loans granted
Interest on loans

275,000
1,331

56,000
2,244

(20,000)
-

-

311,000
3,575

Non-current

276,331

58,244

(20,000)

-

314,575

Loans granted
Interest on loans

245,000
2,154

332,598
2,652

(112,723)
(2,258)

(255,800)
(2,425)

209,075
123

Current

247,154

335,250

(114,981)

(258,225)

209,198
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Thousands of euros
31/12/2016

Additions

Repayments

31/12/2017

53,145
63,891

225,000
1,341

(3,145)
(63,901)

275,000
1,331

117,036

226,341

(67,046)

276,331

Loans granted
Interest on loans

3,500
1

350,000
3,264

(108,500)
(1,111)

245,000
2,154

Current

3,501

353,264

(109,611)

247,154

Loans granted
Interest on loans
Non-current

The terms and characteristics of the loans granted to the various Group companies and recognised under
“Other financial assets” at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are shown below.
(Thousands of euros)
Company

Limit

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community
Els Arbres de la Tardor
Inmo Criteria Caixa
Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y Servicios
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y Servicios
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y Servicios

Interest rate

31/12/2018

14,000
14,000
18,000
6,000
250,000
70,000
45,000
50,000
125,000
32,375

Saba Infraestructuras
Total

31/12/2017

Fixed (1.69%)
Fixed (1.37%)
Fixed (0.87%)
Fixed (0.95%)
Fixed (0.95%)
Fixed (0.95%)
Fixed (0.95%)
Fixed (2.25%)
Fixed (0.95%)
Fixed (0.335%)
EUR6M (Floor 0%)
156,700
+ 2.80%

14,000
14,000
18,000
65,000
45,000
50,000
125,000
32,375

6,000
239,000
55,000
45,000
50,000
125,000
-

156,700

-

525,075

520,075

520,000

Loans to Group companies are as follows, by maturity:
December 2018

2019
Inmo Criteria Caixa
Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y
Servicios
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
Saba Infraestructuras
Total

2020

Thousands of euros
2021
2022

2023 and
beyond

Total

-

65,000
45,000

-

-

-

65,000
45,000

32,375

125,000

50,000

-

-

207,375

20,000
156,700

20,000
-

6,000
-

-

-

46,000
156,700

209,075

255,000

56,000

-

-

520,075
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December 2017
Thousands of euros
2018

2019

2020

2021

2022 and
beyond

Total

Mediterránea Beach & Golf
Community
Els Arbres de la Tardor
Inmo Criteria Caixa
Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y
Servicios

6,000

-

-

-

-

6,000

239,000
-

55,000
45,000

-

-

-

239,000
55,000
45,000

-

125,000

-

50,000

-

175,000

Total

245,000

225,000

-

50,000

-

520,000

Other financial assets
At 31 December 2018, the heading “Other financial assets” showed EUR 583,601 thousand, of which EUR
543,827 thousand related to payments on account made in 2018 while EUR 39,774 thousand was an
estimation of the corporate income tax payable on profit for 2018 (EUR 2,350 thousand in 2017) held with
the parent of the tax group, namely CaixaBank (see Note 15). When the final income tax return is filed in
July, the Company adjusts the amounts estimated at the end of the reporting period on the basis of the
tax return ultimately filed.
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8. Financial assets
Financial investments were as follows at 31 December 2018 and 2017, by category:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018

Available-for-sale financial assets
Measured at fair value
Measured at cost

Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Total non-current financial investments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Total current financial investments
Total at 31/12/2018

Equity
instruments
(Note 8.1)

Debt
securities
(Note 8.2)

Other
(Note 8.3)

1,790,048

-

-

1,739,463
50,585

-

-

-

30,634
-

462

1,790,048
-

30,634
81,811
-

462
634,494

-

81,811

634,494

1,790,048

112,445

634,956

Thousands of euros
31/12/2017

Available-for-sale financial assets
Measured at fair value
Measured at cost

Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Total non-current financial investments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Total current financial investments
Total at 31/12/2017
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Equity
instruments
(Note 8.1)
936,134
885,304
50,830

Debt
securities
(Note 8.2)
-

Other
(Note 8.3)
-

-

-

-

-

1,477

936,134
-

-

1,477
26,782

-

-

26,782

936,134

-

28,259
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8.1. Equity instruments
Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands of euros
Additions

Disposals

Dividends
deducted
from cost

Impairment

Change
fair value

3,802

-

(1,458)

-

16,219

18,563

6,602
408,066
334,185
287,648
-

(382)
(245)

(20,253)
(1,590)
-

-

(114,649)
(5,433)
(30,735)
(27,863)
-

(108,047)
381,998
301,860
259,785
(245)

1,040,30
3

(627)

(23,301)

-

(162,461)

Balance at 31/12/2017
Cellnex Telecom, S.A.
Suez, S.A.
Telefónica, S.A.
Other listed equity investments - Spain
Other foreign listed equity investments
Other unlisted securities
Changes in 2018
Balance at 31/12/2018

Total
936,134

853,914
1,790,048

Thousands of euros
Additions

Disposals

Dividends
deducted
from cost

Impairment

Change
fair
value

Total

5,592

-

-

-

105,863

111,455

51,929
55,821
-

-

-

(362)

18,311
(498)
-

70,240
55,323
(362)

113,342

-

-

(362)

123,676

236,656

Balance at 31/12/2016
Cellnex Telecom, S.A.
Suez, S.A.
Telefónica, S.A.
Other
Changes in 2017

699,478

Balance at 31/12/2017

936,134

The most significant transactions carried out in 2018 were as follows:
Telefónica, S.A.
During 2018, the Company acquired 52,826,318 shares in Telefónica, S.A. (1.02% of its share capital), for
EUR 408,066 thousand.
At 31 December 2018, the Company’s ownership interest in Telefónica, S.A. was 1.15%.
The market value of the stakes held in listed companies at 31 December 2018 and 2017, as reported under
“Equity instruments” on the accompanying balance sheet, is shown below.
(Thousands of euros)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

% interest

Share price

% interest

Share price

Cellnex Telecom, S.A.

6.03%

312,611

5.94%

294,048

Suez, S.A.
Telefónica, S.A.
Other Spanish equity securities
Other foreign equity securities

5.97%
1.15%
-

427,886
437,321
301,860
259,785

5.86%
0.13%
-

535,932
55,323
-

Total
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The Company recognises these assets at market value, recognising any valuation adjustments and net of tax
effects, under “Valuation adjustments” in equity on the accompanying balance sheet. Tax effects are
recognised under non-current “Deferred tax liabilities” or “Deferred tax assets”, as applicable, in the balance
sheet.
Other non-listed financial instruments are measured at cost where their fair value cannot be reliably
determined.
At 31 December 2018, key data on the main investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets
are as follows:
Thousands of euros

Company name
Telefónica, S.A. (1)
Cellnex Telecom, S.A. (1)

Suez, S.A. (1)

Registered office
Interest (%)
Gran Vía, 28 28013
Madrid
1.15%
Calle Juan Esplandiú,
11-13, Madrid
6.03%
Tour CB21 – 16, Place de
l’Iris - 92040 Paris – La
Défense – France
5.97%

% voting
rights

Equity

Latest
published
profit/(loss)

1.15%

26,980,037

3,330,896

6.03%

615,366

(14,983)

5.97%

8,992,518

334,917

(1) Listed company. Information on equity and latest published profit/(loss) is at 31/12/2018.

Impairment of Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments
Based on management criteria, objective evidence of impairment of available-for-sale financial assets is
reviewed on a regular basis.
The Company tested all the equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets for
impairment to recognise any corrections to their carrying amounts, as applicable. In this respect, equity
instruments are considered impaired in the event of a continued decline in price over a period of
18 months or more or by more than 40%. As the fair value of equity instruments measured at cost cannot
be reliably determined, impairment losses are calculated as the difference between the equity
instrument’s carrying amount and its recoverable amount, the latter being the net asset value of the
equity instrument adjusted for the unrealised gains at the measurement date.
The analysis revealed that there was no need to recognise, in 2018, any impairment on the Company’s
investments in “Available-for-sale financial assets - Equity instruments” (EUR 362 thousand in 2017) (see
Note 16.g).

8.2. Debt securities
This heading of the accompanying balance sheet was as follows at 31 December 2018 (at 31 December 2017
the Company had recognised no amount under this heading):
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Non-current
Spanish government debt securities
Foreign government debt securities
Listed private equity securities - Spain
Listed private equity securities - foreign
Total
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Current
5,413
20,000

20,013
46,526
15,139

5,221

133

30,634

81,811
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In 2018, the Company carried out fixed income investments for a total nominal amount of EUR 156,598
thousand. Of this, a nominal amount of EUR 25,000 thousand was sold while a further nominal amount
of EUR 21,958 thousand reached maturity.
Non-current debt securities recognised at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

2020
Spanish government debt securities
Foreign government debt securities
Listed private equity securities - Spain
Listed private equity securities - foreign
Total

2021

Thousands of euros
2022
2023 and
beyond

Total

5,413
5,221

-

-

20,000
-

5,413
20,000
5,221

10,634

-

-

20,000

30,634

The Company has recognised these assets at amortised cost, since they are debt securities with a fixed
maturity date, paying a quantifiable amount and traded in an organised market and which the Company
has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity.
Impairment of Held-to-maturity investments - Debt securities
Based on management criteria, objective evidence of impairment of held-to-maturity investments is
reviewed on a regular basis.
The Company tested all debt securities classified as held-to-maturity investments for impairment to
recognise any possible corrections to their carrying amounts.
This analysis did not reveal the need to recognise any impairment in 2018.

8.3. Other non-current and current financial assets
In 2018 Criteria arranged various deposits with financial institutions totalling EUR 950,000 thousand,
bearing an average nominal interest rate of 0.02%. The total balance at 31 December 2018 came to EUR
600,000 thousand, maturing in May 2019. Meanwhile, the Company arranged foreign currency deposits
in 2018 for a total nominal amount of USD 175,000 thousand, bearing an average nominal interest rate
of 2.53%. The settlement of these deposits prior to 31 December 2018 generated total income from
exchange rate differences of EUR 3,843 thousand, as recognised under “Exchange differences” in the
accompanying statement of profit or loss.
The total amount of the interest accrued on the aforementioned deposits came to EUR 329 thousand and
is recognised under “Financial income” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.h).
In addition, this heading of the accompanying balance sheet at 31 December 2018 included deposits
posted as collateral for financial derivatives of EUR 33,750 thousand (EUR 26,720 thousand at
31 December 2017), of which EUR 12,810 thousand (EUR 14,510 thousand at 31 December 2017) were
held at CaixaBank (Note 17.b).
These headings also include the amount of the security deposits delivered by the Company as lessor,
amounting to EUR 715 thousand at 31 December 2018, of which EUR 253 thousand are current and EUR
462 thousand are non-current (EUR 1,477 thousand at 31 December 2017).
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9. Inventories
This heading of the balance sheet essentially includes land, real estate assets under construction and
finished buildings, which the Company intends to sell within the normal course of its business.
Changes in this heading in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2017
Inventories
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

Additions

Disposals

Transfers
and other

31/12/2018

2,990,105
1,968
(2,023,400)

6,447
16,127

(185,703)
(234)
104,770

(550,773)
539,645

2,260,076
1,734
(1,362,858)

968,673

22,574

(81,167)

(11,128)

898,952

Transfers
and other

31/12/2017

Thousands of euros
31/12/2016
Inventories
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

Additions

Disposals

754,570
(711,890)

506
39,901

(28,997)
19,170

2,264,026
1,968
(1,370,581)

2,990,105
1,968
(2,023,400)

42,680

40,407

(9,827)

895,413

968,673

In 2018, the Company recognised an impairment charge of EUR 92,010 thousand and reversals of
impairment amounting to EUR 108,137 thousand under “Procurements - Impairment of land,
developments in progress and completed developments” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss,
in relation to those inventories the net realisable value of which, based on appraisals and valuations
conducted by independent experts and adjusted according to an internal valuation model, was less or
more than their acquisition price (or cost of production) (EUR 19,751 thousand and EUR 59,652 thousand
in impairment charges and reversal of impairment, respectively, in 2017).
In 2018, the Company transferred several real estate assets from “Investment property” to “Inventories”
as they were earmarked for sale. The total net amount of these transfers was EUR 19,537 thousand (see
Note 5). Transfers in the year also included the non-monetary contribution of land and various
developments in progress to Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (wholly-owned by Criteria) for the net sum of
EUR 218,490 thousand (see Note 7.1).
Disposals during the year relate to the cost of land and housing units sold in 2018, generating gains of EUR
9,324 thousand (EUR 5,377 thousand in 2017).
At 31 December 2018, the account “Advances” shows EUR 1,734 thousand in provisions posted.
In 2017, Criteria reclassified properties from foreclosures in payment of loans classified under “Noncurrent assets held for sale” to “Inventories” in the accompanying balance sheet, as they no longer met
the conditions established for recognition as non-current assets held for sale.
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The geographical location of inventories at year-end 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Gross carrying amount
Distribution by geographical area
Catalonia
Andalusia
Castilla la Mancha
Madrid
Valencia
Asturias
Aragón
Balearic Islands
Castile-Leon
Murcia
Basque Country
Canary Islands
La Rioja
Cantabria
Galicia
Extremadura
Navarra
Total
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2018

2017
595,674

695,364

371,427
295,207
284,010
190,952
88,546
82,580
59,163
53,110
48,781
45,282
45,257
36,934
24,057
22,136
12,463
4,497

443,172
297,376
383,218
301,771
91,871
114,458
63,755
105,664
50,302
284,495
49,339
37,942
25,017
28,672
13,101
4,588

2,260,076

2,990,105
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10. Cash and cash equivalents
“Cash and cash equivalents” in the accompanying balance sheet at 31 December 2018 and 2017 relates
essentially to current account balances and term account balances maturing within three months.
In 2018, the average interest rate on the debit balances of the current accounts was 0%.
At 31 December 2018, deposits held totalled EUR 150,000 thousand, maturing through to March 2019.
The interest earned in 2018 and 2017 on the cash deposited in the current account and demand deposit
account amounted to EUR 34 thousand and EUR 48 thousand, respectively, as recognised under “Financial
income” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.h).
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11. Equity
a)

Share capital

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s share capital was represented by 45,854,145 shares with
a par value of EUR 40 each, all fully subscribed and paid up. The Company’s shares are not listed on the
stock market.
b)

Share premium

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the share premium stood at EUR 2,344,519 thousand.
The Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) expressly allows the balance of the
share premium account to be used to increase capital and does not establish any specific restriction on
such use.
c)

Reserves

The breakdown is as follows:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Legal reserves
Other reserves

366,833
11,830,436

366,833
11,894,241

Total

12,197,269

12,261,074

Legal reserve
Under the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act, 10% of net profit for each year must be transferred to the
legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at least 20% of the share capital. The legal reserve
can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not fall below 10% of
the increased share capital amount.
Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can only be used to offset losses, and
then only if insufficient other reserves are available for this purpose.
At the end of 2018 and 2017, the balance of this reserve had reached the legally required minimum.
Other reserves
Appropriation of profits for 2017 generated an increase of EUR 211,181 thousand under “Other reserves”
(see Note 3).
The sole shareholder, at a meeting held on 25 January 2018, resolved to distribute a dividend against
other reserves of EUR 100,000 thousand. The dividend was paid to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation on
29 January 2018.
Meanwhile, Criteria’s contribution in the year of its holding in Saba Infraestructuras, S.A. to Criteria
Movilidad, S.L.U. generated a negative impact on reserves of EUR 174,986 thousand (see Note 7.1).
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d) Valuation adjustments
Available-for-sale financial assets
This equity heading in the accompanying balance sheet essentially shows the amount, net of the related
tax effect, of the differences between the market value and acquisition cost, as well as the exchange
differences, of assets classified as available for sale (see Note 8.1). These differences are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the assets that give rise to them are sold or when impairment is
recognised.
Cash flow hedges
This equity heading in the accompanying balance sheet includes the amount, net of the tax effect, of
changes in value of the financial derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, in respect of the effective
portion of the aforementioned changes (see Note 14).
Changes in valuation adjustments in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands of euros

Available-for-sale financial
assets (Note 8.1)

Additions - Cap. gains
(Disposals) - (Cap. losses)

Deferred
tax assets

Amounts
transferred to

Balance at

in equity

assets/

Net profit/(loss)

Balance at

31/12/2017

(before tax)

liabilities

tax

31/12/2018

Cash flow hedges

116,210
(593)

(162,461)
(1,245)

17,580
374

593

(28,671)
(871)

Total

115,617

(163,706)

17,954

593

(29,542)

Thousands of euros
Additions - Cap. gains
(Disposals) - (Cap. losses)
Balance
at
31/12/2016
Available-for-sale financial
assets (Note 8.1)

Deferred
tax assets

Amounts
transferred to

in equity

assets/

Net profit/(loss)

Balance at

(before tax)

liabilities

tax

31/12/2017

Cash flow hedges

(7,466)
-

123,676
(847)

254

-

116,210
(593)

Total

(7,466)

122,829

254

-

115,617
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12. Current and non-current provisions
The breakdown, by type of provision, of the balances of these headings of the accompanying balance
sheet at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is shown below.
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Non-current

31/12/2017

Current

Non-current

Current

Provisions for pending legal issues and tax litigation
Ongoing legal proceedings
Other provisions

375
1,483
-

932

1,229
1,354
-

-

Total

1,858

932

2,583

-

Movement in these items during 2018 and 2017 was as follows:
Thousands of euros
Balance at
31/12/2017

Allowances

Applications

2,583

554

(1,279)

-

932

2,583

1,486

Non-current
Current
Total provisions for legal and other
contingencies

Transfers
and other

Balance at
31/12/2018
1,858

-

-

(1,279)

-

2,790

932

Thousands of euros
Balance at
31/12/2016

Allowances

Applications

Transfers
and other

Balance at
31/12/2017

Non-current
Current

1,872
32,347

1,930
-

(1,219)
(32,347)

-

2,583
-

Total provisions for legal and other
contingencies

34,219

1,930

(33,566)

-

2,583

Contingencies and obligations
At 31 December 2018, financial institutions had extended guarantees to third parties on Criteria’s behalf
in the amount of EUR 8,439 thousand to secure the Company’s real estate activity (primarily in respect of
urban developments such as land development and other urban planning works), as well as certain
guarantees with the courts and tax authorities.
The Company also operates various multi-company risk funding facilities, under which Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U. (company wholly owned by Criteria) has drawn EUR 10,708 thousand in collateral, largely to secure
interim amounts received on account of the sale of real estate assets.
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13. Financial liabilities (current and non-current)
The heading “Financial liabilities (current and non-current)” was as follows at 31 December 2018 and 2017:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Non-current

31/12/2017

Current

Non-current

Current

Bonds and other marketable debt securities (Note 13.1)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 13.2)
Interest payable
Derivative financial instruments (Note 14)
Other financial liabilities (Note 13.3)

1,732,875
2,406,431
20,054
445

971,153
20,000
35,351
629
426

2,742,499
3,437,104
10,938
1,794

36,731
-

Total financial liabilities (current and non-current)

4,159,805

1,027,559

6,192,335

36,731

Non-current “Bonds and other marketable debt securities” and non-current “Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings” were as follows, by maturity:
December 2018

(Thousands of euros)
Bonds and other marketable
debt securities (nominal
amount)
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (nominal amount)
Premiums and borrowing
costs
Total payables

2020

2021

2022

2023

Over 5
years

Total

-

-

1,000,000

737,000

-

1,737,000

249,000

112,000

175,000

1,125,000

750,000

2,411,000

(722)

(111)

(1,989)

(5,403)

(469)

(8,694)

248,278

111,889

1,173,011

1,856,597

749,531

4,139,306

2019

2020

2021

2022

December 2017

(Thousands of euros)
Bonds and other marketable
debt securities (nominal
amount)
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (nominal amount)
Premiums and borrowing
costs
Total payables

Over 5
years

Total

1,000,000

-

-

1,000,000

750,000

2,750,000

375,000

600,000

900,000

870,000

700,000

3,445,000

(2,748)

(2,075)

(3,082)

(3,256)

(4,236)

(15,397)

1,372,252

597,925

896,918

1,866,744

1,445,764

6,179,603

During 2018, the interest accrued and the issuance expenses for all debts with Group companies and third
parties amounted to EUR 97,032 thousand (EUR 133,468 thousand at 31 December 2017) and are
recognised under “Financial expenses” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss (see Note 16.i).
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At 31 December 2018, accrued interest payable for “Bonds and other marketable debt securities” and
“Interest-bearing loans and borrowings” totalled EUR 33,112 thousand and EUR 2,239 thousand,
respectively, and is recognised under “Liabilities - Current payables” in the accompanying balance sheet
(EUR 34,048 thousand and EUR 2,683 thousand, respectively, at 31 December 2017).

13.1.

Bonds and other marketable debt securities

Details of this item in the balance sheet are as follows:
(Thousands of euros)

31/12/2018
Non-current

Senior bonds (nominal)

Current

Non-current

Current

1,737,000

971,800

2,750,000

-

(4,125)

(647)

(7,501)

-

-

33,112

-

34,048

1,732,875

1,004,265

2,742,499

34,048

Premiums and expenses
Interest payable
Total bonds and other marketable debt
securities

31/12/2017

The breakdown by issuance of “Bonds and other marketable debt securities” at 31 December 2018 and 2017
is as follows:
(Thousands of euros)
Type of issuance
Senior bonds
Senior bonds
Senior bonds

Nominal
ISIN

Interest rate

ES0314970239
ES0205045000
ES0205045018

2.375%
1.625%
1.500%

Maturity
May 2019
April 2022
May 2023

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

971,800
1,000,000
737,000

1,000,000
1,000,000
750,000

2,708,800

2,750,000

Senior bonds
In 2018, Criteria repurchased its own bonds for a total nominal amount of EUR 41,200 thousand
(EUR 28,200 thousand corresponding to the debt issuance maturing in May 2019 and EUR 13,000
thousand to the debt issuance maturing in May 2023).
All senior bond issuances were aimed exclusively at Spanish and foreign qualified and/or institutional
investors and are listed on the Spanish Fixed Income Market (AIAF).
Fair value of bonds and other marketable debt securities
At 31 December 2018, the fair value of the senior bonds and other marketable debt securities totalled
EUR 2,747,156 thousand, corresponding to the levels of issuance placement observed on the market.

13.2.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

In 2018, Criteria made full and/or partial repayments of loans for a total nominal amount of EUR 1,130,000
thousand, of which EUR 1,110,000 thousand relates to early repayments. Criteria also renegotiated the
terms of its bilateral loans, for the total nominal amount of EUR 1,235,000 thousand, by extending their
maturities (between 1 and 6 years) and reducing the interest rates by an average of 15 basis points.
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At 31 December 2018, this heading included loans arranged with 14 financial institutions and totalling
EUR 2,381,000 thousand, of which EUR 46,000 thousand relates to loans granted by the Council of Europe
Development Bank (CEB) (see Note 17), maturing between 2020 and 2025 (EUR 3,445,000 thousand
maturing between 2019 and 2023 at 31 December 2017).
In 2018, the Company arranged two new credit facilities for a total of EUR 175,000 thousand with a
financial institution belonging to the euro area and with another institution based in the United Kingdom.
They mature in 2023 and 2021, respectively.
At 31 December 2018, Criteria had six credit facilities in place for a total of EUR 502,000 thousand (EUR
375,000 thousand at 31 December 2017). The initial maturity of all these facilities is 2020, 2021 and 2023.
At 31 December 2018, the Company had made one cash drawdown of EUR 50,000 thousand under one
of the facilities.
Fair value of Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Since the majority of the bilateral loans were referenced to floating interest rates at 31 December 2018,
the Company believes that their fair value does not differ significantly from their carrying amount.

13.3.

Other non-current and current financial liabilities

These headings includes EUR 871 thousand in non-current guarantees collected from the lessees of real
estate assets (EUR 1,794 thousand at 31 December 2017).
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14. Derivative financial instruments
Details of derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Liabilities

Non-current

31/12/2017

Current

Non-current

Current

Trading derivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps
Exchange rate swaps

20,054
-

629

10,938
-

-

Total derivative financial instruments arranged with
third parties

20,054

629

10,938

-

Interest rate swaps

12,426

-

9,989

-

Total derivative financial instruments arranged with
Group companies and associates

12,426

-

9,989

-

Total

32,480

629

20,927

-

Interest rate swaps
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge the risks to which its future cash flows are
exposed.
The table below provides information on derivative contracts at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

(Thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Floating-to-fixed
interest rate swaps

Floating-to-fixed
interest rate swaps

Classification

Notional

Average
interest
rate

Maturity

Trading

2,950,000

0.26%

2020 - 2023

Interest
rates
interest

100,000

1.10%

2026

Trading

2,700,000

0.23%

2020 - 2023

Interest
rates
interest

250,000

0.61%

2023

Ineffective
part taken
to profit or
loss

Fair value
(thousands
of euros)
Assets Liabilities

(11,784)

-

(31,235)

-

-

(1,245)

19,294

-

(20,080)

-

-

(847)

At 31 December 2018, interest rate swaps have been entered into with CaixaBank for a notional amount
of EUR 1,100,000 thousand (see Note 17).
In 2018, the Company arranged two floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional value of
EUR 100,000 thousand, to hedge against a potential rise in the 5Y midswap interest rate as from 2021,
since it expects to be able to repay the debt maturing in 2022 ahead of time. These derivatives are
considered cash flow hedging instruments as the future transaction hedged is highly probable and
falls within the established effectiveness range. The amount recognised in Equity during the year was
EUR -871 thousand.
The impact in the statement of profit or loss of settling these derivative financial instruments is recognised
under “Financial expenses” (see Note 16.i).
For financial swaps where the hedge has been assessed to be ineffective, changes in value are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss under “Changes in the fair value of financial instruments” (see Note 16.j).
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The fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined through methods such as net present value (NPV),
where each flow is estimated and discounted taking account of the market to which it belongs, the index
to which it relates and the credit risk the market demands of Criteria.
Exchange rate swaps
The Company always weighs up the merits of relying on derivative financial instruments to hedge against
the volatility to which its transactions in foreign currency are exposed.
At 31 December 2018, the notional amount of the exchange rate swaps arranged was EUR 12,022
thousand, maturing in April 2019.
As the Company has decided not to apply hedge accounting, the changes in value have been recognised
in the Financial income section of the statement of profit or loss under “Changes in the fair value of
financial instruments” (see Note 16.j).
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15. Tax position
a) Tax assets and liabilities
Thousands of euros
31/12/2018
Noncurrent

31/12/2017

Current

Noncurrent

Current

VAT refundable
Other
Deferred tax assets

880,919

205
28,636
-

958,640

10
-

Total tax receivables

880,919

28,841

958,640

10

Personal income tax withholdings payable
VAT payable
Accrued social security taxes payable
Economic contribution
Other
Deferred tax liabilities

1,197

458
61,919
116
2,236
11,232
-

-

640
2,368
103
2,779
-

Total tax payables

1,197

75,961

-

5,890

b)

Tax consolidation

In accordance with prevailing legislation, the Company files consolidated tax returns, as a subsidiary, as
part of tax group no. 20/1991, whose parent company is CaixaBank.
The Company also belongs to the consolidated tax group for value added tax (VAT) whose parent company
is also CaixaBank.
c)

Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to taxable profit/(tax loss)

Income tax is calculated on the basis of accounting profit/(loss) obtained by applying generally accepted
accounting principles, which does not necessarily coincide with taxable profit/(tax loss).
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The reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to taxable profit/(tax loss) is as follows:
2018

Thousands of euros
Increase

Decrease

Amount

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax
Permanent differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments
transferred
Adjustments for impairment of equity instruments
Exemption for dividends and transfer of equity holdings (art. 21 LIS)
Restriction on tax deductibility of financial expenses
Other

2,591,420

436,755

(782,325)

(345,570)

220,685
(4,016)
216,669
321,184 (2,925,772) (2,604,588)
65,915
65,915
1,286
1,286

Temporary differences:
Credit loss provisions
Impairment of portfolio
Impairment of inventories
Depreciation and amortisation
Application of limit as per art. 11.12 LIS
Other provisions
Other

1,678

(1,980)

604

-

604

-

(31,378)

(31,378)

235,635

(257,527)

(21,892)

331

-

331

775

(3,797)

(3,022)

1,010

(642)

368

Taxable profit/(Tax loss)

2017

(130,159)

Thousands of euros
Increase

Decrease

Amount

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax
Permanent differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments
transferred
Adjustments for impairment of equity instruments
Exemption for dividends and transfer of equity holdings (art. 21 LIS)
Restriction on tax deductibility of financial expenses
Other

(302)

341,400

495,881

-

495,881

70,923
(2,221)
68,702
- (1,061,494) (1,061,494)
98,528
98,528
867
867

Temporary differences:
Credit loss provisions
Impairment of inventories
Depreciation and amortisation
Application of limit as per art. 11.12 LIS

1,980

(2,220)

-

(448)

(240)
(448)

293,879

(215,951)

77,928

448

-

448

Other provisions

8,534

(37,469)

(28,935)

Other

1,002

(632)

370

Taxable profit/(Tax loss)

(6,993)

The difference between the taxable profit or tax loss and the accounting profit or loss relates basically to:
(i) certain provisions for impairment losses on inventories and investment property considered to be nondeductible; (ii) differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of investments transferred during
the year; (iii) non-deductible financial expenses; (iv) non-deductible accounting provisions; and (v)
exemption for dividends and transfers of equity instruments.
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As a result of the differences between accounting and tax legislation and of the Company’s taxation as
part of the consolidated tax group, the tax expense/(rebate) calculated on the basis of accounting
profit/(loss) differs from the tax settlement that determines the income tax payable to/(refundable from)
the tax authorities. This results in the recognition of deferred tax assets, for the excess tax paid with
respect to the accrued tax, and deferred tax liabilities, for the excess accrued income tax with respect to
the tax payable.
d) Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to the income tax expense/(rebate)
The reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to the income tax expense/(rebate) in 2018 and 2017 is as
follows:
2018
Accounting profit/(loss) before tax
Permanent differences
Tax rate (30%)
Deductions

Thousands of
euros
2,591,420
(2,666,288)
22,460
-

Derecognition of deferred tax assets and adjustment of prior year’s income tax

(54,594)

Total income tax (expense)/rebate recognised in profit or loss

(32,134)

2017
Accounting profit/(loss) before tax
Permanent differences
Tax rate (30%)

Thousands of
euros
341,400
(397,516)
16,835

Deductions
Withholdings at source

(345)

Derecognition of deferred tax assets and adjustment of prior year’s income tax

3,291

Total income tax (expense)/rebate recognised in profit or loss
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e)

Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised

Details of and movement in “Deferred tax assets” are as follows (in thousands of euros):
Thousands of euros
31/12/2017

Movements
in the year

Transfers

31/12/2018

594
2,206
273
282,273
4,753

(91)
(938)
262
(77,196)
(3,560)

-

503
1,268
535
205,077
1,193

-

18,777

-

18,777

Valuation adjustments to cash flow hedges
Other
Tax loss carryforwards
Deductions

254
4,315
193,036
470,936

120
458
(844)
(14,709)

-

374
4,773
192,192
456,227

Total deferred tax assets

958,640

(96,498)

-

880,919

31/12/2016

Movements
in the year

Transfers

31/12/2017

Temporary differences (deferred tax assets):
Allowances for credit losses
Redemption
Pension plan contributions
Impairment of buildings
Impairment of equity instruments

666
2,352
198
314,371
831

(72)
(146)
75
(32,098)
3,922

-

594
2,206
273
282,273
4,753

Valuation adjustments to cash flow hedges
Other
Tax loss carryforwards
Deductions

12,504
193,036
473,735

254
(8,189)
(2,799)

-

254
4,315
193,036
470,936

Total deferred tax assets

997,693

(39,053)

-

958,640

Temporary differences (deferred tax assets):
Allowances for credit losses
Redemption
Pension plan contributions
Impairment of buildings
Impairment of equity instruments
Valuation adjustments to available-for-sale financial
assets

Thousands of euros

Details of and movement in “Deferred tax liabilities” are as follows (in thousands of euros):
Thousands of euros
31/12/2017

Movements
in the year

Transfers

31/12/2018

Valuation adjustments to available-for-sale financial assets

-

1,197

-

1,197

Total deferred tax liabilities

-

1,197

-

1,197

Estimated monetisable deferred tax assets in accordance with Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of
29 November, at 31 June 2018 amounted to EUR 186,839 thousand (EUR 257,456 thousand at
31 December 2017).
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The Company, as an undertaking attached to the Tax Group, assesses the recoverable amount of its
recognised deferred tax assets, using a model it has developed based on its projected results. The model
has been devised in collaboration with an independent expert and is updated every six months to ensure
that the model remains accurate and realistic.
At 31 December 2018, the results of the model and the back testing exercises support the recoverability
of the deferred tax assets within the legal recovery period.
Likewise, and given prevailing interest rates, the nominal value of the deferred tax assets does not
different significantly from their present value.
f)

Tax loss and tax credit carryforwards

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the tax loss carryforwards generated by the Company
pending offset by the tax group and the amounts corresponding thereto are as follows:

Year

Thousands of
euros

2013
2012

54,894
585,743

Total

640,637

The tax credit carryforwards at 31 December 2018 include mainly double taxation tax credits. Details of
the tax credits reported each year are as follows:
Year

Thousands of
euros

2014
2013
2012
2011

133,344
153,953
139,932
28,998

Total

456,227

The Company’s directors consider that the Tax Group to which the Company belongs will generate
sufficient taxable profits to be able to fully recover the tax assets recognised.
g) Years open for review and tax inspection
Under current legislation, taxes cannot be deemed to have been definitively settled until the tax returns
filed have been inspected by the tax authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations period has
expired.
The Company has the year 2013 and following years open for review for the main taxes applicable.
The Company’s Directors consider that the tax returns for the aforementioned taxes have been filed
correctly and, therefore, even in the event of discrepancies in the interpretation of current tax legislation
in relation to the tax treatment afforded to certain transactions, such liabilities as might arise would not
have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements.
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h) Transactions operating under a special tax scheme
In accordance with Article 86 of Corporation Tax Law 27/2014 of 27 November, following is a list of
transactions carried out in 2018 by the Company under the special tax scheme established in chapter VIII
of title VII of the Corporation Tax Law:
- On 5 October 2018, Criteria contributed 3.60% of the share capital of Naturgy Energy Group S.A.
to Energía Boreal 2018, S.A. (company controlled by Criteria) (see Notes 7.1 and 7.2). However, the
Company has chosen not to defer the income obtained from the transfer of the shares of Naturgy
Energy Group, S.A. under the aforementioned special tax regime and has integrated that income
into its tax base for corporate income tax purposes.
- On 13 December 2018, Criteria Movilidad, S.L.U. (company wholly owned by Criteria) effected a
capital increase, which Criteria subscribed in exchange for a non-monetary contribution of its
holding in Saba Infraestructuras (see Note 7.1) and by capitalising a loan worth EUR 5,800 thousand
(see Note 7.3). The carrying and tax amount of the items contributed to Criteria Movilidad, S.L.U.
came to EUR 479,623 thousand and EUR 475,439 thousand, respectively.
- On 3 December 2018, Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (company wholly owned by Criteria) effected a
capital increase, which was fully subscribed by Criteria in exchange for a non-monetary
contribution of its entire holding in Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U. (see Note 7.1). The carrying and
tax amount of that stake came to EUR 156,688 thousand and EUR 402,375 thousand, respectively.
- Meanwhile, on 3 December 2018, Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. carried out a capital increase fully
subscribed by Criteria through the non-monetary contribution of several real estate assets owned
by Criteria (see Notes 5, 7.1 and 9).
Information on transactions carried out under the special tax scheme in prior years is disclosed in the
notes on the tax position to the financial statements corresponding to those years.
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16. Income and expenses
a) Revenue
Return on equity investments
The breakdown of “Return on equity investments” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss, which
reflects dividends received from investees in 2018 and 2017, is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Company
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.
CaixaBank, S.A.
Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.
Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A.
Suez, S.A.
Energía Boreal 2018, S.A.
Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, S.A.
Other listed securities
Grupo Financiero Inbursa, S.A.B. de C.V.
Cellnex Telecom, S.A.
Total

2018
529,289
358,881
324,292
59,706
23,754
16,166
3,846
593
-

2017
102,724
311,030
244,558
115,004
21,683
3,745
13,509
1,189

1,316,527

813,442

Real estate sales and building leases
The breakdown of “Sales and services” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017
is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
Real estate sales
Building leases (Note 5)
Total

2017

90,189
12,852

14,282
16,688

103,041

30,970

Services
The line “Services” in the statement of profit or loss primarily shows the revenue from services rendered
to Group companies and associates (EUR 440 thousand in 2018 and EUR 2,227 thousand in 2017) (see
Note 17).
b) Gains/(losses) on disposal of investments in Group companies and associates
The following table shows the results generated from the disposal of investments in group companies and
associates for 2018 and 2017 (see Notes 7.1 and 7.2).
Thousands of euros
Company

2018

2017

Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A.
Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.
CaixaBank, S.A.

1,595,652
38,146
-

991
(248,820)

Total

1,633,798

(247,829)
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c)

Staff expenses

The breakdown of “Staff expenses” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017 is
as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018

2017

Wages and salaries and termination benefits
Social security contributions
Other employee benefits

(10,299)
(1,138)
(1,894)

(10,494)
(1,092)
(1,164)

Total

(13,331)

(12,750)

The average number of employees, by professional category, in 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Professional category

2018

2017

Executives
Managers

6
11

6
8

Technicians
Back office personnel

54
16

52
17

Total

88

83

There were no employees with a disability equal to or above 33% in either 2018 or 2017.

The distribution by gender and professional category at the 2018 and 2017 year ends is as follows:
2018
Professional category
Executives
Managers
Technicians
Back office personnel
Total

Male

2017
Female

6

Male
-

Female
6

-

7

4

4

4

32

23

27

22

1

15

1

16

46

42

38

42

d) Other operating expenses
The breakdown of “External services” under “Other operating expenses” in the accompanying statements
of profit and loss for 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018

2017

Leases and fees
Repairs and maintenance
Independent professional services
Insurance
Security and surveillance
Representation and travel expenses
Governance and control bodies
Property-related expenses
Other expenses

(1,856)
(2,559)
(2,823)
(254)
(1,446)
(4,500)
(5,119)
(30,472)
(1,178)

(1,974)
(3,336)
(8,074)
(224)
(1,514)
(2,282)
(4,663)
(41,898)
(1,201)

Total

(50,207)

(65,166)

The Leases and fees segment includes operating leases, the most significant of which in 2018 and 2017
was the lease from CaixaBank of Criteria’s offices located at Avenida Diagonal 621, Barcelona.
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At year-end 2018, the Company had the following future minimum lease payments with CaixaBank, in
accordance with existing contracts, without taking into account community costs, future inflation-linked
rent increases, nor future contractually-agreed rent increases:
Operating leases

Thousands of euros

Minimum lease payments
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

2018
1,756
3,255
-

2017
1,846
5,276
-

Total

5,011

7,122

Operating lease payments recognised as expenses in 2018 are included under “Other operating expenses”
and amount to EUR 1,695 thousand (EUR 1,791 thousand in 2017).
In 2018 and 2017, “Independent professional services” included the fees paid for services rendered by
the Company’s auditor, Deloitte, S.L. and related companies, broken down as follows (in thousands of
euros):
Services provided by the auditors and by companies related to the auditors
2018

2017

Audit services
Other attest services

449
84

370
195

Total audit and related services

533

565

38

324

571

889

Other services
Total professional services

e) Information on payments to suppliers: Additional Provision Three. Disclosure requirements of Law
15/2010 of 5 July.
The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December, establishing
measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, requires companies to expressly publish
information on the payment periods to their suppliers in the notes to the financial statements. Pursuant
to this disclosure obligation, on 4 February 2016 a new resolution issued by the Spanish Accounting and
Audit Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State Gazette (BOE), repealing and replacing the 29
December 2010 resolution.
In accordance with the 29 January 2016 resolution, a breakdown of the information required in relation
to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date is provided below:
Payments made and outstanding at the reporting date
Amount
(Thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Total payments made
Total payments pending

81,464
2,214

79,491
6,009

Total payments in the year

83,678

85,500
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Average supplier payment period and ratios
Days
(Days)
Average payment period to suppliers
Ratio of transactions paid
Ratio of transactions pending payment

f)

2018

2017

13
12
30

18
17
27

Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets

The breakdown of this heading of the statement of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
Impairment of non-current assets
Investment property
Non-current assets held for sale
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current
assets:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Non-current assets held for sale

2017

(Note 5)

12,577
12,577
-

(10,419)
(73,499)
63,080

(Note 4.a)
(Note 4.b)
(Note 5)

4,792
(25)
(9)
4,826
-

12,895
(250)
(76)
558
12,663

17,369

2,476

Total

g) Impairment and other losses on financial instruments
As explained in the corresponding notes on “Investments in Group companies and associates” (see Note
7) and “Available-for-sale financial assets” (see Note 8.1), Criteria recognised the following impairment
amounts under this heading:
Thousands of euros
2018
Investments in Group companies and associates (Notes 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 8.1)
Total
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(68,340)

-

(362)

(216,669)

(68,702)
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h) Financial income
“Financial income” in the accompanying statement of profit or loss relates in full to income from
marketable debt securities and other financial instruments, the breakdown of which is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
At Group companies and associates:
Interest on demand deposits at CaixaBank (Note 10)
Interest on loans to Group companies
Other financial income
At third parties:
Interest on bank accounts (Notes 8.3 and 10)
Income from debt securities
Other financial income
Total

i)

2017
4,940
25
4,907
8

4,605
4,605
-

644
338
305
1

1,140
48
1,092

5,584

5,745

Financial expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss for 2018 and 2017, by type
of financial transaction, is as follows:

Thousands of euros
2018
At Group companies and associates:
Financial expense on bonds issued
Interest on loans and others
Derivative financial instruments
At third parties:
Financial expense on bonds issued
Interest on loans and others
Derivative financial instruments
Total

j)

2017
(6,745)
(52)
(6,693)

(9,565)
(1,497)
(1,250)
(6,818)

(105,653)

(140,194)

(53,288)
(43,744)
(8,621)

(78,010)
(55,458)
(6,726)

(112,398)

(149,759)

Change in fair value of financial instruments

This heading of the statement of profit or loss shows changes in the value of the Company’s interest and
exchange rate swaps (see Note 14).
k)

Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments

This heading of the statement of profit or loss for 2018 shows the result of repurchases of own bonds (see
Note 13.1) and the result of a matured exchange rate swap.
In 2017, it included the accrual of income arising from the cancellation of interest rate derivatives on
subordinated bonds.
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17. Related party transactions
a) Related party transactions
All transactions with related parties, pursuant to the definition provided in Ministry of Economy and
Finance Order EHA/3050/2004 of 15 September, performed in 2018 were carried out in the course of the
Company’s ordinary activities and on an arm’s length basis. The transactions performed with related
entities are disclosed in the preceding notes, and can be summarised as follows:
Transactions with ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, the sole shareholder:
•

Lease to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.’s offices at Plaza Weyler 3, Palma
de Mallorca.

•

Dividends distributed to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, with a total of EUR 100,000 thousand
charged to other reserves and EUR 250,000 thousand charged to profit or loss for 2018 (see Note
3). The Board also plans to lay a proposal before the sole shareholder to pay a final dividend of
EUR 200,000 thousand against 2018 earnings.

•

In 2013 ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation signed an agreement with the Council of Europe
Development Bank (CEB) whereby the CEB extended a credit facility of EUR 100,000 thousand to
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, arranged through CaixaBank. This agreement is associated with
the LD 1785 project (2012), for partial and indirect funding of social and educational projects by
the ”la Caixa” Foundation to foster equal opportunities.
CaixaBank assigned its position in this agreement to Criteria on 8 February 2018. As a result, at
31 December 2018 Criteria had extended credit to the sole shareholder in the amount of EUR
46,000 thousand, and had received loans from the CEB for the same amount. These are
recognised under the “Other Financial assets” and “Interest-bearing loans and borrowings”
headings of the accompanying balance sheet, respectively (see Notes 7.4 and 13.2).

Transactions with Criteria Group companies:
•

Service agreement extended by Criteria to Caixa Capital Risc SGEIC, S.A., for the analysis and
monitoring of investment, human resources and IT services projects.

•

Service agreement extended by Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. to Criteria, including comprehensive
management of the real estate portfolio and the sale and rental of Criteria’s real estate assets.

•

Criteria has granted loans to subsidiaries up to a maximum of EUR 525,075 thousand, of which
EUR 520,075 thousand have been drawn down at 31 December 2018 (see Note 7.4).

•

On 3 December 2018, Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. effected a further increase subscribed for in full
by Criteria in exchange for a non-monetary contribution of its entire stake in Els Arbres de la
Tardor, S.L.U., along with various properties it owned (see Notes 5, 7.1 and 9).

Transactions with Criteria Group associates:
•

Lease from CaixaBank of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.’s offices at Avenida Diagonal 621, Barcelona and
Paseo de la Castellana 51, Madrid.

•

The Company has a securities deposit agreement with CaixaBank, The Bank of East Asia and
Grupo Financiero Inbursa.
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•

At 31 December 2018, Criteria had arranged floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps for a notional
amount of EUR 1,100 million, maturing between 2020 and 2022 (see Note 14).

•

Framework agreement for the rendering by CaixaBank of certain services to Criteria, including
tax services under the terms of an engagement document.

•

Agreement for Serveis Informàtics la Caixa, S.A. (Silk) to provide services relating to the
maintenance and management of certain computer software to Criteria.

In addition, there are post-employment obligations with Senior Management amounting to EUR 8,176
thousand.
Description of the relationship between the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. Criteria and CaixaBank
As a result of the transformation of ”la Caixa” into a banking foundation and the ending of its indirect
banking activity through CaixaBank, and pursuant to prevailing regulations, on 24 July 2014 the Board of
Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation approved a Management Protocol for the financial holding. On
18 May 2017, the Board of Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation ratified a new protocol for the
management of the financial holding in order to bring the terms of the existing protocol in line with the
new commitments to be assumed by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation both directly and through Criteria in
compliance with the deconsolidation conditions prescribed by the European Central Bank. On 25 May
2017, Criteria’s Board of Directors agreed to adhere to all aspects of this new protocol (the “Management
Protocol”), which mainly governs:
• The basic lines governing ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s management of its stake in CaixaBank.
• Relations between the Board of Trustees and CaixaBank’s governing bodies
• The general criteria governing transactions between the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and CaixaBank
• The mechanisms to avoid the emergence of conflicts of interest.
• The basic criteria relating to the assignment and use of distinctive signs and domain names owned by
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation by CaixaBank and the companies in its Group.
• The provision for ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to have a right of pre-emptive acquisition if CaixaBank
attempts to sell or transfer its ownership of Monte de Piedad.
• The basic principles for a possible collaboration so that (a) CaixaBank may implement corporate social
responsibility policies through ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and so that (b) ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation may promote its welfare projects through the CaixaBank branch network and, as the case
may be, through other material means.
• The flow of adequate information to allow ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and CaixaBank to prepare
their financial statements and to comply with periodic reporting and supervisory duties with the Bank
of Spain and other regulatory bodies
Under the terms of the Management Protocol, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, Criteria and CaixaBank
agreed a new Internal Relations Protocol on 19 December 2016, modifying the previous protocol of
1 July 2011 and setting out the aspects of the Management Protocol required by virtue of CaixaBank’s
status as counterparty of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and of Criteria.
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On 25 January 2018, Criteria’s Board of Directors ratified the amendments to the Internal Relations
Protocol between ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, CaixaBank and Criteria in order to: (i) adapt the content
to the Management Protocol; (ii) comply with the conditions notified on 16 March 2016 by the Supervisory
Board of the European Central Bank for prudential deconsolidation between Criteria and CaixaBank; and
(iii) adapt the Protocol to these terms of deconsolidation.
A summary of transactions conducted in 2018 and 2017 with Group companies, associates and joint
ventures is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

Criteria
Group
Services received
Services rendered
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividends received
Dividends deducted from cost of investment
Dividends, reserves and share premiums
distributed
Lease income

14,697
414
4,326
545,455
205,900
-

Services rendered
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividends received
Dividends deducted from cost of investment
Dividends, reserves and share premiums
distributed
Lease income
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24
25
6,745
742,879
12,893

400,000

-

-

1,301

Thousands of euros
2017
”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

Criteria
Group
Services received

7
581
-

Associates
and
joint ventures
4,940

Associates
and
joint ventures

7,016
671
4,605
102,724
9,997

-

10,447
1,504
9,565
684,101
-

-

400,000

-

-

-

1,679
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b) Balances with related parties
Balances with related parties at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
”la Caixa”
Associates
Banking
and joint
Foundation
ventures

Criteria
Group
Non-current credit facilities

Note
(Note 7.4)

285,000

26,000

-

Other financial assets

(Note 7.4)

-

-

583,601

Interest receivable

(Note 7.4)

3,602

96

-

Current receivables

(Note 7.4)

61,730

572

24,196

Current credit facilities

(Note 7.4)

189,075

20,000

-

Deposits pledged as collateral

(Note 8.3)

-

-

12,810

Cash and cash equivalents

(Note 10)

-

-

142,266

Derivative financial instruments

(Note 14)

-

-

12,426

Interest payable

-

-

831

Current liabilities

-

67

614

Thousands of euros
2017
”la Caixa”
Associates
Banking
and joint
Foundation
ventures

Criteria
Group
Non-current credit facilities

Note
(Note 7.4)

275,000

Interest receivable

(Note 7.4)

3,485

-

-

Current receivables

(Note 7.4)

3,330

1,085

120,274

Current credit facilities

(Note 7.4)

245,000

-

-

Deposits pledged as collateral

(Note 8.3)

-

-

14,510

Cash and cash equivalents

(Note 10)

-

-

653,049

Derivative financial instruments

(Note 14)

-

-

9,989

-

-

854

2,642

-

4,943

Interest payable
Current liabilities

-

-

The Company also holds the financial assets described in Note 7.
At 31 December 2018, “Current receivables” included balances arising from transactions of a commercial
nature and the position held with the parent of the tax group, CaixaBank, following the definitive
settlement of corporate income tax for 2017 plus certain adjustments from previous years. This tax
settlement amounted to EUR 23,837 thousand and was paid on 23 February 2019.

CriteriaCaixa – 2018 Financial Statements

70

Remuneration of directors and the Senior Management
Remuneration of directors
Details of the fees for attending meetings of the management bodies and other remuneration received
by the members of the Board of Directors of Criteria in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands of euros
2018
Individual
Group
Total non-variable remuneration

3,810

2017
Individual Group

485

3,207

15
14
1

Number of people
Men
Women

128

15
14
1

Remuneration received in 2018 and 2017 by the Board members of Criteria in connection with their duties
as representatives of the Company on the boards of listed companies and other companies in which
Criteria has a significant presence or representation and that are Criteria consolidated companies
(excluding Group companies) amounted to EUR 821 thousand and EUR 2,025 thousand, recognised in the
companies’ respective income statements.
The expense for civil liability insurance premiums on account of Directors and executives totalled EUR 97
thousand and EUR 91 thousand in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
In 2018 and 2017, Criteria made no contributions to pension plans on behalf of Directors.
Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. does not have any pension obligations with former or current members of the Board
of Directors in their capacity as such or any other obligations to them other than those disclosed above.
No agreements are in place establishing termination benefits in the event of the unilateral termination by
the Company of the members of the governing bodies of CriteriaCaixa.
In 2018 and 2017, the Company’s Directors did not perform any transactions other than in the normal
course of business or other than at arm’s length with Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. or with Group companies.
Remuneration of Senior Management
Criteria’s Senior Management comprised six people at 31 December 2018 (six people at 31 December 2017).
Details of remuneration received by Senior Management in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands
of euros

Salaries

Attendance
fees

Other
items

Pension
plans

Insurance
premiums

Termination
benefits

Share-based
payments

2018

3,252

721

30

756

10

-

-

2017

3,543

490

37

230

8

-

-

There are agreements with members of Senior Management regarding termination benefits for early
termination or rescission of contracts.
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Other disclosures concerning the Board of Directors
Conflicts of interest
Article 229 of the Corporate Enterprises Act introduces, among other duties applicable to directors, the
duty to report to the Board of Directors any situation of direct or indirect conflicts of interest between
each Director or parties related thereto and the Company.
All the directors have confirmed that they had no conflict of interests in 2018.
Competition prohibition
Pursuant to Article 229.1 of the Corporate Enterprises Act in force, Board members may not carry out for
their own account or the account of others activities which actually or potentially constitute effective
competition with those carried out by the Company or which, in any other way, permanently conflict with
the Company’s interests. Article 230 of the Corporate Enterprises Act stipulates that the Company can lift
this prohibition if the Company is not expected to incur damages or it is expected that it will be
indemnified for an amount equal to the benefits expected to be obtained from the exemption. Express
and separate approval of the exemption must be obtained from shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting. In this regard, none of the Board members have notified the Company of any circumstance
requiring such an exemption to be considered and, if applicable, granted.
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18. Note to the statement of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents were down EUR 35,209 thousand on the previous year. This reduction can be
explained by the positive cash flows obtained mainly from divestments in Group companies and
associates (see Note 7.2) and because the dividends received from stakes in investees were not enough
to offset the negative cash flows resulting from the related investments and the debt deleveraging process
undertaken by the Company.
In relation to cash flows from operating activities, a particular highlight was the cash flows of EUR
1,557,666 thousand obtained from dividends collected on equity investments. These cash flows were
reduced by the payments made during the year, notably payments on account of corporate income tax
for the year, which amounted to EUR 543,827 thousand, and interest payments on debts, which
amounted to EUR 107,303 thousand.
As regards the cash flow from investing activities, the Company divested a total of EUR 3,005,021
thousand in Group companies and associates in 2018, relating mainly to the acceptance of the takeover
bid for the entire stake in Abertis Infraestructuras for a total of EUR 2,740,510 thousand, the sale of 0.42%
of Naturgy Energy Group for EUR 98,927 thousand, and assets worth EUR 31,847 thousand received upon
the liquidation of Inversiones Autopistas (see Notes 7.1 and 7.2). The Company also carried out arm’s
length investments in fixed income and equity securities totalling EUR 1,040,303 thousand (see Note 8),
as well as investments in Group companies and associates totalling EUR 510,274 thousand, the most
significant of which was the acquisition of 48.68% of Saba Infraestructuras for EUR 438,177 thousand (see
Note 7.1). The Company also arranged various fixed-term deposits maturing in May 2019, the balance of
which at 31 December 2018 came to EUR 600,000 thousand (see Note 8.3).
Cash flows obtained from financing activities relate mainly to the repayment of loan agreements with
credit institutions for the net amount of EUR 1,130,000 thousand, of which EUR 1,110,000 thousand
relates to early repayments, and the repurchases of own bonds amounting to EUR 41,847 thousand (see
Note 13.1). In addition, the sole shareholder was paid dividends totalling EUR 400,000 thousand in the
period (see Note 3).
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19. Environmental information
Given the Company’s business activities, it does not have any environmental expenses, assets, provisions
or contingencies that might be considered material with respect to its assets, financial position or results.
Therefore, no specific disclosures relating to environmental issues are included in these notes to the
financial statements.
Criteria is committed to environmental protection; a commitment that goes beyond its legal obligations
to embrace an environmental management system under ISO 14001 that is fully integrated within its
business and extends to all its projects. Meanwhile, Criteria, through its presence on the governance
bodies of its investees, continues to develop internal processes for assessing and controlling the social
and environmental risk of its investees so as to guarantee that all such enterprises work in a responsible
and ethical manner.
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20. Risk management
On 25 January 2018, Criteria’s Board of Directors approved the Corporate Risk Management (CRM) Policy,
which provides a framework for deploying the CRM model of the Criteria Group, including Criteria and
the wholly-owned companies under its direct management. The main features of the model are as
follows:
•

Control environment / Training and communication: aims to promote a risk management and
control culture, informing all employees of updates made to the CRM policies and procedures and
offering regular training.

•

Setting of corporate targets: based on the Group’s mission and vision, these targets are the basis and
starting point for risk identification and assessment and control activities.

•

Risk identification and assessment: detection of risks that could prevent corporate targets from
being achieved, and their assessment considering probability of occurrence and impact (economic,
reputational and in relation to business continuity).

•

Control activities: ensure the efficiency of the guidelines set by Management in a control risk
framework, associating controls to risks in order to reduce their probability of occurrence and/or
impact.

•

Monitoring and reporting: controlling risk development for each area and/or business, monitoring
control assessment and assessing their effectiveness in order to report to the Governing Bodies.

•

Supervision: to ensure the efficiency of the CRM model by verifying the existence of controls to
mitigate risks and check they function correctly.

Risk categories
As per the methodology set forth in the international standards of the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), the CRM model of the Criteria Group establishes the
following four categories of risk which, were they to materialise, could hinder the Group in accomplishing
its objectives:
•

Strategic: risks associated with the achievement of corporate targets.

•

Financial: risks associated with the main financial variables. There are seven subcategories:
-

Liquidity: the risk of insufficient liquid assets to meet the contractual maturities of liabilities and
business needs.

-

Lending: the possibility of potential losses arising from a counterparty not meeting its payment
obligations.

-

Impairment of equity portfolio: possible loss or impairment in the economic profitability of the
Company’s business activities.

-

Impairment of real estate assets: possible impairment of real estate assets.

-

Impairment of other assets: possible impairment of Group assets that are not holdings or real
estate assets.

-

Market: the possibility that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in
the prices of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates.
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-

Reliability of financial reporting: the possibility that the integrity, reliability and quality of
financial information may be affected.

•

Operational: risk of loss arising from mistakes or inadequate management of internal processes,
people, systems, the use of assets or operating infrastructure.

•

Legal and compliance: risk relating to compliance with laws, regulation or market standards in the
areas where the Group operates, in addition to compliance with internal policies.

Control environment
To work correctly, the CRM model uses a methodological approach based on the three lines of defence
model, on which different levels of activity are defined to ensure that risks are managed and monitored
efficiently.

The Board of Directors, acting through the Audit and Control Committee, supervises the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management systems, including tax controls.
The Audit and Control Committee also oversees internal audit services and the entire process of
preparing and presenting Criteria’s financial information prior to approval by the Board.
First line of defence. The Group’s Areas / Businesses are responsible for:
a.

Identifying, assessing, mitigating and controlling risks, following the approved internal policies
and procedures.

b.

Reporting to the second line of defence on the status of the risks for which they are responsible.

c.

Maintaining effective internal control and consistently implementing risk control procedures.

Second line of defence. Comprises the following functions:
a.

Internal Control

b.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

c.

Regulatory Compliance
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a. Internal Control
The Internal Control function is responsible for:
•

Defining the CRM model and actively helping to shape risk strategies and key decisions regarding
their management.

•

Consistently monitoring the effectiveness and development of the controls and risks, reporting
to the Management Committee.

•

Monitoring and ensuring the standardisation of the CRM model, and keeping it updated.

•

Implementing the corresponding improvements to the CRM model.

The function also reports to the following information to the governing bodies:
•

Annually: all risks in each area / business, the controls implemented and their effectiveness, in
addition to the established action plans.

•

Six monthly: any changes in significant and/or emerging risks and/or risks that have already
materialised.

•

Immediately: all risks that could pose a threat to the Group’s existence or continuity.

The Annual Corporate Governance Report provides a more detailed description of the Criteria Group’s
CRM model.
b. Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Internal Control over Financial Reporting function is mainly responsible for:
•

Implementing and ensuring the existence of a culture of internal control over financial reporting
at all organisational levels that require this culture, carrying out training actions at the affected
areas as and when necessary.

•

Checking that the financial information drawn up by the Criteria Group includes all relevant
transactions, events and other circumstances in accordance with applicable law.

•

Advising on all matters relating to internal control over financial reporting, while drawing up
and/or fostering policies, internal regulations and codes and improving these if needed.

•

Maintaining continuous dialogue with Internal Audit in relation to weaknesses and improvement
areas relating to ICFR.

Meanwhile, it reports the following information to the governing bodies through the ADGM of Finance,
Resources and Human Resources:
•

When financial information is prepared: certifying that key control activities have been promptly
implemented by those responsible, and providing follow-up reports on any weaknesses
detected and the associated action plans.

•

Relevant aspects arising from the continuous review of the ICFR.

The Annual Corporate Governance Report provides a more detailed description of ICFR at the Criteria
Group.
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c. Regulatory Compliance
As established by Criteria’s Corporate Risk Management Model, the objective of the Regulatory
Compliance function is to supervise legal and/or compliance risks, defined as risks relating to compliance
with the laws, regulations and standards of the markets in which Criteria operates and also with internal
rules, and which could result in administrative or legal sanctions or reputational damage.
Risk is monitored by establishing controls at the second line of defence, which allow the Company to
detect potential deficiencies in the procedures implemented at Criteria to ensure compliance with
regulations in all its areas of activity. When deficiencies are detected, it develops, together with the areas
affected, proposals for improvement initiatives, which are monitored regularly until they are effectively
implemented. Best practices in integrity and rules of conduct are also followed at the Company, such as
the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters relating to the
Securities Market, the Sanctions and International Financial Countermeasures Policy, the Crime
Prevention Policy, the Personal Data Protection Policy and the Policy on the Use of Information Systems.
Criteria’s objective is to minimise the probability of these risks occurring and, if they do, to detect, report
and address the weaknesses promptly.
Regulatory risk is managed through the following structure:
•

The Audit and Control Committee: its functions include supervising compliance with the Internal
Rules of Conduct on Matters related to the Securities Market and other obligatory corporate
policies, codes and manuals, as well as, in general, applicable rules on corporate governance.

•

Management Committee: fosters a culture of compliance across the organisation and controls
and monitors regulatory compliance risk and the measures put in place to mitigate this risk.

•

Crime Prevention Committee: supervises the implementation of and compliance with the Crime
Prevention Policy.

•

Monitoring Committee of the Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters related to the Securities
Market: oversees compliance with the internal rules of conduct on matters related to the
securities market, including all related procedures and further rules and regulations.

•

Data Protection and Information Security Committee: oversees the coordination of and compliance
with the Data Protection Policy and steers and resolves key matters contained in the policy.

•

Business and management areas: the ultimate exponent of the top tier control of the Company’s
activity, establishing controls over these risks as experts in this area. Its main duties include:

•

o

Applying current regulations and identifying potential compliance risks by developing
and implementing mitigation measures.

o

Implementing appropriate first level controls to ensure compliance with the
aforementioned obligations.

Advisory functions: comprising the internal and external experts who advise on specialist areas.
These include Legal Advisory, the Board Secretary’s Office, external advisors, etc. The functions
here include:
o

Advising business and management areas on how to keep internal regulations up-todate with current law and regulations.

o

Interpreting laws and regulations.
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o

Providing knowledge and analysing current and planned regulations, while projecting
their likely impact on Criteria.

Regulatory compliance risk is not limited to any specific area, but rather the entire Company. All
employees must ensure compliance with prevailing regulations by applying procedures to make those
regulations part their activity.
In order to manage regulatory compliance risk, the management and governing bodies encourage the
dissemination and promotion of the values and principles set out in the Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics and other rules of conduct, and their members, as well as other employees, executives and officers
must ensure compliance with these as a core criteria guiding their day-to-day activities. Criteria also has
a confidential consulting and whistle-blowing channel set up on its corporate intranet, that can be used
to submit doubts and enquiries concerning the interpretation and application of the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, the Policy on the Use of Information Systems, the Crime Prevention Policy and the
Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) Policy, and also to report any breaches of those internal
rules.
Therefore, the areas whose business is exposed to compliance risk implement and manage level one
controls to detect potential non-compliance risks and act effectively to mitigate them. They must also
ensure that their procedures are at all times consistent with current legislation, regulatory standards and
codes of conduct and standards, putting in place mechanisms to prevent issues arising, detect trends and
understand new developments as they arise. Cooperation with advisory functions is therefore essential.
Third line of defence. Internal audit
The Internal Audit function, reporting to the Audit and Internal Control department, is responsible for
informing the Audit and Control Committee of the performance of the internal control system at the
Group.
Pursuant to the principles of independence and objectivity, and applying a systematic and disciplined
approach, Internal Audit performs assurance and consulting services that add value to the Group.
Its main duties include:
•

Assessing the effectiveness and efficiency of the internal control systems established to mitigate the
associated risks, with a special focus on:
o

compliance with prevailing external legislation and requirements of supervisors.

o

compliance with internal policies and regulations, and alignment with best sector practices
and uses.

o

the reliability and integrity of financial and operational information, including the
effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR).

o

the economical and efficient use of resources by the Group.

•

Adding value by proposing recommendations to address weaknesses detected in reviews conducted
and monitoring their implementation by the appropriate centres.

•

Reporting relevant information to Senior Management and the Audit and Control Committee on the
conclusion of tasks performed, weaknesses identified and recommendations made.
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20.1.

Financial risk management

The Company’s activities are exposed to the following financial risks:
-

Liquidity risk

-

Credit risk

-

Market risk

In addition, the Company’s corporate risk management model includes the following sub-categories of
financial risks:
-

Impairment of equity portfolio

-

Impairment of real estate assets

-

Impairment of other assets. This category includes tax assets, which the Company reviews every six
months by analysing their recoverable amount (see Note 15).

-

Reliability of financial reporting

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the possibility of a company not being able to meet its payment obligations
because it cannot sell a financial instrument sufficiently quickly without incurring significant additional
costs or requiring additional funding. The liquidity risk associated with the possibility of not converting
financial investments into cash is of little significance, as these investments are generally listed on deep,
active markets.
In the management of its liquidity, Criteria takes into account the generation of sustained and significant
cash flows by its businesses and investments, and the capacity to analyse its investments which, in
general, are listed on deep and active markets, maintaining an adequate long-term financing structure.
Criteria monitors liquidity risk by consistently monitoring management indicators: debt ratio (net debt
over the market value of the assets), liquidity available at certain terms, and the interest coverage ratio.
Of the Company’s total funding, 80% matures in the long term (see Note 13). The Company is continuing
efforts to diversify funding sources and manage the repayment terms of its debt and the associated cost.
Meanwhile, all funding arrangements due to mature in the short term are covered with current financial
assets (deposits and cash).
The maturities of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are presented in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.
At the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements, Criteria’s credit ratings are BBB,
outlook positive, from Fitch Ratings; and Baa2, stable outlook, from Moody’s.
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk of incurring losses through breach of contractual payment obligations by a
debtor or changes in the risk premium relating to the financial solvency of the debtor.
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The main credit risk relates to the investments in Group companies, associates and joint ventures, mainly
listed, and is not the same as the risk related to the market value of their shares. The risk in investments
of this nature is associated with the performance of the business of the investee, and the possible
bankruptcy thereof, since the market price of the shares is a mere indicator. In general, this risk can be
classified as a credit risk. Criteria’s Investments area monitors the results generated by Criteria’s holdings,
carries out regular impairment tests and analyses the corresponding returns for the Company.
Risk concentration according to the rating assigned to equity instruments at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, is as follows:
Thousands of euros

Investments in associates
(Note 7.2)

Available-for-sale
financial assets
(Note 8.1)

-

19,502

19,502

A+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBB<BBBNo rating

1,550,499
10,778,704
2,957,395
74,313

26,866
112,548
507,114
55,568
478,223
397,768
15,025
177,434

26,866
112,548
2,057,613
10,834,272
3,435,618
397,768
15,025
251,747

Balance at 31/12/2018

15,360,911

1,790,048

17,150,959

>A+

Total

Thousands of euros

Investments in associates
(Note 7.2)

Available-for-sale
financial assets
(Note 8.1)

Total

-

-

-

A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBNo rating

1,550,499
11,008,484
4,671,894
74,313

535,933
55,323
294,048
50,830

2,086,432
11,008,484
4,727,217
294,048
125,143

Balance at 31/12/2017

17,305,190

936,134

18,241,324

A+
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The following table shows risk concentration according to the rating assigned to fixed income instruments
at 31 December 2018 (at 31 December 2017 the Company had no exposure whatsoever).
Thousands of euros
Held-to-maturity
investments
(Note 8.2)
A+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBB<BBBNo rating
Balance at 31/12/2018

25,426
5,354
46,526
35,139
112,445

In preparing the information on risk concentration for credit quality, the rating of Fitch Ratings has been
used. In the absence of this rating, we have used the rating of Moody’s and, in the absence of any of the
above, the rating of Standard & Poor’s.
Credit risk also comes into play when the Company invests surplus cash. The Company has a policy of
investing surplus cash in highly liquid financial products, either offered by or held at solvent entities, or at
entities with respect to which it holds a net payable position.
Market risk
This refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in the price
of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates. Possible consequences of these risks are decreases in
equity and losses arising due to changes in market prices and/or losses on the medium to long term
positions composing the investment portfolio, rather than the trading portfolio.
Price risk
At 31 December 2018, 87% of the market value of the Company’s investments in equity instruments
related to listed securities. As a result, the Company is exposed to the market risk generally associated
with listed companies. The listed securities are exposed to fluctuations in price and trading volume due
to factors beyond the Company’s control.
Interest rate risk
This relates mainly to changes in borrowing costs on floating-rate debt. Therefore, the risk lies basically in
the Company’s indebtedness. As part of its ongoing efforts to manage interest rate risk, Criteria assesses
potential fluctuations in financial expenses stemming from exposure of derivatives and debt instruments
to changes in the structure of the market rate curve.
The market interest rate affects financial profit since certain financial liabilities are arranged at a floating
rate (tied to Euribor). Accordingly, there is considerable exposure to interest rate changes. The Company
regularly monitors the impact of interest rate fluctuations.
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In order to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in interest rates on floating rate borrowings, the Company’s
management evaluates whether or not to arrange swaps depending on current and forecast interest rates.
In that regard, the Company has entered into certain floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps (see Note 14).
The effect on profits, based on the instruments quoted at the reporting date, is shown below:
Thousands of euros
Effect on profit/(loss)
before tax

Variation
-50 bp
+50 bp
+100 bp

(13,511)
8,920
9,132

Foreign currency risk
The functional currency of the majority of the assets and liabilities recognised in the Company’s balance
sheet is the euro. The main balance sheet assets subject to exchange rate fluctuations are as follows:

Balance sheet heading

Assets

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

Thousands
of euros

Comments

The Bank of
East Asia

HKD

1,550,499

See Note 7

GF Inbursa

MXN

881,944

See Note 7

USD

19,502

See Note 8.1

DKK

11,263

See Note 8.1

GBP

3,334

See Note 8.1

Currency

Thousands
of euros

Comments

11,232

See Note 15

Listed
equity
securities

Financial investments - Equity
instruments

Currency

–

Balance sheet heading

Liabilities

Other accounts payable to public
administrations

Tax liabilities

CLP

Management regularly assesses the desirability of arranging hedges to cover its foreign exchange risks.
The Company may also be indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk through the foreign currency
investments made by investees due, in certain cases, to the major international presence of these
companies. These risks are assessed and, if applicable, covered by the investee itself.
Impairment risk (of stakes, real estate assets and other assets)
For Criteria, impairment of investees is the main risk in its business model, which is natural in a company
whose corporate purpose is to hold stakes. This impairment risk derives from Criteria’s business activities
suffering losses or a decline in earnings caused by adverse movements in market prices or investee
insolvency made through equity instruments.
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Therefore, the investment area monitors these holdings on an ongoing case-by-case basis to be able, at
any time, to take the most appropriate decisions on the basis of the market performance observed and
predicted and of the Company’s strategy. Also, the securities undergo continuous monitoring in order to
assess whether there is any objective evidence of impairment, as described in Note 7.
Monitoring of the main investees is also performed by analysts responsible for monitoring changes in
economic and financial data and for understanding and issuing alerts in the event of changes in regulations
and business and fluctuations in competition in the countries and sectors in which the investees operate.
Further, to ensure that the recoverable amount of the portfolio of real estate assets supports carrying
amount, the Company uses internal models for each of the asset segments of real estate assets defined
to determine the adjustments to the main valuation given by full individual appraisals or to appraisals by
independent experts carried out periodically. Specifically, the internal valuation model adjusts appraisals
primarily taking into account the difference between the real sale price of the assets and their appraisal
value, for those properties sold by the Company in the last 24 months, in addition to other factors such
as marketing costs and the future rental performance of certain assets, if the property is leased.
Real estate assets are managed in order to recover the capital invested and to obtain additional an
additional return, either by way of renting (investment property), real estate development or selling
(inventories).
Risk associated with financial reporting reliability
This refers to the risk posed to the integrity, reliability and quality of financial information. As described
beforehand, the Group has a suitable and effective Internal Control over Financial Reporting System.
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21. Segment reporting
The following table provides a breakdown, by business line and region, of the Company’s revenue from
normal operations in 2018 and 2017.
Thousands of euros
Business segment

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Industrial and services companies portfolio

957,053

488,903

Banking portfolio
Real estate assets management
Holding activity

359,474
103,041
370

324,539
31,020
6,215

1,419,938

850,677

Revenue

Thousands of euros
Geographical area
Spain

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

1,396,184

815,485

European Union

23,754

21,683

OECD countries

-

-

Other countries

-

13,509

1,419,938

850,677

Revenue
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22. Events after the reporting period
The sole shareholder, at a meeting held on 14 January 2019, resolved to distribute a dividend of
EUR 50,000 thousand against other reserves. This dividend was paid to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation on
18 February 2019.
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APPENDIX I: INVESTMENTS IN GROUP COMPANIES
Thousands of euros

Company name and line of business

Registered office

Interest (%)
Direct
Total

Reserves and
interim
dividend

Share
capital

Other
equity

Profit/(Loss)

Dividends
accrued in
from
the direct
stake

Total
equity

Net carrying
amount
of the direct
stake

Impairment
on the direct
stake

Share price Average share price
31/12/2017 last quarter 2017

Caixa Assistance, SA
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(50)

-

-

10

-

-

12

-

-

Caixa Capital Micro II, FCR
Venture capital fund

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

34.72

56.80

10,109

(3,262)

693

-

7,540

-

892

2,618

-

-

Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, SA
Venture capital management company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

99.99

100.00

1,000

4,061

(224)

-

4,837

-

-

4,200

-

-

Caixa Capital TIC II, FCR
Venture capital fund

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

0.00

53.53

16,990

(4,701)

(1,029)

-

11,260

-

-

-

-

-

Caixa Innvierte BioMed II, FCR
Venture capital fund

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

0.00

45.29

33,867

(9,530)

(733)

-

23,604

-

-

-

-

-

Caixa Innvierte Industria, SCR, SA
Venture capital company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

0.00

46.57

21,708

916

(1,717)

-

20,907

-

-

-

-

-

Caixa Innvierte Start, FCR
Venture capital fund

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

0.00

41.71

15,237

(1,214)

(1,407)

-

12,616

-

-

-

-

-

Caixa Podium I, SA
Non-financial entity

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(50)

30

-

40

-

-

11

-

-

Club Caixa I, SA
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(50)

-

-

10

-

-

12

-

-

Criteria Industrial Ventures, S.A.
Investment in companies from the industrial sector

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

0.00

100.00

1,000

3,000

(53)

-

3,947

-

-

-

-

Criteria Movilidad, S.L.
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

30,700

273,940

(16)

-

304,624

-

-

304,640

-

-

Criteria Venture Capital SICC, SA
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

20,250

38,204

(3,069)

-

55,385

-

13,492

55,385

-

-
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Thousands of euros

Company name and line of business

Registered office

Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.
Acquisition of land and urban

C/. Constitució, Salita Parc D
Parròquia d'Escaldes-Engordany

development

Andorra

Energía Boreal 2018, S.A.
Holding company

Paseo de la Castellana, 51

GrupCaixa, S.A.
Investment management

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028 Barcelona

Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento I
Management and administration of homes under lease

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195

Inmo Criteria Arrendamiento II
Management and administration of homes under lease

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195

Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.
Housing development, including state-sponsored housing

Interest (%)
Direct
Total

Reserves and
interim
dividend

Share
capital

Other
equity

Profit/(Loss)

Dividends
accrued in
from
the direct
stake

Total
equity

Net carrying
amount
of the direct
stake

Impairment
on the direct
stake

0.00

100.00

73,106

84,121

2,499

-

159,726

-

-

-

71.95

71.95

120,000

1,019,468

22,494

-

1,161,962

16,166

-

521,048

100.00

100.00

60

(17)

-

-

43

-

-

42

0.00

100.00

26,838

(138,008)

1,458

393,065

283,353

-

-

-

0.00

100.00

3

(66,674)

1,640

148,955

83,924

-

-

-

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195
08013 Barcelona

100.00

100.00

540,980

576,449

15,234

16,800

1,149,463

-

-

1,134,844

Inmo Criteria Patrimonio, S.L.
Development, construction, restoration and maintenance of
real estate assets and their operation under leases and
rentals

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195
08013 Barcelona

0.00

100.00

40,917

80,191

(99)

-

121,009

-

-

-

Lumine Travel, S.A.U.
Travel agency

Hipólito Lázaro s/n
43481 La Pineda (Vila-Seca)

0.00

100.00

60

158

146

-

364

-

-

-

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.
Hipólito Lázaro
Urban management and administration of the enclosed areas 43481 La Pineda (Vila-Seca)
Tarragona
of the theme park

100.00

100.00

105,824

208,033

(2,271)

-

311,586

-

-

336,931

Av. del Parc Logístic, 22-26
08040 Barcelona

0.00

99.50

73,904

217,851

11,079

108,103

410,937

138,486

-

-

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195
08013 Barcelona

0.00

100.00

190,379

34,309

4,514

15,897

245,099

-

-

-

Saba Infraestructuras, S.A.
Construction and operation of transport, mobility, parking,
logistics and communications infrastructure
Vivienda Asequible Arrendamiento y Servicios
Management of state-sponsored housing

28046 Madrid

08013 Barcelona

08013 Barcelona

Note: the information corresponding to non-listed companies is based on the most recent data available (actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of the notes to the financial statements.
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APPENDIX II: INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Thousands of euros
Except the components of the Total Equity of Grupo Financiero Inbursa and The Bank of East Asia in millions of local currency (Mexican peso and Hong Kong dollar, respectively).

Company name and line of business

Interest (%)
Direct
Total

Registered office

CaixaBank, S.A. (C)
Banking

C/. Pintor Sorolla, 2-4
46002

Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV (C) (G) (2)
Banking

Paseo de las Palmas, 736
11000
Lomas de Chapultepec
Mexico D.F.

Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. (C)
Gas and electricity business

Avda. San Luis, 77
28033
Madrid

The Bank of East Asia, LTD (C) (1)
Banking

10, des Voeux rd.
Hong Kong
China

Vithas Sanidad, S.L.
Health establishments and healthcare
companies

Arturo Soria, 107
28043
Madrid

Share
capital

Reserves and
interim
dividends

Profit/(Loss)

Total
equity

Carrying
amount of the
direct
stake

Share price Average share price
31/12/2018 last quarter 2018

40,00

40,00

5.981.438

16.860.628

1.984.647

(768.268)

24.058.445

358.881

9.896.759

3,16

3,56

9,10

9,10

27.378

104.775

17.100

(852)

148.401

12.893

881.944

1,26

1,23

20,42

24,02

1.000.689

14.043.683

(2.821.320)

2.371.932

14.594.984

346.807

2.957.396

22,26

22,54

17,59

17,59

39.925

44.390

6.509

12.751

103.575

-

1.550.499

2,78

2,91

20,00

20,00

24.438

187.705

17.384

60.043

289.571

-

74.313

-

-

Valencia

Madrid

Madrid

(C) Listed companies. Latest publicly-available data at the date of preparation of the notes to these financial statements.
(G) Data published as per Mexican GAAP.
Note: the information corresponding to non-listed companies is based on the most recent data available (actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of the notes to these financial statements.
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1. GROUP STRUCTURE
1.1. Group structure
Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. (hereinafter, Criteria or CriteriaCaixa) is an investment holding company whose sole
shareholder is Fundación Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona ”la Caixa” (hereinafter, ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation, the Foundation, or ”la Caixa”).
”la Caixa”, founded in 1904, is Spain’s largest private foundation, the second largest in Europe and indeed
one of the largest in the world. It is firmly committed to improving the present and future lives of people
and operates in two key areas:

”la Caixa” Foundation
”la Caixa” directly manages its Welfare Projects. For over 110 years, it has been championing worthy
causes in the realms of society, research, education, culture and science, focusing on three core values:
social commitment, trust and excellence.
In 2018, ”la Caixa” rolled out some 50,000 activities, benefiting 14.9 million people worldwide, with
11.4 million of them living in Spain.
Over the last 10 years, it has managed a budget in excess of EUR 5,000 million. The budget approved for
2019 comes to EUR 545 million (EUR 520 million in 2018).

Asset management
Criteria is the holding company that manages the Group’s corporate assets, with the dual mission of:


Generating the funds needed to finance the Welfare Projects undertaken by ”la Caixa”



Preserving and growing the Foundation’s assets by creating value

Criteria manages a portfolio of stakes in strategic sectors, including banking, energy, services and real
estate, which generate recurring cash flows.

At 31 December 2018, the Gross Asset Value (GAV) managed by Criteria amounted to EUR 22,746 million.
Deducting gross debt, its Net Asset Value (NAV) totalled EUR 17,511 million. The Group’s structure is as
follows:
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”la Caixa” Banking Foundation

100%
GAV: EUR 22,746 Mn

NAV: EUR 17,511 Mn

INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICES
PORTFOLIO
EUR 8,012 Mn

BANKING PORTFOLIO
EUR 9,755 Mn

REAL ESTATE
BUSINESS
EUR 2,739 Mn

40,0%

24,0%

99,5%

17,6%

6,0%

1,2%

9,1%

6,0%

-

OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS
EUR 2,240 Mn

OTHER STAKES

1.2 Investment policy and financial policy
Investment policy
Criteria pursues an investment philosophy based on value creation, with a quality portfolio that is well
diversified (across sectors, names, regions and asset classes), largely stable and ensures dividends or
recurring returns. Criteria invests in leading companies in their respective markets, while abiding by sound
financial discipline and socially responsible investment principles.
At present, a substantial portion of Criteria’s portfolio comprises significant stakes in world-renowned
companies (mainly CaixaBank, Naturgy, The Bank of East Asia, and Grupo Financiero Inbursa), at which it
exercises significant influence, though not outright control, by holding seats on their governance bodies.
Meanwhile, with the aim of achieving greater portfolio diversification and following the sale of its stake
in Abertis, Criteria initiated a new investment process in 2018 that saw it adding new names, regions and
sectors to its portfolio. These investments are mainly in listed companies operating within Europe with
potential for growth and/or dividend yield, but without any presence on their governance bodies, thus
ensuring the generation of liquidity while allowing for more flexible management of the portfolio.
Criteria’s investment principles can be summarised as follows:

Diversified portfolio across names and geographical regions

Investments in leading companies with recurring and predictable
dividends and/or upside potential
Guaranteed to generate liquidity

Active management of investees at which Criteria owns a significant stake
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Financial policy
The key features of Criteria’s financial policy are as follows:


Commitment to maintaining an investment grade credit rating at all times.



Maintaining moderate debt levels that are sustainable in the mid/long run (with a leverage ratio
of below 20%).



Predominantly long-term debt maturity profile.



Diversified sources of funding to mitigate funding risk and ensure the availability of committed
credit facilities so as to maintain high levels of liquidity at all times.



Stable financial expenses, with a significant proportion of debt to be arranged at fixed interest
rates.

These policies (investment and funding), together with the composition of the portfolio, continue to allow
Criteria to fulfil its mission with ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation.

1.3. Regulatory framework
The current regulatory framework accurately depicts Criteria’s status as a company wholly owned by a
banking foundation.
Banking foundations are governed by Law 26/2013, on savings institutions and banking foundations, as
implemented through Royal Decree 877/2015 and Bank of Spain (BoS) Circulars 6/2015 and 7/2016.
This law dictates that the BoS and the Ministry of the Economy are to supervise the various types of
banking foundation, depending on the percentage of control they exercise over their respective financial
institutions. The higher the percentage of ownership or control (whether direct or indirect) over the
financial investees in question is, the greater the regulatory requirements are.
Meanwhile, the Governing Council of the European Central Bank (ECB), having already confirmed the loss
of control by Criteria over CaixaBank, delivered a decision on 26 September 2017 pursuant to which
Criteria is no longer under its supervision, and the new responsible group is that headed by CaixaBank.
The main advantages for Criteria of this decision by the ECB are as follows:


Criteria is no longer considered a mixed financial holding company within the meaning of
Regulation (EU) 575/2013 and the responsible entity of a financial conglomerate. It is therefore
no longer required to comply with the regulatory capital requirements set out in that Regulation
(including CET1, Tier1, Tier2 and Capital Total ratios), thus making the Group considerably less
complex.



As the Single Resolution Board considers that the scope of resolution lies at the CaixaBank
consolidated level, Criteria no longer has to commit the Foundation’s assets in the event of a
possible stress scenario at CaixaBank.

Since the loss of control, the regulatory framework has become significantly less complex for Criteria,
reflecting its status as a holding company. The regulatory requirements for the Foundation are (with the
competent supervisory entity appearing in brackets):


Annual Report on Corporate Governance (Ministry of the Economy)



Requirement to draw up and/or ratify a protocol for managing the bank investee (BoS)



Requirement to draw up a basic annual financial plan (BoS)
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2. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS
2.1. Macroeconomic scenario in 2018
Global and market trends
Global GDP grew at around 3.7% in 2018, revealing a slight slowdown of one tenth on the growth rate
reported in 2017. This effectively confirms the global cyclical cooling that many analysts were already
predicting at the start of the year, but which has now become a reality due to the downturn in financial
conditions, rising trade tensions (NAFTA and China-US dispute) and lingering doubts over China’s
economic outlook. However, despite this cooldown, it is worth noting that global growth looking forward
retains the traits that characterised it throughout 2018. The first of these is that we are still experiencing
global growth, although at a lower pace. The second is that the economic powerhouses are still
performing well in the face of this gentle slowdown. Last but not least, the macroeconomic climate
remains healthy, in the sense that macroeconomic imbalances (current account deficits, public deficits,
etc.) are moving in roughly the right direction.
Among the advanced economies, the United States outperformed by gaining 2.9% in 2018, confirming
that it has reached a mature expansionary phase of the economic cycle. The country’s economy has now
been expanding for nearly ten straight years and currently boasts full employment and a steady increase
in wages. Considering how mature the cycle already is, the prognosis in early 2018 was a gentle growth
slowdown as we move through 2019. However, a widespread risk-off episode struck the global markets
late in the fourth quarter of 2018, caused mainly by fears of an imminent recession in the United States
and fuelled by the lingering uncertainty that still surrounds a number of hugely significant issues on a
global scale, such as a trade war between the US and China, which are currently at an impasse. The sharp
increase in risk aversion was felt across virtually all classes of financial asset: prices of risk assets (stock
markets and corporate bonds) plummeted; yields on sovereign debt considered safe dropped sharply and
other assets, including oil, all saw their prices drop heavily. This episode of volatility, plus the fact that
there is no evidence of any strong upward pressure on inflation, suggests that the US Federal Reserve
(Fed) will continue to gradually raise its reference interest rate in 2019, though if necessary the Fed may
take a step back to take stock of the situation.
In China, the authorities are continuing to successfully plot out a soft landing for the economy, while
transforming the country’s productive model and model of demand. China closed 2018 with GDP growth
of 6.6%, three tenths less than in 2017, on the back of the government’s fiscal stimulus measures, which
managed to counter some of the fallout of the trade spat with the United States. While it is true that the
risk of a hard landing now appears to be under control, we would be wise to keep a close eye on the
country due to the ongoing tensions with the United States, doubts concerning the Chinese banking sector
and the high indebtedness of local governments.
Other emerging countries turned in a positive performance in 2018, although the year was not immune
from the occasional shock that mercifully did not spread to other countries. On a positive note, Brazil
gained 1.3% in a year that witnessed a major transport strike and political upheaval. That said, and as with
certain other emerging countries such as Turkey and South Africa, Brasil continues to show significant
macroeconomic imbalances that are making it more vulnerable to external influences. Argentina closed
out 2018 with its GDP down 2.4%. However, the government has taken a number of important steps
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forward, notably the signing of the Stand-By Arrangement with the IMF, which should allow it to stabilise
inflation, reduce financial uncertainty and strengthen economic and social governance within the country.
On a global scale, oil prices fell by 30% in the last three months of 2018. This major price correction was
down to a combination of factors, including increased production by the OPEC, a sharp increase in shale
oil production in the United States and a somewhat gloomy outlook for demand in 2019. In late December,
Brent oil prices hit 50 dollars per barrel, its lowest since September 2017.
Turning to prices, 2018 was conspicuously free from global inflationary pressures. Headline inflation
remained moderate. While the increase in oil prices through to June placed some pressure on inflation,
the situation was kept in check and then reversed in the latter half of the year. Meanwhile, core inflation
–which excludes oil and food prices– remained well short of the targets set by the monetary authorities.
In the United States, core inflation came to 2.1% in the year, while in the euro area it remained flat at
around 1.0%, the same as in previous years.
With inflation under control, the Fed pressed on with its monetary normalisation process and hiked its
official interest rate to 2.25%-2.50%, in a move that investors had been expecting. The steps taken by the
Fed are consistent with the message it has been conveying to the markets, meaning gentle increases in
official rates and a steady reduction in its bond portfolio so as to ensure that monetary conditions remain
lax. Meanwhile, the European Central Bank (ECB) ended its bond purchasing programme on 31 December,
marking the first step towards a gradual normalisation of monetary policy. The Bank of Canada and the
Bank of England have already started to raise their official interest rates, albeit with much caution. The
other major central banks of the world chose to maintain their ultra lax monetary policy, meaning financial
conditions across the globe remained accommodative throughout 2018.

Performance in the euro area and Spain
On the political stage, 2018 was a troublesome year for the euro area. In the early summer, the formation
of an anti-European coalition government in Italy caused an escalation in political tensions. The coalition
government, comprising Matteo Salvini (Northern League) and Luigi Di Maio (Five Star Movement),
wasted no time in coming to blows with the European Commission on matters relating to budgets and
fiscal deficit targets. Virtually coinciding with this, the no-confidence motion filed by the PSOE was passed
in Spain, thus ousting Mariano Rajoy and enabling Pedro Sánchez to take the reigns as Prime Minister on
2 June 2018.
Meanwhile, much of the political agenda on both sides of the English Channel has been taken up with the
matter of Brexit. Following lengthy negotiations, the United Kingdom and the European Commission
reached a provisional agreement on 13 November, which then had to be approved by the UK Parliament.
In late 2018, Theresa May put back the vote to 15 January 2019, only to see her deal rejected when the
time came. Regrettably, confusion and tensions persist, though the most desirable outcome is that the
European Union and the United Kingdom will eventually be able to close a deal, allowing both sides to
maintain their economic, social and political ties.
Despite the turbulent political landscape, euro area GDP managed to grow by 1.8% in 2018, 0.7 pp less
than in 2017 and 0.4 pp less than expected at the start of the year. In the first half of the year, regional
growth progressed solidly as a whole, albeit with uneven performances between countries (Germany
solid, Spain good, France and Italy lagging behind). In the latter half of the year, however, the slowdown
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began to cause some alarm, due mainly to a number of idiosyncratic factors: Germany was troubled by
the automotive industry and the impact of the new emissions regulations; Italy was hit by political
uncertainty; France was struggling to cope with yellow vest protests; and Spain, although to a lesser
extent, had to navigate some political tension and its government has little sway in parliament. Against
this backdrop, and while the European Central Bank has acknowledged that risks may be undervalued in
the short run, it is important that growth within the euro area keeps gaining self-sustainability, meaning
that it can be more resilient without the need for so much monetary stimulus.
Spain, for its part, has once again outperformed within the euro area. Economic growth in the year came
to 2.5% (3.1% in 2017). This growth slowdown is largely down to the negative contribution made by the
external sector to GDP growth, while domestic demand, supported by solid growth in both investment
and consumption, performed exceedingly well. The labour market fared particularly well, with job
creation reaching its highest level of the last twelve years (a total of 566,000 jobs were created, up 2.7%
on 2017), bringing the unemployment rate down to 14.4% in Q4 2018 (16.5% in Q4 2017). Employment
growth, coupled with lax financial conditions, triggered a recovery in disposable income while supporting
consumption and keeping the deleveraging process firmly on track. On the downside, the parliamentary
weakness of the Spanish government and territorial tensions (Catalonia) had a marginal impact in 2018.
Growth in public consumption remained under control in 2018, providing some support for economic
growth, but without harming the ongoing process of reducing debt, which stands at around 97% of GDP
(98.1% in 2017). Meanwhile, public finances saw further improvements in the period. In 2018, Spain
achieved its objective of bringing the public deficit to 2.7% of GDP, a figure agreed upon with the European
Commission.

8

2.2. Net Asset Value
This section discusses Criteria’s key financial figures, relating mainly to investment and debt under
Criteria’s management perimeter. Such key figures have been defined in the Appendix - Alternative
Performance Measures.
Criteria’s Gross Asset Value, Gross and net debt, and Net Asset Value at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were
as follows:
Millones de euros
(A) Gross asset value (GAV)

12/31/2018

31/12/2017 (1) Variación

22,746

25,001

-9.0%

of which:
(A.1) listed assets (equities and fixed income)

16,926

20,852

-18.8%

(A.2) cash and cash equivalents

1,381

689

100.4%

% cash and cash equivalents plus listed assets to GAV

80.5%

86.2%

-5.7 pp

(B) Gross debt

(5,235)

(6,309)

-17.0%

(C) Net debt [B - A.2]

(3,854)

(5,620)

-31.4%

Net asset value (NAV) [A - B]

17,511

18,692

-6.3%

Gross Loan-to-Value (Gross LTV) [-B / A]

23.0%

25.2%

-2.2 pp

Net Loan-to-Value (Net LTV) [C / (A-A.2)]

18.0%

23.1%

-5.1 pp

(1) Figures for 2017 are presented pro-forma to show the following changes in rules and criteria to have
occurred in 2018: (i) The heading Cash and cash equivalents now counts towards GAV; (ii) Change in the criteria
for measuring Saba from net carrying amount to market value, as per the terms of the agreement to acquire
49% of Saba Infraestructuras from Torreal, KKR, and ProA Capital in July 2018, and after deducting the dividends
paid out against share premium following the acquisition. (iii) Change in the criteria for calculating cash and
cash equivalents, which now include fewer items of working capital (see Appendix on Alternative Performance
Measures) to remove those considered immaterial.

Gross Asset Value (GAV)
At 31 December 2018, GAV amounted to EUR 22,746 million, comprising 73.9% in listed equity securities
(banking and industrial/services sectors), 12.0% in the real estate business, 4.2% in non-listed equity
securities, 3.8% in fixed income and other securities, and the remaining 6.1% in cash and cash equivalents.
This GAV breakdown effectively shows the high liquidity of the portfolio, given that 80.5% of the total is
invested in listed assets (equities and fixed income) and cash and cash equivalents.
In relation to listed equity securities, of particular note are the EUR 9,755 million in the banking portfolio,
accounting for 42.9% of GAV and mainly comprising stakes in the share capital of CaixaBank (40.0%), The
Bank of East Asia (17.6%) and Grupo Financiero Inbursa (9.1%). Meanwhile, the portfolio of stakes in listed
industrial/services companies comes to EUR 7,058 million, representing 31.0% of GAV and including, most
notably, the stakes in Naturgy (24.0%), Suez (6.0%), Cellnex (6.0%) and Telefónica (1.2%). This portfolio of
listed equity securities possesses a high credit rating, with an average of BBB.
The real estate business, which includes real estate assets with a combined carrying amount of EUR 2,739
million, is segmented by asset type and by the strategy pursued with each such type. This business has
continued to generate positive cash flows year after year thanks to the proceeds obtained from the sale
of assets, the returns obtained on rentals of real estate assets and the decision to insource the
management of the portfolio.
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Meanwhile, the portfolio of non-listed equity securities stands at EUR 953 million, including most notably
the stake of 99.50% in Saba Infraestructuras. Other minority stakes or businesses featured in this section
include a 20% stake in Vithas Sanidad, a 15% stake in Aigües de Barcelona and the entire private equity
business, which the Group operates through management companies Caixa Capital Risc and Criteria
Venture Capital, both wholly owned by Criteria.

Fixed income and others

€0.8 Bn

Cash and cash
equivalents

€1.4 Bn

Real Estate Business

€2.7 Bn
Non-Listed
Equity Securities
(Industrial)

€1.0 Bn

Listed Equity Securities
(Banking)
BBB/Baa2/-

€9.8 Bn

Cash + Listed
80%

Listed
Equity Securities
(Industrial)

€7.1 Bn

Highlights in relation to GAV were as follows in 2018:

a)

Divestments in listed equity securities:

Abertis
The takeover bid launched by Hochtief for the shares in Abertis was completed on 16 May. Following
acceptance of the bid, Criteria received an attributable amount of EUR 3,354 million from the sale of its
entire stake of 18.4% in Abertis (held directly and indirectly) (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements for 2018).
Naturgy
In September, Criteria sold 4,200,000 shares, representing 0.42% of the share capital of Naturgy, for a
total of EUR 99 million (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for 2018).
b) Investments in listed and non-listed equity securities:
In 2018, Criteria invested a total of EUR 1,357 million in listed companies (77%) and non-listed companies
(23%). This investment has allowed Criteria to welcome 25 new names to the portfolio, most of which tick
the following boxes: high dividend yield (average of 4.5%), high credit quality and based in both Europe
and the United States.
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The most significant investments are as follows:
Telefónica
Criteria acquired a total of 52,826,318 shares, representing 1.02% of the share capital of Telefónica, at a
cost of EUR 408 million (see Note 8 to Criteria’s separate financial statements for 2018), bringing its stake
in Telefónica to 1.15%.
Saba Infraestructuras
As explained in Note 7 to the accompanying separate financial statements, in July 2018 Criteria acquired
a 48.7% stake in Saba from Torreal, KKR and ProA in exchange for EUR 438 million.
In September, Saba’s general meeting approved a distribution of share premium amounting to EUR 130
million (EUR 128 million attributable to Criteria).
In November, Criteria acquired an additional 0.7% of Saba from non-controlling shareholders in exchange
for EUR 5 million.
Therefore, following a total investment, net of distributions of share premium, of EUR 315 million,
Criteria’s percentage in Saba stood at 99.50% at year-end 2018. The company’s market value is EUR 766
million (based on the value of the July transaction less the allotment of share premium carried out in
September).
The following table shows the distribution, by sector, of the EUR 1,357 million invested in 2018, clearly
revealing an improved degree of diversification.

Energy, utilities and capital goods

Financial services
Health
Consumer
11%

3%2%

2%
1%
Other

Infrastructure
37%

Automotive

12%

EUR 1,357 Mn

32%
Telecoms and technology

11

c)

Investments in fixed income and other:

This portfolio mainly includes the following concepts at 31 December 2018:


A payment of EUR 544 million on account of corporate income tax in October, which was largely
down to capital gain generated from the sale of all the shares held in Abertis. This amount is
expected to be recovered in the first half of 2020.



A loan of EUR 157 million granted to Saba Infraestructuras, accruing interest at the 6M Euribor
rate (floor 0%) + 2.80% and maturing in December 2019.



A fixed-income portfolio comprising a total of EUR 112 million in sovereign and corporate bonds
from European issuers.

d) Cash and cash equivalents:
Following the divestment of Abertis, the proper management of excess liquidity was a key concern in the
year, given the prevailing climate of rock-bottom interest rates (ECB deposit facility at -0.40%).
Criteria has gone to great lengths to find products and financial institutions at which it can invest or hold
its excess liquidity without incurring costs in the process, with regard to two key premises enshrined in
Criteria’s Financial Policy:


Fund availability/liquidity to be able to support the new investments undertaken in 2018 and
early 2019, and also to cover the maturity of a senior bond issue worth EUR 1,000 million in May
2019.



Counterparty credit quality.

At 31 December 2018, the balance of this heading was EUR 1,381 million, comprising EUR 600 million in
short-term deposits at financial institutions and the remainder held in demand current accounts, all
paying a nominal rate of interest of between 0% and 0.10% and all held at counterparties with an
investment grade credit rating.

e) Change in value:
Criteria’s main listed investees turned in a mixed bag of results in 2018. While Naturgy’s share price rose
by 15.6%, CaixaBank’s share price fell by 18.6% due to the complex climate (low interest rates, court
judgment on Spanish stamp duty, etc.), although in relative terms it managed to outperform the Euro
Stoxx Banks (-33.3%).
Criteria’s NAV, despite sliding 6.3% in the year, still outperformed the IBEX-35, which dipped 15.0%.
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Gross debt
Following the financial policy described above and after receiving a total of EUR 3,354 million from the
sale of its entire stake in Abertis, Criteria undertook the following liability management transactions in
2018 with the aim of further reducing levels of gross debt to EUR 5,235 million, extending the average life
of its loans and thus optimising financial expenses:


Prepayment of EUR 1,060 million in bilateral loans.



Successful renegotiation of the financial terms and conditions of bilateral loans for a total
nominal amount of EUR 1,285 million, effectively lowering the average finance cost by 15 basis
points while extending the average life by 1.5 years to bring the average maturity to 4.9 years.



Repurchase via the market of EUR 41 million in own bonds: EUR 28 million on the bond maturing
in May 2019 and EUR 13 million on the bond maturing in May 2023.



Increase of EUR 77 million in the balance of the back-up credit facilities to improve Criteria’s
financial flexibility, bringing the total undrawn committed balance of all credit facilities to
EUR 452 million.



Arranging interest rate hedges (fixed rate) for the sum of EUR 100 million, starting in 2021 and
ending 2026.

All this has led to:


Lengthening of the average life of debt, with bilateral loans continuing to account for 48% of the
total.



Reduction of EUR 37 million in financial expenses (down 0.2 pp on 2017).



High proportion of debt instruments bearing fixed coupon or with fixed interest rate swap
agreements in place (81% of gross debt at 31 December 2018 vs. 78% at 31 December 2017).



Broad pool of financing banks, comprising 17 financial institutions (seven Spanish and 10
international).



Increased resilience for Criteria in the event of liquidity crunches.

The following diagram provides a picture of gross debt by maturity at 31 December 2018 (in millions of
euros).
Senior Bonds

Bilateral Loans

Cash and Cash equivalents

Undrawn facilities

1.401

Debt with CaixaBank

2

452
3
180

5
32
1,381
972

Liquidez a
31/12/2018

2019

4
267

3
118

2020

2021

1,000

2022

1,128
1
737
2023

13

452

319

2024

≥2025

Note: debt with CaixaBank (EUR 31 million) relates to subsidised mortgages related to accessible housing schemes.
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Criteria’s liquidity position (cash and cash equivalents plus undrawn facilities) was a particular highlight at
31 December 2018, providing it with sufficient liquidity to comfortably meet its scheduled maturities in
2019 as they fall due, while also proving enough, in an extreme scenario, to cover all maturities through
to 2021.
Of its total maturities, 73% fall due from 2022 onward, while a total of EUR 650 million of the bilateral
loans maturing in 2023 come with a one-year extension option.

Leverage ratio (LTV):
Criteria has been carrying out an ongoing process of debt deleveraging in recent years. This has allowed
it to bring its net leverage ratio to below 20%, in line with the medium- and long-term objectives set out
in the Financial Policy, in which the leverage ratio is a core concern.
Net LTV
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2000
1000
0

40.0

6,909

35.0

5,620

31.7%

3,854

23.1%

25.0

18.0%
2016

2017
Net Debt

30.0

2018

20.0
15.0

Net LTV

Gross LTV
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7000
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5000
4000
3000
2000
1000
0

8,768
37.1%

40.0
35.0

6,309
5,235

30.0
25.0

25.2%

2016

23.0%

2017
Gross Debt

2018

20.0
15.0

Gross LTV
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2.3. Business results
Criteria’s individual income statement, for management purposes:

Millions of euros (€M)
Banking portfolio dividends
CaixaBank
Grupo Financiero Inbursa
Others

Industrial portfolio dividends
Naturgy
Abertis
Suez
Other

Management of real estate assets
Structural costs
Operating income
Financial result

2018

2017

Change (%)

360

325

11%

359
1

311
14
-

15%
-

447

409

9%

340
79
24
4

245
137
22
5

39%
-42%
10%
-20%

11

(59)

-

(34)

(33)

3%

784

642

22%

(107)

(143)

-25%

Gains/(losses) on sales and others

28

94

-71%

Profit/(loss) before tax

705

593

Corporate income tax
Recurring net profit/(loss)
Extraordinary profit/(loss)
Net profit/(loss)

(34)
671
1,889
2,559

17
610
(249)
361

19%
10%
-

Dividends from the banking portfolio
CaixaBank
In 2018, CaixaBank paid cash dividends amounting to EUR 0.15/share, compared with EUR 0.13/share,
also in cash, in 2017. Criteria reported dividend income of EUR 359 million, up 15.4% on the EUR 311
million recognised in the previous year.
Grupo Financiero Inbursa (GFI)
In 2018, Criteria reported no dividends at GFI on the statement of profit and loss. It received a cash
dividend of EUR 12 million, equivalent to 0.48 Mexican pesos per share (EUR 0.021/share). Since the
dividend was paid out against the profits of GFI generated in years before Criteria acquired its stake in the
Mexican company, the dividend was reported against the cost of the investment.
In 2017, Criteria reported a total of EUR 14 million in dividend income from GFI, equivalent to 0.46
Mexican pesos per share (EUR 0.022 per share at the prevailing exchange rate), of which 26% was received
in cash and 74% in shares. In that year, the entire dividend was reported on the statement of profit and
loss for the year.
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The Bank of East Asia (BEA)
In 2018 and 2017, no dividend income was reported in the accounts from Criteria’s stake in BEA since it
received the dividend in shares. The dividends received in shares from BEA in 2018 had an equivalent cash
value of EUR 57 million, on the basis of 1.11 Hong Kong dollars per share (EUR 0.117 per share). In 2017,
Criteria received dividends in shares amounting to 0.96 Hong Kong Dollars per share (EUR 0.107/share),
equivalent to EUR 50 million.

Dividends from the industrial portfolio
Naturgy
In 2018, Naturgy paid out dividends amounting to EUR 1.40/share, compared with the EUR 1 per share
paid out in 2017. Criteria reported total dividend income of EUR 340 million. Of this amount, EUR 324
million was received directly from Naturgy, while the remaining EUR 16 million was received indirectly
through Energía Boreal 2018, S.A., a company to which Criteria contributed 36 million Naturgy shares in
September 2018.
In 2017, Criteria reported dividend income from Naturgy of EUR 245 million.
Abertis
Over the part of 2018 in which Criteria continued to hold shares in Abertis directly or indirectly (through
to the takeover completed in May), Abertis paid out dividends totalling EUR 0.40/share, compared with
the EUR 0.77/share paid out over the course of 2017. Criteria reported income from dividends received
directly or indirectly (in the latter case through Inversiones Autopistas, S.A., at which Criteria owned a
55.5% stake at 31 December 2017) of EUR 79 million (EUR 137 million reported in 2017).
Suez
In 2018 and 2017, Suez distributed a dividend of EUR 0.65 per share. This return generated income at
Criteria of EUR 24 million in 2018 and of EUR 22 million in 2017. The difference here is down to the fact
that a higher number of shares were held as treasury instruments.
Other
In 2018, the EUR 4 million related mainly to the dividends received from Aigües de Barcelona, E.M.G.C.I.A.,
S.A. In 2017, dividends received from other stakes comprised EUR 4 million from Aigües de Barcelona,
E.M.G.C.I.A., S.A., plus a further EUR 1 million from Cellnex Telecom.
In addition, and while this is not shown on the accompanying statement of profit and loss for either 2018
or 2017, Criteria received dividend income of EUR 10 million in each year from Saba Infraestructuras. In
2018, Criteria also received EUR 20 million in dividends from Telefónica, and a further EUR 3 million from
other listed companies. All these dividends were recognised as a decrease in the cost of the investees.
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Management of real estate assets
The Group’s real estate assets are managed by wholly-owned subsidiary Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., which has
an experienced team of professionals and proprietary information systems designed to provide end-toend support for the entire real estate management process. The insourcing of the management process
allows the company to accomplish the targets it has set itself, by gaining strategic flexibility to ensure that
exposure to the real estate sector is better suited to Criteria’s general strategy.
In 2018, Criteria transferred to Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., through a capital increase, real estate assets
worth EUR 368 million, as well as the company Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U., which holds a plot of land
worth EUR 148 million in Andorra. Accordingly, Criteria’s real estate assets at 31 December 2018 totalled
EUR 1,008 million, segmented as follows:
Special real
estate assets Social
rental
(rental)
schemes
€7 Mn
(rental)
1%
€42 Mn
4%
Special land
projects
(sales)
€374 Mn
37%

Fragmented
assets (sales)
€585 Mn
58%

Most real estate assets were appraised in 2018 and 2017 by approved valuation companies. The total
value appraised was shown to exceed the net carrying amount of the assets. In addition to the annual
appraisal process, the Company relies on its own valuation model to appraise its real estate portfolio. This
internal model adjusts the appraisals made by independent third parties to take account of the
segmentation of the real estate assets, as well as the actual proceeds the Group has obtained from selling
these assets over the last 24 months compared with their appraised value.
The positive performance of the Spanish real estate market, coupled with the internalisation of the
management process —which allows the Company to conduct in-depth studies of the assets and devise
individual actions plans for each segment— has led to an improvement in earnings from the real estate
business, mainly due to the reversal of provisions for real estate assets following the improvements made
to the internal valuation model (EUR 29 million), as well as increased sales and lower management costs.
To elaborate, completed sales in 2018 amounted to EUR 111 million (EUR 81 million in 2017), while rentals
contributed a total of EUR 13 million (EUR 15 million in 2017). After deducting selling and marketing costs,
overheads, depreciation and changes in real estate and portfolio impairment provisions, the result was a
net EUR 11 million (EUR -59 million in 2017).
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Financial result
Criteria improved its financial result by EUR 36 million, mainly by reducing financial expenses as a result
of:


Reduction of EUR 1,145 million in the average volume of debt to reach EUR 5,666 million in 2018.
This was largely down to the prepayment of EUR 1,060 million in bilateral loans, most of which
was repaid at the end of the first half of 2018.



Improvement of -0.2 pp in the average cost of debt to reach 2.0% in 2018 (2.2% in 2017), largely
in response to:
o

Active management of borrowing activity: renegotiating the financial terms and
conditions of bilateral loans.

o

Criteria’s rating was upgraded in October 2017. This is relevant because the interest
rates on certain bank loans are pegged to its rating.

The reduction in financial expenses has led to a substantial improvement in the interest coverage ratio
(ICR), which measures the Company’s capacity to generate recurring income internally in order to honour
the interest payments on its debt. The ratio is shown as both a total figure (which includes all dividends,
meaning both cash and scrip dividends) and in its cash only variant (which shows only dividends received
in cash).

7.8x

7.3x
5.2x

3.6x

4.8x

TOTAL ICR
CASH ICR

2.6x

2016

2017

2018

Aside from the aspects mentioned above that help to explain the reduction in financial expenses, the
improvement in the cash ICR in recent years is a product of:


The recent change made to CaixaBank’s shareholder remuneration policy, which since 2017 has
been paying out all dividends in cash, having included scrip dividends in previous years.



The significant increase in shareholder remuneration at Naturgy, following the presentation of
its new strategic plan in 2018.
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Gains/(losses) on sales and others
Gains/(losses) on sales and others in 2018 mainly included in the following:


Gain on the sale of 4,200,000 shares in Naturgy (0.42% of its share capital). These transactions
generated a gain of EUR 38 million.



Change in the market value of the existing interest rate swap agreements, generating losses of
EUR 11 million.



Sound management of excess cash denominated in foreign currency generated a gain of EUR 4
million.

Meanwhile, the main transactions under this heading in 2017 were as follows:


Gains on the sale of Abertis shares, (0.55% of its share capital). These transactions generated a
gain of EUR 77 million.



Change in the market value of the existing interest rate swap agreements, which contributed a
positive EUR 20 million to earnings.

Extraordinary results
The main items shown under Extraordinary results in 2018 are as follows:


Gains from the sale of shares in Abertis. Following the joint takeover bid launched by Atlantia,
ACS and Hochtief, Criteria proceeded to sell all the shares it held in the company both directly
and indirectly (through the company Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.). A total of 182,654,913
shares were sold at a price of EUR 18.36 per share.
The total result of the takeover, net of transaction costs, was EUR 2,090 million (see Note 7 to
the accompanying financial statements).
In accounting terms, the gains/(losses) obtained from shares held and sold directly are taken to
“Gains/(losses) on disposals of investments in Group companies and associates” (see Note16.a
to the accompanying financial statements), while gains/(losses) on shares held and sold through
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A. are recognised under “Return on equity instruments” from that
company (see Note 16.a to the accompanying financial statements).



Distribution of reserves at Inversiones Autopistas, S.A. Following the sale of the shares held by
Inversiones Autopistas, S.A. in Abertis, the company was liquidated. The distribution of the
reserves generated in previous years earned Criteria a total of EUR 15 million (see Note 7 to the
accompanying financial statements).
In accounting terms, this distribution of reserves was reported under “Return on equity
instruments” from that company (see Note 16.a to the accompanying financial statements).



Impairment of the stake in Grupo Financiero Inbursa. Criteria conducted impairment tests at
31 December 2018 to assess the recoverable amount of its investments and to verify the
accuracy of the value at which they are currently recognised. These analyses are based on
generally accepted measurement methods and involve balance sheet and statement of profit
and loss projections that factor in variables specific to the investees and to their sector and
country. Applying these tests to the stake in GFI, it was concluded that the fair value of the stake
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was EUR 217 million below the value shown on Criteria’s balance sheet. This difference was
therefore recognised on the statement of profit and loss for the year (see Note 7.3 to the
accompanying financial statements).
Meanwhile, in 2017 this heading included the result of the sale of shares representing 5.32% of the share
capital of CaixaBank, which generated losses of EUR 249 million.

3. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Financial risks (liquidity, credit, impairment of shareholdings, impairment of real estate assets,
impairment of other assets, market risk and risk relating to the reliability of the financial information) are
discussed in Note 4 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements and also under sections E and
F.2.1 of the accompanying Annual Corporate Governance Report.

4. CREDIT RATINGS
On 20 March 2018, Moody’s awarded Criteria an issuer rating of Baa2, stable outlook, for the first time.
Meanwhile, on 21 December 2018, Fitch Ratings affirmed Criteria’s credit rating at BBB but upgraded the
outlook from stable to positive.
Both ratings reflect Criteria’s strong financial position, good asset quality and liquidity and prudent
investment policy and the fact that it receives recurring and stable dividends.

5. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
Criteria has not engaged in any research and development activities.
However, Criteria uses its own wholly-owned private equity subsidiaries Caixa Capital Risc and Criteria
Venture Capital to manage and/or own stakes in certain research and development companies.


Criteria invests in innovative Spanish enterprises with high growth potential during start-up and
ramp-up, supporting them throughout the different stages of their development.



Criteria focuses on emerging sectors: life sciences, technology and digital technologies for
industry.



It manages nine mutual funds with EUR 213 million under management and at 31 December
2018 it had 142 companies in its portfolio.

It is also heavily committed to supporting entrepreneurs and fledgling businesses across the entire Iberian
peninsula, backing initiatives such as CaixaImpulse, which it promotes alongside ”la Caixa” Foundation.
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6. TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS
At 31 December 2018, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation owned 100% of the shares in Criteria. No
transactions were carried out with treasury shares.

7. ”la Caixa” Foundation
Committed to the present and future of people, ”la Caixa” is one of Europe’s largest foundations. It
directly manages the welfare projects that have embodied ”la Caixa” for over 110 years. Under the slogan
"Changing the present. Building the future.", a series of priority programmatic, corporate and
organisational initiatives were implemented in 2018 to help improve personal well-being, especially for
those people who need it most, and contribute to the progress of society. All with an initial budget of EUR
498.4 million. EUR 284.7 million (57% of the budget) went to social initiatives, EUR 123.9 million to culture
and education (25%) and EUR 89.8 million (18%) to research and grants.
Globally, "la Caixa", which directly oversees Welfare Projects and uses CriteriaCaixa to pool together all
of the ”la Caixa” Group's shareholdings, including CaixaBank, championed nearly 50,000 activities with a
total of 14.9 million beneficiaries around the world, 11.4 million in Spain.
Social commitment, trust and excellence. These are the three values that prompted Francesc Moragas
Barret (1868-1935) to found ”la Caixa” in 1904. To mark the 150th anniversary of this humanist, a number
of memorable events took place in 2018 in his memory.
Among the social welfare projects that aims to transform society, CaixaProinfancia is a notable example.
The programme has been up and running for 10 years and aims to break the vicious circle of poverty
affecting vulnerable families by championing the social and educational development of children aged
under 18. Over the course of 2018, the scheme reached out to 62,343 boys and girls from households at
risk of exclusion.
Along with the fight against child poverty, job creation is a further priority of the Banking Foundation
within the framework of its Strategic Plan. This year, the labour market integration programme generated
a total of 38,106 new contracts of employment for vulnerable people, compared with 33,647 in 2017. This
feat has been made possible thanks to the 12,043 companies adhered to the initiative.
In the realm of health, the Foundation has rolled out a truly unique programme: Comprehensive Care for
People with Advanced Diseases, with 52 teams currently deployed across 138 hospitals. In 2018, a total
of 25,726 patients and 31,197 family members received psychological and social care and support. More
than 350,000 people have received support under the initiative over the last ten years.
Providing easier access to housing is another strategic priority under the Strategic Plan. The Foundation’s
housing programme has made some 12,000 social housing units available across Spain to low-income
young people, elderly citizens and families. Together with CaixaBank’s own housing programme, both
entities offer a combined total of over 28,000 social housing units.
Support for elderly people has always been a priority concern for ”la Caixa” ever since its inception. In
2018, a total of 781,573 people took part in the 16,151 activities organised under the programme, which
champions active and healthy ageing while helping to prevent isolation and loneliness.
The charitable spirit shown by ”la Caixa” Group plays a pivotal role in encouraging people to become more
committed and engaged with society. The Foundation currently has a total of 4,481 corporate volunteers
in active service. This healthy and growing base, comprising current and retired employees, makes the
Foundation one of the most dynamic associations operating in Spain.
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Also on the international front, ”la Caixa” has deepened its partnership with leading entities such as Bill
& Melinda Gates Foundation, ISGlobal, Unicef, Gavi and UNHCR, in the fight against malaria, pneumonia
and malnutrition. It is also helping to create jobs through the Work 4 Progress programme.
Bringing digital education to vulnerable communities in Africa, Latin America and Asia is what Profuturo
aspires to achieve. This initiative, inspired by Pope Francis and promoted by ”la Caixa” Foundation and
the Telefónica Foundation, was extended in 2018 to embrace 24 countries and benefit three million
children.
The ”la Caixa” Foundation started to gradually deploy its social welfare initiatives in Portugal in 2018. The
Foundation is now working to improve the quality of life of Portuguese people, especially the more
vulnerable segments of society, where it plans to allocate some 50 million euros per year to flagship
projects such as Incorpora (labour market integration) and Humaniza (end of life care).
Medical research is another cornerstone of the Strategic Plan. From laboratory to market, the ”la Caixa”
Foundation has delivered a total of 268 grants to highly promising research and training projects through
a number of grants schemes and by holding calls for funding proposals for research and innovation
projects. It currently organises the largest private call for health-related funding proposals in Spain and
Portugal. In 2018, a total of EUR 37 million was invested in research into oncology, neuroscience,
infectious diseases and cardiovascular diseases alone.
Cultural and science outreach is another key priority under the Strategic Plan. The CaixaForum and
CosmoCaixa centres organised more than 20,000 activities in 2018, which attracted nearly four million
visitors between them. Territorial proximity, alliances with major institutions such as the British Museum,
staging a supreme selection of events and social transformation are just some of the levers that ”la Caixa”
relies on in bringing knowledge closer to society.
Identifying transformational practices in the field of education is one of the main pursuits of EduCaixa in
fostering change and responding to the educational needs of the twenty-first century. In 2018, the
programme reached out to 2.1 million pupils through a total of 8,223 educational centres.
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8. OTHER INFORMATION
8.1. Information on average payment periods to suppliers
The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December, establishing
measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, requires companies to expressly publish
information on the payment periods to their suppliers in the notes to the financial statements. Pursuant
to this disclosure obligation, on 4 February 2016 a new resolution issued by the Spanish Accounting and
Audit Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State Gazette (BOE), repealing and replacing the 29
December 2010 resolution.
In accordance with the 29 January 2016 resolution, a breakdown of the information required in relation
to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date is provided below:
Payments made and outstanding at the reporting date
Amount
(Thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Total payments made
Total payments pending

81,464
2,214

79,491
6,009

Total payments in the year

83,678

85,500

Average supplier payment period and ratios
Days
(Days)
Average payment period to suppliers
Ratio of transactions paid
Ratio of transactions pending payment

2018

2017

13
12
30

18
17
27

8.2. Criteria information channels
Criteria has the following information channels in place:


Corporate website (www.criteria.com), which provides information mainly on the
Company’s investment portfolio, issuing activity, governance bodies and yearly and
half-yearly financial information. A total of 72,473 single-user visits were recorded in
2018.



Two electronic mailboxes: one intended for investors and analysts
(investor.relations@criteria.com) and the other for general information and enquiries
(info@criteria.com). The company also provides a form for queries relating to the real
estate portfolio.
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9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The sole shareholder, at a meeting held on 14 January 2019, resolved to distribute a dividend of EUR 50
million against other reserves. This dividend was paid to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation on 18 February
2019.

10. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR 2018
Law 16/2007, of July 4, reforming and adapting Spanish corporate accounting legislation for its
international harmonisation with European legislation, redrafted article 49 of the Spanish Commercial
Code regulating the minimum scope of management reports. Pursuant to this regulation, Criteria has
included its Annual Corporate Governance Report as a separate section of the Management Report.
A full word-processed copy of the 2018 Annual Corporate Governance Report of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., as
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 14 March 2019, has been attached to this management
report. The original report, prepared in accordance with the prescribed format and prevailing regulations,
is available on the website www.criteriacaixa.com and on the website of the Spanish National Securities
Market Commission (CNMV).
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11. ANNEX – ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Criteria draws up its separate financial statements in accordance with the Spanish General Chart of
Accounts (Plan General de Contabilidad), while its consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In addition to the financial
information contained in its financial statements, Criteria uses certain Alternative Performance Measures
(APMs), as defined in the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures released by the European
Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) on 5 October 2015 (”ESMA Guidelines”). Criteria believes that
APMs provide a better understanding and assessment of its performance over time.
These measures are not defined under the Spanish General Chart of Accounts or under IFRS and should
therefore be treated as additional disclosures. In no event do they replace the financial information
prepared under the General Chart of Accounts or under IFRS. The APMs have not been reviewed or
audited by the external auditors. Moreover, the way Criteria defines and calculates these measures may
differ to the way similar measures are calculated by other companies. Accordingly, they may not be
comparable.
One of the reasons for using APMs is that for management purposes Criteria directly attributes the
percentage of its ownership of assets invested through holding companies.
Criteria uses the following APMs to help describe its business activities and performance: “Gross asset
value” (GAV), “Gross debt”, “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Net debt”, “Net asset value” (NAV), “Loan to
value ratio” (LTV) and “Interest coverage ratio” (ICR). The Group relies on these measures to plan, budget,
report (internally and externally) and review its performance.
Criteria’s management believes that these measures are commonly used by its peers within the sector
and are also relevant metrics used by credit analysts, rating agencies and the investment community when
analysing investment holding companies such as Criteria.
The Group seeks to use these APMs consistently over time. The following section provides a set of
definitions and calculations for the APMs and reconciles them with the consolidated financial statements.
a)

Gross Asset Value (GAV)

Definition: Criteria defines GAV as the sum of: i) the market value of the listed portfolio, based on
Criteria’s economic stake, which comprises investments in listed equity and fixed income securities; ii) the
net carrying amount of the non-listed portfolio, which comprises the carrying amount in the separate
financial statements of investments in Group companies, associates and non-listed equity instruments,
except for Saba, which, because of its materiality, has been measured at market value under the terms of
the purchase agreement signed in July 2018, and deducting the dividends subsequently paid out against
share premium; iii) the carrying amount shown in the consolidated financial statements of the real estate
assets owned by Criteria and its wholly-owned real estate investees; and (iv) cash and cash equivalents,
as defined under section c) of this Appendix.
This last item was added to the calculation of GAV for the first time this year because, following the
divestment of Abertis, not considering it would have generated a significant change in GAV, when in reality
the sale involved the exchange of a listed asset (Abertis) for another monetary asset (the cash received).
Hence Criteria has decided to include it in its calculation of GAV effective from 2018 onward. Accordingly,
GAV for 2017 was calculated to include cash and cash equivalents in that year.
Purpose: GAV is a sound metric for determining the total value of Criteria’s assets. It is a standard
reporting metric used by investment holding companies to compare the values of their portfolios (peer
analysis).
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GAV was broken down as follows at 31 December 2018:
€/share

No. shares

Holding

GAV (€ Mn)

% GAV

CaixaBank

3.16

2,392,536,811

40.00%

7,570

33.28%

The Bank of East Asia

2.78

500,584,162

17.59%

1,390

6.11%

Grupo Financiero Inbursa

1.26

607,000,574

9.10%

763

3.36%

Other investments

-

32

0.14%

9,755

42.89%

-

-

EQUITY SECURITIES (BANKING)
Naturgy

22.26

240,357,521

24.02%

5,350

23.52%

Suez

11.53

37,110,685

5.97%

428

1.88%

Cellnex

22.39

13,962,095

6.03%

313

1.37%

7.34

59,588,665

1.15%

437

1.92%

-

-

-

530

2.33%

EQUITY SECURITIES (INDUSTRIAL)

7,058

31.03%

LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

16,813

73.92%

Telefónica
Other investments

Saba Infraestructuras 1

99.50%

766

3.37%

Vithas Sanidad 2

20.00%

74

0.33%

100.00%

62

0.27%

15.00%

51

0.22%

953

4.19%

2,739

12.04%

859

3.78%

1,381

6.07%

22,746

100%

Caixa Capital Risc

3

Aguas de Barcelona

4

NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
MANAGEMENT OF REAL ESTATE ASSETS 5
FIXED INCOME, FOREX AND OTHER

6

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 7

TOTAL GAV
1

Market value of Saba as per the transaction completed in July 2018, after deducting the dividends paid out subsequent to the
transaction against share premium (retrieved from Note 5 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2018).
2 Retrieved from Appendix 2 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2018.
3 Includes the net carrying amount of Criteria’s direct stake in the following companies: Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, S.A., Caixa
Capital Micro II F.C.R. and Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A. (Retrieved from Appendix 1 to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for 2018).
4 Net book value included in the detail of Available-for-sale financial assets measured at cost (see note 8 to the Criteria’s separate
financial statements for 2018).
5 We have attached the following reconciliation with Notes 8 and 11 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2018:

31/12/2018

(€ Mn)

Adjustment
GAV for advance
Management of
payments to
real estate assets
suppliers

Saba
adjustment

Investment property (Note 8)

1,152

-

-

1,152

Inventories (Note 11)

1,591

(-)

(4)

1,587

Management of real estate assets

2,743

(-)

(4)

2,739
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6

We have attached the following reconciliation with Notes 7.4 and 8.2 of Criteria’s separate financial statements for 2018:
Amount at
31/12/2018
(€ Mn)
a)

7 See

Amount receivable from payment on account of corporate income tax due to the
capital gain generated from the sale of Abertis, which is tax exempt (see Note 7.4
to Criteria’s separate financial statements for 2018, such amount is included in
Other financial assets 584 million)

544

157

b)

Loan to Saba Infraestructuras maturing in 2019 (see Note 7.4 to Criteria’s separate
financial statements for 2018)

c)

Loan to “la Caixa” Banking Foundation (mirror loan related to the loan that Criteria
has undertaken with the Council of Europe Development Bank, see note 7.4 to
Criteria’s separate financial statements for 2018)

46

d)

Fixed income portfolio comprising sovereign and corporate bonds (see Note 8.2 to
Criteria’s separate financial statements for 2018)

112

Fixed Income and Other (a+b+c+d)

859

section c) of this Appendix.

GAV was broken down as follows at 31 December 2017:
€/share

No. shares

Holding

GAV (€ Mn)

% GAV

CaixaBank

3.89

2,392,538,198

40.00%

9,305

37.22%

The Bank of East Asia

3.61

482,416,732

17.44%

1,742

6.97%

Grupo Financiero Inbursa

1.36

607,000,574

9.10%

824

3.30%

Other investments

-

-

-

EQUITY SECURITIES (FINANCIAL)

0

0.00%

11,871

47.48%

Gas Natural Fenosa

19.25

244,557,521

24.44%

4,708

18.83%

Abertis

18.55

182,654,913

18.44%

3,388

13.55%

Suez

14.67

36,545,000

5.86%

536

2.14%

Cellnex

21.35

13,772,728

5.94%

294

1.18%

8.13

6,809,000

0.13%

55

0.22%

-

-

-

0

0.00%

EQUITY SECURITIES (INDUSTRIAL)

8,981

35.92%

LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

20,852

83.41%

Telefónica
Other investments

Saba Infraestructuras 1

50.10%

459

1.84%

Vithas Sanidad 2

20.00%

74

0.30%

100.00%

63

0.25%

15.00%

51

0.20%

646

2.59%

2,813

11.25%

0

0.00%

689

2.76%

25,001

100%

Caixa Capital Risc 3
Aguas de Barcelona 2

NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
MANAGEMENT OF REAL ESTATE ASSETS 4
FIXED INCOME, FOREX AND OTHER
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

TOTAL GAV

5

1

Pro-forma value, updated to market value under the terms of the transaction carried out in July 2018.
2 Retrieved from Appendix 2 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2017.
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3

Includes the net carrying amount of Criteria’s direct stake in the following companies: Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, S.A., Caixa
Capital Micro II F.C.R. and Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A. (Retrieved from Appendix 1 to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for 2017).
4 Retrieved from Notes 7 and 11 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2017. The following reconciliation is
attached:

(€ Mn)

5 See

31/12/2017

Saba
adjustm
ent

Adjustment for
GAV advance
Management of
payments to
real estate assets
suppliers

Investment property (Note 7)

1,184

-

-

1,184

Inventories (Note 11)

1,637

(8)

-

1,629

Management of real estate assets

2,821

(8)

-

2,813

section c) of this Appendix.

b) Gross debt
Definition: the Group defines “Gross debt” as the nominal value of bank loans, bonds and other debt
instruments with third parties, excluding premiums, fees and interest accruing at Criteria and whollyowned companies.
Purpose: gross debt is a good metric for determining the total indebtedness of a holding company and is
a good metric for managing financial resources and commitments directly attributable to and managed
by Criteria. This metric does not change in response to significant inflows of cash, such as following a
divestment.
The relevant calculations and reconciliations for this APM are as follows:
Sum of the nominal values of the real estate asset management and corporate activities segments, as per
the information provided in Note 21. Segment reporting of the consolidated financial statements for 2018.

(€ Mn)
Total Gross Debt 2018:

Management of
real estate
assets

Corporate
activities

Total

-

5,235 5,235

Nominal value of senior bonds

-

2,709

2,709

Nominal value of current and non-current loans

-

2,526

2,526

Total Gross Debt 2017:

-

6,309 6,309

Nominal value of senior bonds

-

2,750

2,750

Nominal value of current and non-current loans

-

3,559

3,559

c)

Cash and cash equivalents

Definition: the Group defines “Cash and cash equivalents” as the sum of cash and cash equivalents and
long-term deposits of Criteria and its wholly-owned investees, deducting any dividends announced but
not yet paid to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and adding any dividends announced by its investees once
they have passed the ex-dividend date.
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Purpose: “Cash and cash equivalents” is a standard metric for determining liquidity available in the short
term.
The calculations and reconciliations of this APM with the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
as follows:
Sum of cash and cash equivalents, deposits and dividends receivable after entering the ex-dividend period
from the real estate asset management and corporate activities segments according to Note 21 (Segment
reporting) of the consolidated financial statements for 2018, net of any dividends announced but yet to
be paid to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation:

(€ Mn)
Cash and cash equivalents for 2018:
Cash and cash equivalents

Management of
real estate
assets
160

Corporate
activities

Total

1,221 1,381

160

621

781

Current and non-current bank deposits

-

600

600

Dividends announced, collection pending, ex-dividend

-

-

-

Dividends expected to be distributed to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation

-

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents for 2017:

33

656

689

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)

33

656

689

Current and non-current bank deposits (Note 10.2)

-

-

-

Dividends announced, collection pending, ex-dividend

-

-

-

Dividends expected to be distributed to ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation

-

-

-

d) Net debt
Definition: the Group defines “Net debt” as the difference between “Gross debt” and “Cash and cash
equivalents”, where both APMs have been previously defined and reconciled.
Purpose: net debt is a good metric for determining the total indebtedness of a holding company and is a
good metric for managing financial resources and commitments directly attributable to and managed by
Criteria.
The breakdown of the Group’s net debt at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows:

(€ Mn)

31/12/2018 31/12/2017 PF

A) Gross debt

5,235

6,309

B) Cash and cash equivalents

1,381

689

Total net debt [A - B]

3,854

5,620
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e) Net asset value (NAV)
Definition: the Group defines “NAV” as the difference between “GAV” and “Gross debt”, where both
APMs have been previously defined and reconciled.
Purpose: NAV is a good metric for determining the market value of the total equity appearing on the
financial statements. It is a standard reporting metric used by investment holding companies to compare
the values of their portfolios (peer analysis). It is also used to determine whether the management has
created value.

The breakdown of NAV at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows:
(€ Mn)
A) Gross asset value (GAV)
B) Gross debt
Total net asset value (NAV) [A - B]

f)

31/12/2018 31/12/2017 PF
22,746

25,001

5,235

6,309

17,511

18,692

Leverage ratio (LTV)

Definition: the Group relies on two different leverage ratios: net and gross. The “Net leverage ratio” (Net
LTV) is defined as “Net debt” divided by [“GAV” less “Cash and cash equivalents”] (expressed as %).
Meanwhile the “Gross leverage ratio” (Gross LTV) is defined as “Gross debt” divided by “GAV” (expressed
as %). The APMs “GAV”, “Gross debt” and “Cash and cash equivalents” have been previously defined and
reconciled.
Purpose: both the “Net LTV ratio” and the “Gross LTV ratio” are standard metrics for determining the
indebtedness of an investment holding company. They are therefore useful to credit analysts, rating
agencies and peer analysts, among others. The gross leverage ratio does not change in response to
significant inflows of cash, such as following a divestment.

The breakdown of the Group’s Gross LTV ratio at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows:
(€ Mn)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

5,235

6,309

B) Gross asset value (GAV)

22,746

25,001

Total Gross leverage ratio (Gross LTV) [A/B]

23.0%

25.2%

A) Gross debt

The breakdown of the Group’s Net LTV ratio at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows:
(€ Mn)
A) Net debt

31/12/2018

31/12/2017 PF

3,854

5,620

B) [Gross asset value (GAV) - Cash and cash equivalents]

21,365

24,312

Total Net leverage ratio (Net LTV) [A/B]

18.0%

23.1%
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g)

Interest coverage ratio (ICR)

Definition: the Group relies on two different interest coverage ratios. The total interest coverage ratio, or
Total ICR, and the cash interest coverage ratio, or Cash ICR.
The Total ICR is obtained by taking all dividends reported on the separate statement of profit and loss for
management purposes and all other dividends received by the company which, in accordance with
accounting regulations, have not been recognised on the separate statement of profit and loss (total
dividends), and dividing this figure by the financial expense incurred from interest paid on bonds and
similar instruments reported at the companies included within Criteria’s scope of consolidation.
The Cash ICR is obtained by taking all cash dividends reported on the separate statement of profit and
loss for management purposes and all other dividends received in cash by the company which, in
accordance with accounting regulations, have not been recognised on the separate statement of profit
and loss (cash dividends), and dividing that figure by the financial expense incurred from interest paid on
bonds and similar instruments reported at the companies included within Criteria’s scope of
consolidation.
The breakdown of the Group’s “Total interest coverage ratio” at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017
is as follows:
(€ Mn)
A) Total dividends
B) Financial expenses
Total interest coverage ratio (Total ICR) [A/-B]

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

909

794

(116)

(152)

7.8x

5.2x

The breakdown of the Group’s “Cash interest coverage ratio” at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017
is as follows:
(€ Mn)
A) Cash dividends
B) Financial expenses
Cash interest coverage ratio (Cash ICR) [A/-B]

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

852

734

(116)

(152)

7.3x

4.8x

The following table provides a reconciliation between dividends on the accompanying statement of profit
and loss, the dividends on the statement of profit and loss for management purposes, cash dividends and
total dividends.
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Millions of euros
2018
2017
1,317
813

Dividends / statement of profit or loss for 2018 (Note 16)
Reclassification of Inversiones Autopistas dividends resulting from the sale of Abertis (partial sale in 2017 and full sale in
2018 following the takeover bid) to "Gains/(losses) on sales and others" of the statement of profit or loss for
management purposes

(495)

Reclassification of Inversiones Autopistas dividends resulting from distribution of reserves from previous years to
"Extraordinary results" of the statement of profit or loss for management purposes. Such distribution took place after
the general meeting of Inversiones Autopistas resolved to effect the simultaneous dissolution and liquidation of the
company and to carve up its available assets among all its shareholder.

(80)

(15)

Others
Dividends / statement of profit or loss for management purposes
Dividends received in cash but not recognised as income on the statement of profit or loss
Saba Infraestructuras dividend against reserves 1
Telefónica dividends paid out against reserves
GFI dividends paid out against reserves
Dividends from other investees

0

1

807

734

45

10

10

10

20
12
3

Adjustment for GFI scrip dividends recognised in the statement of profit or loss for management purposes

(10)

Dividends received in cash but not recognised as income on the statement of profit or loss
BEA scrip dividend received but not recognised in the statement of profit or loss for management purposes

852

734

57

50

Adjustment for GFI scrip dividends recognised in the statement of profit or loss for management purposes (previously
deducted to reconcile the cash dividends)

10

Total dividends

909

794

1

For 2018, we have counted only the dividend paid out in June prior to the corporate transaction, which relates to the recurring dividend paid
out by the company

The financial expense pertaining to interest paid on bonds and similar financial instruments reported at
the companies included within Criteria’s scope of consolidation relates to the financial expense for the
real estate asset management and corporate activities segments, as per Note 21 “Segment reporting” of
the consolidated financial statements for 2018:

(€ Mn)

Management
of real estate
assets

Corporate
activities

Total

Financial expense – 2018

-

(116)

(116)

Financial expense – 2017

-

(152)

(152)
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2018 ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A., SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL

ISSUER’S PARTICULARS

FINANCIAL YEAR-END

31/12/2018

Company Tax ID No. (C.I.F.):

A-63379135

Company name:

CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A., SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL

Registered office:

PLAZA WEYLER, Nº 3, PALMA

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF OTHER ENTITIES, OTHER
THAN SAVINGS BANKS, GOVERNMENT-CONTROLLED
COMMERCIAL COMPANIES OR GOVERNMENT CORPORATIONS,
THAT ISSUE SECURITIES TRADED ON OFFICIAL MARKETS
A

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

A.1

Detail of the most significant shareholders or unitholders from your entity at year-end:
NIF (individual taxpayer
identification number) or
CIF (legal entity taxpayer
identification number)
G-58899998

A.2

Name or corporate name
of shareholder or
unitholder

% of share capital

CAIXA D’ESTALVIS I
PENSIONS DE BARCELONA,
”LA CAIXA” BANKING
FOUNDATION

100

Indicate, as applicable, any family, commercial, contractual or corporate relationships
between owners of significant shareholdings, insofar as these are known by the bank,
unless they are insignificant or arise from ordinary trading or exchange activities.
NIF (individual taxpayer
identification number) or
CIF (legal entity taxpayer
identification number)

Related-party names
or corporate names

Type of
relationship

Brief
description

*See Note in Section G

A.3

Indicate, as applicable, any commercial, contractual or corporate relationships between
the significant shareholders or unitholders and the entity, unless they are insignificant
or arise from ordinary trading or exchange activities.
NIF (individual taxpayer identification
number) or CIF (legal entity taxpayer
identification number)
G-58899998

Related-party names or corporate names

CAIXA D’ESTALVIS I PENSIONS DE BARCELONA,
”LA CAIXA” BANKING FOUNDATION

Type of relationship: CORPORATE.
Brief description Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation,
is the company’s sole shareholder.

A.4

Give details of any restriction (under the bylaws or legislation or of any other kind) on
the transfer of securities or voting rights. In particular, state the existence of any type of
restriction that may inhibit a takeover attempt of the company through acquisition of
its shares on the market, and those regimes for the prior authorisation or notification
that may be applicable, under sector regulations, to acquisitions or transfers of the
company’s financial instruments.
Yes 

No

Description of the restrictions
TRANSFER OF EQUITY INVESTMENTS: The limitations on the transferability of shares
are set forth in article 9 of the bylaws. Transfers in favour of (i) other shareholders,
(ii) the spouse, the ascendants or descendants of the transferring shareholder, and
(iii) companies belonging to the same group of companies as the transferring
shareholder are unrestricted. Other than in these cases, a shareholder who intends
to transfer his shares in the Company must give written notice to the governing body
indicating the number, class and series of the shares that he wishes to transfer, the
name, the domicile and the nationality of the person to whom he wishes to transfer
them, the price or consideration for each share, and the conditions according to which
the transaction shall be carried out. After the length of time, and in accordance with
the procedure, set forth in the bylaws, the remaining shareholders shall have the right
of first refusal.
EXERCISE OF VOTING RIGHTS: There are no restrictions on the voting rights
corresponding to the shares of CRITERIA CAIXA, S.A.U.
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Company name:
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B

GENERAL MEETING OR EQUIVALENT BODY

B.1

Indicate the quorum for a general meeting or equivalent body set forth in the bylaws.
Describe how it differs from the system of minimum quorums set forth in the Corporate
Enterprise Act (LSC) or the applicable regulations.
In accordance with article 16 of the bylaws, the general meeting shall be validly held, at
first call, if the shareholders in attendance or represented by proxy hold at least 25% of
the subscribed share capital with voting rights. At second call, the meeting shall be
validly held regardless of the proportion of share capital in attendance. In order for the
General Meeting, whether Ordinary or Extraordinary, to validly agree to issue securities,
suppress or limit subscription rights, increase or reduce capital, carry out a
transformation, merger, spin-off, global transfer of assets and liabilities, transfer the
registered office to a foreign country or make any changes to the Bylaws, shareholders
at first call, whether present or proxy, representing at least 50% of subscribed capital
with voting rights must be in attendance. On second call the attendance of shareholders
holding 25% of the share capital shall suffice. The foregoing is without prejudice to other
cases set forth in the law, in particular in special laws that may be applicable to the
Company.
The Company currently has a sole shareholder; consequently, the system set forth in the
restated text of the Corporate Enterprise Act shall apply.

B.2

Explain the system for adopting corporate resolutions. Describe how it differs from the
system set forth in the LSC or the applicable regulations.
In accordance with article 18 of the bylaws, Board resolutions shall be adopted by a
simple majority of the shareholders in attendance or represented by proxy at the
general meeting. Resolutions shall be understood to be adopted when they receive
more votes in favour than against the share capital present or represented by proxy at
the meeting.
The system for adopting Board resolutions set forth in Article 18 of the Bylaws is the
same as that set forth in the Corporate Enterprise Act.
The Company is currently a sole shareholder.

B.3

Briefly indicate what resolutions were adopted at the general meetings or equivalent
bodies held during the year referred to in this report and the percentage of votes with
which they were adopted.

The resolutions of the Company’s sole shareholder in 2018 were:
-

-

-

B.4

January 25, 2018: Distribution of reserves (other reserves) for the sum of EUR 100
million.
March 15, 2018: (i) Delegation to the Board of Directors of the power to issue fixedincome securities or debt instruments of a similar nature for a total amount of up to
€3 billion (3,000,000,000) euros; (ii) Re-election of the Company's external auditor
for 2019; (iii) Alteration of Article 26 of the Bylaws regarding the remuneration of
the members of the Board of Directors of the Company.
May 24, 2018: Approval of the individual and consolidated financial statements
corresponding to the year ended at 31 December 2017 and the respective
management reports. Approval of the directors' performance in 2017.
Appropriation of profit for 2017. Approval of the full subscription of the capital
increase by offset of receivables at the Andorran company Els Arbres de la Tardor,
S.L.U., wholly owned by Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.
December 13, 2018: Alteration of Article 26 of the Bylaws regarding Directors'
remuneration.

State whether any point on the agenda of the General Shareholders’ Meetings during
the year has not been approved by the shareholders.
There has been no item on the agenda that has not been approved by the sole
shareholder of the Company.

B.5

Indicate the address and mode of accessing your entity’s webpage with information on
corporate governance.
The information on the corporate governance of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. is available on the
Company’s corporate webpage (www.criteriacaixa.com).

B.6

Indicate if meetings have been held of the different syndicates, if applicable, of holders
of securities issued by the entity, the purpose of such meetings held during the year
referred to in this report, and the main resolutions adopted.
No meetings of bondholders' syndicates were held in 2018.
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STRUCTURE OF ADMINISTRATION OF THE ENTITY

C.1

Board or governing body
C.1.1

Indicate the maximum and minimum number of Directors or members of the
Board set out in the bylaws:
Maximum number of Directors or
members of the governing body
Minimum number of Directors or
members of the governing body
Number of directors/members of the
body set by the general meeting or
assembly
Comments

C.1.2

20
8
17

There are currently two
vacancies on the Board of
Directors.

Complete the following table on the members of the Board or governing body
and their respective status:
DIRECTORS/MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY
NIF or CIF of
the Director
36456287-E
40260078-G
37590507-C
15766311-H
28744747-Z
X1596112G
46215647-E
46672425-C
36469328-E
46309503-S
46302019-Y
Y2771477-Z
42942802-P
36467929-A
39335259-S

Name or corporate name
of the Director/member of
the governing body
Isidro Fainé Casas
Alejandro García-Bragado
Dalmau
Javier Godó Muntañola
José Antonio Asiáin Ayala
Marcos
Contreras
Manrique
Jean-Louis Chaussade
Isabel Estapé Tous
Francisco Javier García Sanz
Eugenio Gay Montalvo
Víctor Grífols Roura
Josep-Delfí Guàrdia Canela
Heinrich Haasis
Francesc Homs Ferret
Juan José López Burniol
Josep Joan Simón Carreras

Representative

Last date of
appointment

-

18/12/2013
26/06/2014

-

26/06/2014
18/12/2013
18/12/2013

-

18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
16/03/2017
26/06/2014
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
26/06/2014
18/12/2013

C.1.3

List any members of the board or management body who hold positions as
directors, representatives of directors or executives at other entities that form
part of the entity's group:

NIF or CIF of
the Director

Name or
corporate
name of
Director:
/ member of
the
management
body

Corporate name
of the group
entity

NIF or CIF of
the group’s
entity

Position

36456287-E

Isidro Fainé
Casas

Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa”, Banking
Foundation

G-58899998

Chairman of the
Board of Trustees

Inmo Criteria
Caixa, S.A.U.

A-63346290

First Deputy
Chairman

Caixa Capital Risc,
SGEIC, S.A.

A-62794722
Chairman

37590507-C

Javier Godó
Muntañola

Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa” Banking
Foundation

G-58899998

Trustee

42942802-P

Francesc
Homs Ferret

Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa”, Banking
Foundation

G-58899998

Trustee

A-63346290

Second Deputy
Chairman

Inmo Criteria
Caixa, S.A.U.

36467929-A

Juan José
López Burniol

36469328-E

Eugenio Gay
Montalvo

46215647-E

Isabel Estapé
Tous

40260078-G

Alejandro
GarcíaBragado
Dalmau

C.1.4

Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa”, Banking
Foundation

G-58899998

Deputy Chairman

Inmo Criteria
Caixa, S.A.U.

A-63346290

Third Deputy
Chairman:

A-65550311

Director

G-58899998

Trustee

G-58899998

Trustee

A-65550311

Director

Saba
Infraestructuras,
SA
Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de
Barcelona, “la
Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
Saba
Infraestructuras,
SA

Complete the following table on the number of female Directors on the Board
of Directors and the committees thereof, as well as the changes therein over the
last four years.
Number of women Directors

Board of
Directors
Executive
Committee
Audit and Control
Committee
Appointments
and
Remuneration
Committee

2018
Number %
1
6.66%
N.S.
1
33.33%
1
33.33%

2017
Number %
1
6.66%
N.S.
1
33.33%
1
33.33%

2016
Number %
1
6.66%
N.S.

2015
Number %
1
5.88%
N.S.

1
33.33%
1
33.33%

1
33.33%
1
33.33%

C.1.5

State whether the company has diversity policies in relation to the management
and supervisory bodies on such matters as age, gender, disability and training
and professional experience. Small and medium-sized enterprises, in
accordance with the definition set out in the Accounts Audit Act, will have to
report at least the policy they have implemented in relation to gender diversity.
Yes 

No

Partial policies

Should this be the case, describe these diversity policies, their objectives, the
measures and way in which they have been applied and their results over the
year. Also state the specific measures adopted by the Board of Directors and the
appointments and remuneration committee to achieve a balanced and diverse
presence of directors.
On 13 December 2018, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Criteria
Group's Diversity and Inclusion Policy, the purpose of which is to establish the
guidelines for supporting: (i) a culture of respect for diversity; (ii) equality at
work; and (iii) non-discrimination and labour inclusiveness at the Company.
To this end, the Company has adopted measures aimed at guaranteeing
diversity and inclusiveness in the labour market, such as: (i) the implementation
of policies and practices for selection, recruitment, remuneration, promotion,
training, job classification and other working conditions on the basis of merit
and ability in relation to job requirements, encouraging all staff to achieve their
full potential in accordance with the principles of merit, ability and professional
behaviour; (ii) the fostering of an inclusive working environment based on
partnership and respect, avoiding any kind of deliberate or unintentional
discrimination; (iii) the promotion of a harassment-free working environment,
strictly prohibiting the use of sexist or discriminatory terms or references in any
type of communication; (iv) respect for the necessary balance between the
demands of the personal and working life of the persons comprising the
Company; and (v) the implementation of a channel for consultations and
complaints, governed by the principles of respect and confidentiality, through
which employees of the Company may consult or report, at any time, any
conduct contrary to the provisions of the Company's Code of Ethics or the
commission of a possible criminal offence.
With regard to the Board of Directors, the Company is committed to ensuring
that, through the selection of candidates, a diverse and balanced composition is
achieved as a whole, which enriches decision-making and contributes a plurality
of points of view to the debate on matters within the scope of its powers and
concerns. To this end, the Board of Directors has undertaken a commitment to
promote diversity in its composition and, therefore, candidates will be
considered on the basis of whether their appointment would lead to a situation
where directors have a wide range of skills, knowledge, origins, age and gender.
Diversity criteria will be chosen based on the nature and complexity of the
businesses carried on by the Group, and the social and environmental context
in which it is present. In the candidate selection process, any kind of bias which
may involve discrimination on grounds such as sex, origin, age or disability shall
be avoided.

In the event that the company does not apply a diversity policy, explain the
reasons why.

C.1.6

Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration of the Directors or
members of Board or of the governing body during the year:

Remuneration item
Fixed remuneration
Variable
remuneration
Attendance fees
Other remuneration
TOTAL:
C.1.7

Individual
3,810
0

Thousands of euros
Group
485
0

0
0
3,810

0
0
485

List any members of senior management who are not Directors or executive
members of the governing body and indicate total remuneration paid to them
during the year.

NIF (individual
taxpayer
identification
number) or CIF
(legal entity
taxpayer
identification
number)
36017940D
46533282G

Name or corporate name

Position

Marcelino Armenter Vidal
Jaume Giró Ribas

46109324M
35114207S
46119725X
15851133Q

Javier José Paso Luna
Óscar Valentín Carpio Garijo
Xavier Moragas Freixa
Enrique Goñi Beltrán de
Garizurieta

General Manager
Member of the Strategy Committee of
the Chairman's Office
Deputy General Manager
Assistant Deputy General Manager
Assistant Deputy General Manager
Assistant to the Office of the
Chairman

Total remuneration received by senior management
(thousands of euros)
C.1.8

4,769

Indicate whether the Bylaws or the Board regulations set a limited term of office
for Directors or members of the governing body.
Yes
Maximum number of years
in office

*See Note in Section G

No 
Four (4) years, although Directors can be
re-elected indefinitely for periods of
equal duration.

C.1.9

Indicate whether the consolidated and separate financial statements submitted
for authorisation for issue by the Board or governing body are previously
certified:
Yes

No 

Identify, where applicable, the person(s) who certified the Entity’s separate and consolidated
financial statements prior to their authorisation for issue by the board or other
management body.

Tax ID No.:

Name

Position

C.1.10 Explain the mechanisms, if any, established by the Board of Directors or
governing body to prevent the individual and consolidated financial statements
it prepares from being laid before the General Shareholders’ Meeting or
equivalent body with a qualified audit report.
The Audit and Control Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial
information is correctly drawn up in addition to other duties which include the
following in order to avoid a qualified audit report:
(i)

to serve as a channel of communication between the Board of Directors
and the auditors, to evaluate the results of each audit and the responses of
the management team to its recommendations and to mediate in cases of
discrepancies between the former and the latter in relation to the
principles and criteria applicable to the preparation of the financial
statements, as well as to examine the circumstances which, as the case may
be, motivated the resignation of the auditor;
(ii) to establish appropriate relationships with auditors in order to receive
information, for examination by the Audit and Control Committee, on
matters which may jeopardise the independence of said auditors and any
other matters relating to the audit process and any other communications
provided for in audit legislation and technical audit regulations.
(iii) to supervise compliance with the auditing contract, striving to ensure that
the opinion about the Annual Financial Statements and the principal
contents of the auditor’s report are drafted clearly and precisely.
(iv) to review the Company’s accounts and the periodic financial reporting
which the Board must furnish to the markets and its supervisory bodies
and, in general, to monitor compliance with legal requisites on this subject
matter and the correct application of generally accepted accounting
principles, as well as to provide periodic financial information in advance to
the Board of Directors and to report on the proposals for modification of
accounting principles and criteria suggested by management.
C.1.11 Is the Secretary to the Board or of the governing body a Director?
Yes
No 
* See Note in Section G

C.1.12 State, if any, the concrete measures established by the entity to ensure the
independence of its external auditors, financial analysts, investment banks, and
rating agencies, including how legal provisions have been implemented in
practice.
The Audit and Control Committee is responsible for submitting to the Board of
Directors, for submission to the Sole Shareholder, the proposals for selection,
appointment, re-election and replacement of the external auditors, in
accordance with the regulations applicable to the Company, as well as the
contracting conditions thereof, and for regularly gathering from the external
auditor information on the auditing plan and its execution as well as preserving
its independence in the exercise of its duties.
On an annual basis, the Audit and Control Committee receives from the external
auditors a declaration of independence from the entity or entities related to it
directly or indirectly, in addition to information on additional services of any
kind rendered and the corresponding fees received from these entities by the
external auditor or by the persons or entities related to the external auditor as
stipulated in auditing legislation. In addition, the Audit and Control Committee
issues annually, prior to the issuance of the audit report, a report containing an
opinion on the independence of the auditor. This report contains, in all cases,
the evaluation of the provision of any additional services referred to in this
section, individually and collectively considered, other than the legal audit and
related to the degree of independence or to the regulatory audit regulations;
To ensure compliance with applicable regulations and the independence of
audit engagements, the Audit and Control Committee and the Board of
Directors of the Company approved the External Auditor Relations Policy, which
establishes, among other matters, the detailed procedure for selecting,
engaging and proposing the appointment of auditors, a list of prohibited
services and services outside the statutory audit, the obligation of the auditor
to issue an additional report for the Audit and Control Committee setting out
the points detailed in the Policy, the minimum duration of the audit
engagement, and the rules on relations between the auditor and the Audit and
Control Committee of the Company. .

C.2

Committees of the Board or governing body
C.2.1

List the committees of the Board or governing body:
Name of the committee
Audit and Control Committee
Appointments and
Remuneration Committee

No. of members
3
3

C.2.2

Detail all committees of the Board or governing body and the members of said
committees and the proportion of executive, proprietary, independent and
other external directors on them (entities not having the legal form of
companies do not complete the category of director in the corresponding table
and in the section with their legal regime and the manner in which they fulfil the
conditions for belonging to the Audit Committee and the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee):
AUDIT AND CONTROL COMMITTEE
Name
Marcos Contreras Manrique
Isabel Estapé Tous
Josep Joan Simón Carreras

Position
Chairman
Committee Member
Committee Member

Category
Independent
Independent*
Proprietary

* See Note in Section G

% of proprietary Directors
% of independent Directors
% of other external Directors
Number of meetings

33.33%
66.67%
0%
7

Explain the functions, including, where appropriate, those additional to those
required by law, ascribed to this committee, and describe the procedures and
rules for its organisation and operation. For each one of these functions, briefly
describe its most important actions during the year and how it has exercised in
practice each of the functions attributed to it by law, the Bylaws or other
corporate resolutions.
As required in the Bylaws, the Board of Directors appointed an Audit and
Control Committee with the areas of responsibility and rules of operation set
forth in current regulations. The Audit and Control Committee is made up of
non-executive Directors, and it has a minimum of three and a maximum of
five members, and at least one of its members is independent.
The Board of Directors has appointed the members of the Audit and Control
Committee, to which end it shall bear in mind the knowledge, aptitudes, and
experience of the Directors and the assignments of the Committee. The Audit
and Control Committee appointed a Chairman from amongst its independent
members. It also appointed a Secretary and a Deputy Secretary, both of
whom need not be members thereof. In the event that such appointments
are not made, the Secretary and Deputy Secretary of the Board shall act as
Deputy Secretary of the Committee. The members of the Company’s
management team or personnel shall be required to attend the meeting of
the Audit and Control Committee and to provide it with their collaboration
and access to the information available to them when the Committee so
requests. The Committee may also require the Company’s auditors to attend
its meetings.

In any event, notwithstanding any other task which may be assigned to it from
time to time by the Board of Directors, the Audit and Control Committee shall
exercise the following duties:
a) To report at the Annual General Meeting on matters posed by
shareholders in the area of its competence;
b) To submit to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General
Shareholders’ Meeting or to the Sole Shareholder, the proposals for
selection, appointment, re-election and replacement of the external
auditors, in accordance with regulations applicable to the Company, as
well as the contracting conditions thereof, and to regularly gather from
the Board information on the auditing plan and its execution as well as to
preserve its independence in the exercise of its duties;
c) To supervise the internal auditing services, verifying the adequacy and
integrity thereof, to propose the selection, appointment and substitution
of the persons responsible for said services, to propose the budget for such
services, and to verify that senior management bears in mind the
conclusions and recommendations of their reports;
d) To serve as a channel of communication between the Board of Directors
and the auditors, to evaluate the results of each audit and the responses
of the management team to its recommendations and to mediate in cases
of discrepancies between the former and the latter in relation to the
principles and criteria applicable to the preparation of the financial
statements, as well as to examine the circumstances which, as the case
may be, motivated the resignation of the auditor;
e) To oversee the process for preparing and submitting required financial
information and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
systems, internal audit and risk management system, including tax risks,
and to discuss with the auditors of accounts any significant weaknesses in
the internal control system identified during the course of the audit;
f) To establish appropriate relationships with auditors in order to receive
information, for examination by the Audit and Control Committee, on
matters which may jeopardise the independence of said auditors and any
other matters relating to the audit process and any other communications
provided for in audit legislation and technical audit regulations. In all
events, on an annual basis, they shall receive from the external auditors a
declaration of independence from the entity or entities related to it
directly or indirectly, in addition to information on additional services
rendered of any kind and the corresponding fees received from these
entities by the external auditor or by the persons or entities related to the
external auditor as stipulated in auditing legislation. In addition, the Audit
and Control Committee will issue annually, prior to the audit report, a
report containing an opinion on the independence of the auditors. This
report shall contain, in all cases, the evaluation of the provision of any
additional services referred to in this section, individually and collectively
considered, other than the legal audit and related to the degree of
independence or to the regulatory audit regulations;
g) To supervise compliance with the auditing contract, striving to ensure that
the opinion about the Annual Financial Statements and the principal
contents of the auditor’s report are drafted clearly and precisely.

h) To review the Company’s accounts and the periodic financial reporting
which the Board must furnish to the markets and its supervisory bodies
and, in general, to monitor compliance with legal requisites on this subject
matter and the correct application of generally accepted accounting
principles, as well as to provide periodic financial information in advance
to the Board of Directors and to report on the proposals for modification
of accounting principles and criteria suggested by management.
i) To supervise the compliance with regulations with respect to related party
transactions and, previously, inform the Board of Directors on such
transactions. In particular, to ensure that the information on said
transactions be reported to the market, in compliance with the provisions
of legislation, and to report on transactions which imply or may imply
conflicts of interest;
j) To supervise the compliance with Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters
Related to the Securities Market and, in general, of the rules of corporate
governance applicable to it;
k) To previously report to the Board on the creation or acquisition of stakes
in special purpose entities domiciled in countries or territories considered
to be tax havens, as well as any other transactions or operations of an
analogous nature which, due to their complexity, may be detrimental to
the transparency of the Company or of the group to which it belongs;
l) To consider the suggestions submitted to it by the Chairman of the Board
of Directors, Directors, executives and shareholders of the Company, and
to establish and supervise a mechanism which allows the employees of the
Company or of the group to which it belongs confidentially and, if deemed,
appropriate, anonymously, to report irregularities of potential
significance, especially financial and accounting ones, which they observe
within the Company;
m) To receive information and, where applicable, issue a report on the
disciplinary measures intended to be imposed upon members of the
Company’s senior management team.
n) Any others attributed thereto by Law and other regulations applicable to
the Company.
For all matters not expressly foreseen for the Audit and Control Committee,
the rules of operation set forth in the Bylaws concerning the Board of
Directors shall be applied, provided that they are compatible with the nature
and duties of the corresponding committee.
As a consequence of the powers attributed, the most important actions of the
Audit and Control Committee in 2018 were:
-

At the meeting held on 25 January 2018: 1) Review of the corporate
risk management project; 2) Review of the proposal for renewal of
the external auditor; 3) Modification of the Internal Protocol for
Relations with CaixaBank; 4) Modification of the Accounting Policy; 5)
Engagement under contract of non-audit services to be provided by
the external auditor; and 6) Approval of the 2017 Annual Report on
Internal Audit Activities.

-

At the meeting held on 12 March 2018: 1) Information on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR); 2) Internal audit of ICFR; 3)
External audit of ICFR; 3) Examination of the separate and
consolidated financial statements and management reports; 4)
Examination of the Annual Corporate Governance Report; 5)
Proposed appropriation of profit for 2017; 6) Engagement under
contract of non-audit services to be provided by the external auditor;
7) Evaluation report of the accounts auditing process; 8) Review of
the draft audit reports of the separate financial statements and of the
Consolidated Group for 2017; 9) Review of the auditor's letter on
independence; and 10) approval of the report on the auditor's
independence and the report on the assessment of the auditor's
work.

-

At the meeting held on 22 May 2018: 1) Information on the Internal
Control over Financial Reporting System (ICFRS); 2) Close of financial
statements for the first quarter of 2018; 3) Status of the limited
review of the financial statements; 4) Engagement under contract of
non-audit services to be provided by the external auditor; 5) Status
of the selection process for the new external auditor; 6) Monitoring
of the Company's corporate risks; 7) Examination of the proposal for
approval, modification and repeal of corporate policies; 8) Review of
internal audit reports since the last meeting; 9) Review of
transactions related to CaixaBank and its Group in 2017; and 10)
Approval and submission to the Board of Directors of the annual
report of the IRCSM monitoring body for 2017.

-

At the meeting held on 24 July 2018: 1) Information on the Internal
Control over Financial Reporting System (ICFRS); 2) Examination and,
where appropriate, submission to the Board of Directors of the
condensed interim consolidated financial statements and interim
management report for the first half of 2018; 3) Distribution of the
first interim dividend for 2018; 4) Status of the limited review of the
condensed consolidated half-year financial statements; 5) Update on
the auditors' selection process; 6) Proposed modification of
corporate policies; and 7) Audit reports since the last Audit and
Control Committee.

-

At the meeting dated 3 October 2018 held jointly with the Audit
Committee of the Fundación Bancaria "la Caixa": 1) Presentation of
the proposal of PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AUDITORES S.L.; 2)
Presentation by BDO AUDITORES S.L.P.; and 3) Presentation by
ERNST&YOUNG S.L.

-

At the meeting dated 13 December 2018 held jointly with the Audit
Committee of the Fundación Bancaria "la Caixa": Presentation of the
technical report for the assessment of candidate audit firms.

-

At the meeting held on 13 December 2018: 1) Status of the external
auditor selection process; 2) Review of the state of the impairment
test; 3) Engagement under contract of non-audit services to be
provided by the external auditor; 4) Planning of the external audit; 5)
Review of internal audit reports since the last meeting; 6) Approval
and submission to the Board of Directors of Audit Plan 2019; 7)
Review of the sale of commercial premises owned by the Company
to CaixaBank for the purposes of the Internal Relationship Protocol
between FBLC, the Company and CaixaBank; and 8) Replacement of
the Chairman of the Audit and Control Committee.

Identify the directors who are members of the audit committee and have been
appointed taking into account their knowledge and experience in accounting or
audit matters, or both, and state the date that the Chairperson of this
committee was appointed.
Name of Directors with experience
Date of appointment of the Chairman

Isabel Estapé Tous
13/12/2018

APPOINTMENTS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Name
Isabel Estapé Tous
José Antonio Asiáin Ayala
Juan José López Burniol

Position
Chairman
Committee Member
Committee Member

Category
Independent*
Independent
Proprietary

* See Note in Section G
% of proprietary Directors
% of independent Directors
% of other external Directors
Number of meetings

33.33%
66.67%
0%
4

Explain the functions, including, where appropriate, those additional to those
required by law, ascribed to this committee, and describe the procedures and
rules for its organisation and operation. For each one of these functions, briefly
describe its most important actions during the year and how it has exercised in
practice each of the functions attributed to it by law, the Bylaws or other
corporate resolutions.
As required in the Bylaws, the Board of Directors named an Appointments
and Remuneration Committee with the areas of responsibility and to be
governed by the rules of operation set forth in current regulations. The
Appointments and Remuneration Committee is made up exclusively of nonexecutive Directors, and it has three members, and at least two of its
members are independent. The Appointments and Remuneration Committee
appointed a chairman from amongst the independent Directors that belong

to it. It also appointed a Secretary and a Deputy Secretary who are not
Directors.
In any event, notwithstanding any other task which may be assigned to it from
time to time by the Board of Directors, the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee shall exercise the following basic duties:
a) To evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board
of Directors. For such purposes, it shall define the roles and capabilities
required of the candidates to fill each vacancy, and shall evaluate the time
and dedication necessary for them to effectively perform their duties.
b) To establish a target representation of the gender least represented on
the Board of Directors and prepare guidelines of how to achieve this
objective;
c) To submit to the Board of Directors the proposals for the nomination of
the independent Directors to be appointed by co-option or for submission
to the decision of the General Shareholders' Meeting, as well as the
proposals for the reappointment or removal of such Directors by the
General Shareholders Meeting;
d) To report on the proposed appointments of the remaining Directors to be
appointed by co-option or for submission to the decision of the General
Shareholders' Meeting, as well as the proposals for their reappointment
or removal by the General Shareholders' Meeting;
e) To report on proposals for the appointment and removal of senior
executives and the basic terms and conditions of their contracts;
f) To examine and organise the succession of the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and the CEO of the Company and, where applicable, make
recommendations to the Board of Directors to ensure a smooth and wellplanned handover;
g) To propose to the Board of Directors the remuneration policy for
Directors, general managers and those carrying out senior executive
duties and reporting directly to the Board, to the Executive Committees,
or to Chief Executive Officers, as well as the individual remuneration and
other contractual conditions of executive Directors, and to ensure that
such policies are observed.
For all matters not expressly foreseen for the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee, the rules of operation set forth in the Bylaws with
regard to the Board of Directors shall be applied, provided that they are
compatible with the nature and duties of the corresponding committee.
As a consequence of the powers attributed, the most important actions of the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee in 2018 were:
-

At the meeting held on 25 January 2018: Remuneration of
Josep Vilarasau Salat.

-

At the meeting held on 15 March 2018: 1) Approval and submission
to the Board of Directors of the Annual Corporate Governance Report
for 2017; 2) Appointment of the Deputy General Manager;
3) Creation of the Strategic Committee of the Chairman's Office;

4) Modification of the composition of the Management Committee;
5) Remuneration of the Chairman; 6) Remuneration of Mr Vilarasau;
7) Remuneration of the management team; and 8) Extraordinary
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer.
-

At the meeting held on 24 May 2018: Review of the proposal to
reorganise and strengthen the governance bodies of Inmo Criteria
Caixa, S.A.U.; 2) Approval and submission to the Board of Directors of
amendments to certain corporate policies; and 3) Adaptation of the
protocol on procedures for selection and suitability assessment for
appointments.

-

At the meeting held on 26 July 2018: Review of senior management
contracts.

*See Note in Section G
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RELATED-PARTY AND INTRAGROUP TRANSACTIONS

D.1

Details of the transactions conducted between the entity or entities of its group and the
shareholders, cooperativist unit holders, holders of proprietary rights or any other right
of the entity of an equivalent nature.
The most significant transactions carried out between CriteriaCaixa or its subsidiaries
and the Sole Shareholder, Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona Banking Foundation,
"la Caixa", were as follows:
Name or
corporate name
of the company
or its group
entity

Nature of
the
relationship

”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

CriteriaCaixa

Corporate

Distribution of reserves

100,000

”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

CriteriaCaixa

Corporate

Distribution of interim
dividends

250,000

”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

CriteriaCaixa

Contractual

Loans granted by
CriteriaCaixa

46,000

”la Caixa”
Banking
Foundation

CriteriaCaixa

Corporate

Distribución de
complementary dividends of
corresponding to the fiscal
year 2017

50,000

Name or
corporate name
of significant
shareholder

Type of transaction

Amount
(thousands
of euros)

Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements of CriteriaCaixa gives all the balances,
in the aggregate, of the Sole shareholder with companies in the Criteria Group.
D.2

Details of the transactions conducted between the entity or entities of its group and the
Directors or members of the governing body or executives of the entity.
All transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s
length basis.

D.3

Details of intra-group transactions.
The most significant transactions carried out by the Company with other entities
belonging to the Criteria Group are as follows:

Corporate name of
the group entity

Type of transaction

Amount
(thousands of
euros)

Vivienda Asequible
Arrendamiento y
Servicios, S.L.U.

Loan granted

32,375

Vivienda Asequible
Arrendamiento y
Servicios, S.L.U.

Loans granted (renewal)

175,000

Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U.

Loan granted (renewal)

65,000

Inmo Criteria
Arrendamiento II,
S.L.U.

Loan granted (renewal)

45,000

Saba
Infraestructuras,
S.A.

Loan granted

156,700

Criteria Movilidad,
S.L.U.

Capital increase through
non-monetary contribution
(capital and share
premium)

298,837

Els Arbres de la
Tardor, S.L.U.

Capital increase through
offsetting of receivables

252,425

Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U.

Capital increase through
non-monetary contribution
(capital and share
premium)

367,737

Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U.

Capital increase through
non-monetary contribution
(capital and share
premium)

156,688

Energía Boreal
2018, S.A.

Capital increase through
cash and non-monetary
contributions (capital and
share premium)

1,161,881
(of which
Criteria,
835,848)

Mediterranea
Beach&Golf
Community, S.A.U.

Capital increase through
cash contribution (capital
and share premium)

25,000

The most significant operations undertaken by the Company and or Criteria Group
companies with associate and jointly controlled entities were as follows:
Corporate name of
the associate
entity

Type of transaction

Amount
(thousands of
euros)

CriteriaCaixa

Balances in term and
demand deposits in
CaixaBank

142,266

Inmo Criteria Caixa,
S.A.U.

Balances in term and
demand deposits in
CaixaBank

41,849

Vivienda Asequible
Arrendamiento y
Servicios, S.L.U.

Balances in term and
demand deposits in
CaixaBank

48,068

CriteriaCaixa

Interest-rate hedge
contracts with CaixaBank
(the notional value is
indicated)

*See Note in
Section G
Vivienda Asequible
Arrendamiento y
Servicios, S.L.U.

Mortgage loans with
CaixaBank

1,100,000

32,357

See Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements of the Criteria Group and Note 17
of the individual financial statements of CriteriaCaixa.
D.4

List the mechanisms established to detect, determine and resolve any possible conflicts
of interest between the entity or its group and its Directors or members of or governing
body or its executives.
The Company keeps its Directors informed of their obligations and, in particular, of their
obligation to avoid the conflicts of interest set forth in the Corporate Enterprise Act.
Each year, the Secretary of the Board of Directors or, where applicable, the Deputy
Secretary to the Board of Directors, sends a form for to each Director to indicate the
existence of any conflict of interest, in order for such conflicts to be recorded in the
financial statements and, if applicable, to evaluate if, in exceptional cases, an exemption
should be granted allowing Directors having requested authorisation to carry out given
actions.
Furthermore, the Company as Internal Code of Conduct on matters relating to the Stock
Market, which sets forth various obligations, such as that of refraining from carrying out
certain transactions during certain periods, communicating and reporting given
transactions to the Company, safeguarding and taking action with regard to information
that may be considered insider information.
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RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

E.1

Describe the risk management system in place at the entity.
Risk control is fully integrated in the business and the Criteria Group plays a proactive
role in ensuring that it is implemented. The Board of Directors, delegates responsibility
for supervising the efficacy of the internal control and risk management systems to the
Audit and Control Committee. The Management Committee ensures that controls are
duly implemented, takes decisions on how to improve these controls and provides
updates to the Governing Bodies.
The Corporate Risk Management Policy (hereinafter, "CRM") provides a framework for
the establishment of a risk management model in the Criteria Group, including
CriteriaCaixa and wholly owned companies under direct management (“CRM Model”).
The main aspects of the CRM Model are:












Control environment / Training and communication: promote a risk
management and control culture, informing all employees of updates made to
the CRM policies and procedures and offering regular training.
Setting of corporate targets: based on Criteria Group's mission and vision, these
targets are the basis and starting point for risk identification and assessment
and control activities.
Risk identification and assessment: detection of risks that could prevent
corporate targets from being achieved, and their assessment considering
probability of occurrence and impact (economic, reputational and in relation to
business continuity).
Control activities: ensure the efficiency of the guidelines set by Management in
a control risk framework, associating controls to risks in order to reduce their
probability of occurrence and/or impact.
Monitoring and reporting: controlling risk development for each area and/or
business, monitoring control assessment and assessing their effectiveness in
order to report to the Governing Bodies.
Supervision: ensure the efficiency of the CRM model by verifying the existence
of controls to mitigate risks and check they function correctly.

To work correctly, the CRM Model uses a methodological approach based on the three
lines of defence model, on which different levels of activity are defined to ensure that
risks are managed and monitored efficiently.

First line of defence: made up of the areas/businesses at Criteria Group responsible for:

Identifying, assessing, mitigating and controlling risks, following the
approved internal policies and procedures.

Reporting to the Internal Control Function on the status of the risks for
which they are responsible.

Maintaining effective internal control and consistently implementing risk
control procedures.
Second line of defence: made up of the Internal Control function, which is responsible
for:

Defining of CRM model.

Participate actively in the preparation of risk strategies and in key decisions
about their management.

Consistently monitoring the effectiveness and development of the controls
and risks, reporting to the Management Committee.

Monitoring and ensuring the standardisation of the CRM Model, and
keeping it updated.

Implementing the corresponding improvements to the CRM Model.
Third line of defence: made up of the Internal Audit function, which is responsible for:

Supervising the efficiency and sufficiency of the CRM Model.

Independently assessing the effectiveness of corporate governance, risk
management and internal control.

Verifying and reviewing the implementation of corporate control and risk
management procedures by the first and second lines of defence.
E.2

Identify the bodies in the entity responsible for preparing and implementing the control
and risk management system.
Board of Directors: through the Audit and Control Committee, supervises the efficacy
of internal control and corporate risk management systems, including tax risks. It is the
body responsible for approving the CRM Policy.
Audit and Control Committee: In addition to the above, this committee is responsible
for supervising internal audit services at the Criteria Group. The Audit and Control
Committee relies on the Internal Audit function to oversee the effectiveness of the
CRM Model.
Management Committee This committee is responsible for ensuring that controls are
correctly implemented, taking the required decisions in relation to improvements in the
control activities implemented and/or required action plans, reporting to the Audit and
Control Committee and the Board of Directors.

E.3

Indicate the main risks which may prevent the savings bank from achieving its targets.

As per the methodology set forth in the international standards of the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), the CRM model
establishes four categories of risks which, should they arise, could hinder the Group
achieving its objectives:


Strategic: risks associated with the achievement of corporate targets.



Financial: risks associated with the main financial variables. There are seven
subcategories:








E.4

Liquidity: the risk of insufficient liquid assets to meet contractual maturities
of liabilities, regulatory requirements, or business needs.
Credit: the risk of potential losses arising from a counterparty not meeting
its payment obligations.
Impairment of equity portfolio: Possible loss or impairment in the economic
profitability of the Group's business activities.
Impairment of real estate assets: Possible impairment of real estate assets.
Impairment of other assets: Possibility of depreciation on those Criteria
Group assets that are neither investments nor assets.
Market: Possibility that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a
result of changes in price of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates.
Reliability of Financial Information: Possibility that the integrity, reliability
and quality of financial information may be affected.



Operational: risk of loss arising from mistakes or inadequate management of
internal processes, people, systems, the use of assets or operating
infrastructure.



Legal / compliance: risk relating to compliance with laws, regulation or market
standards in the areas where the Criteria Group operates, in addition to
compliance with internal policies.

Identify whether the bank has risk tolerance levels.
The CRM Model establishes that the areas / businesses of the Criteria Group that make
up the first line of defence identify, assess, control and mitigate risks in an appropriate
control environment, as established in the approved internal policy and procedures. The
effectiveness and performance of these risks and controls is monitored by the Internal
Control function, whilst Internal Audit is responsible for supervising the efficiency of the
model as a whole.
Furthermore, CriteriaCaixa has a number of management indicators in place (those that
are most representative for risk management at the Company), which make it possible
for governing and management bodies to monitor acceptable levels of risk. These
indicators are monitored by the Deputy General Manager of the Finance, Resources and
Human Resources Division and communicated to the Management Committee weekly,
which receives, reviews and reports them to the Audit and Control Committee annually.

E.5

Identify any risks which have occurred during the year.
Currently, the CRM Model comprises the continuous evaluation of 117 risks, 69 of the
holding business and 48 of the real estate business, and its status is reported periodically
to the Group's management and governing bodies. In 2018, of these 117 risks,
2 materialised, with no impact on the Criteria Group's results or ability to generate
value. As a result, control has been strengthened at the transaction planning stage,
which is now operational, and an action plan has been put in place to update procedures
for the retention of documents and data.
In 2018, there was no breach of management indicators, all of which remained within
compliance levels.

E.6

Explain the response and monitoring plans for all major risks, including tax compliance
risks, of the company, as well as the procedures followed by the company in order to
ensure that the board of directors responds to any new challenges that arise.
As mentioned above, the CRM Model implemented employs the three lines of defence
model, on which different levels of activity are defined to ensure that risks are managed
and monitored efficiently.
CriteriaCaixa's Board of Directors periodically monitors the internal control and risk
management systems in place at CriteriaCaixa to this end.
In addition, the Audit and Control Committee is responsible for overseeing the process
of preparing and presenting financial reporting and the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control and risk management systems.
The response and monitoring plans for the main risks to which the Criteria Group is
exposed can be consulted below:
Strategic risks
Through the CRM Model, CriteriaCaixa monitors and reports to management and/or
governing bodies on the status of strategic risks and associated controls to mitigate
them.
Financial risks


Liquidity risk

CriteriaCaixa monitors liquidity risk by consistently monitoring management indicators:
debt ratio (net debt over the market value of the assets), liquidity available at certain
terms, and the interest coverage ratio.
Practically all the Group's financing matures in the long term. In this regard, the Group
continues its efforts to diversify funding sources, and manage the repayment terms of
its debt and the cost thereof.



Credit risk

CriteriaCaixa's Investments area monitors the results generated by CriteriaCaixa's
holdings, carries out regular impairment tests and analyses the corresponding returns
for the Criteria Group.
The Criteria Group has a policy of investing surplus cash in very liquid financial products,
offered or deposited in solvent entities, or in entities in which the Group's net position
in these is in debit.


Impairment risk (of stakes, real estate assets and other assets)

CriteriaCaixa's Investment Area monitors these stakes on an ongoing case-by-case basis
to be able, at any time, to take the most appropriate decisions on the basis of the market
performance observed and predicted and of the Group’s strategy. Also, the values are
subject to ongoing monitoring, in order to assess whether there is any objective
evidence of impairment.
Monitoring of the main investees is also performed by analysts responsible exclusively
for monitoring changes in economic and financial data and for understanding and
issuing alerts in the event of changes in regulations and business and fluctuations in
competition in the countries and sectors in which the investees operate.
Further, to ensure that the portfolio of real estate assets is recognised at its fair value in
the balance sheet, the Criteria Group uses internal models to determine the adjustments
to the main valuation given by full individual appraisals or to appraisals by independent
experts carried out on a regular basis. In particular, the internal valuation model factors
in, amongst others, the Criteria Group's sales experience for each type of asset or the
estimated sales costs to disposal of the asset.
Real estate assets are managed in order to recover the investment made, either by way
of leasing (investment properties), property development or a general plan to sell
(inventories).


Market risk

Price risk
The Company has specialised teams that continuously monitor the listing of investee
companies.
Interest rate risk
The Group regularly monitors the impact of interest rate fluctuations. In order to
mitigate the risk of fluctuations in interest rates on floating rate borrowings,
CriteriaCaixa's management evaluates whether or not to arrange swaps depending on
current and forecast interest rates.

Foreign currency risk
Management assesses the advisability of arranging hedges in respect of its exchange
risks.
The Criteria Group may also be indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk through the
foreign currency investments made by investees due, in certain cases, to the major
international presence of these companies. These risks are assessed and, if applicable,
covered by the investee itself.


Risk associated with financial reporting reliability

The Criteria Group has an appropriate and effective Internal Control over Financial
Reporting System; further details can be consulted in heading F of this document.
Operational risks
Through the CRM Model, CriteriaCaixa monitors and reports to management and/or
governance bodies on the status of operational risks and associated controls to mitigate
them.
Legal/compliance risks
In order to manage compliance risk, the management and governing bodies encourage
the dissemination and promotion of the values and principles set out in the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and other rules of conduct, and their members, as well as
other employees, executives and officers must ensure compliance to these as a core
criteria guiding their day-to-day activities. CriteriaCaixa also has a whistle-blowing
channel on its corporate intranet used to submit enquiries about interpretation and
application of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Code of Information Systems
Use, the Crime Prevention Policy and the Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR)
Policy, and to report any breaches of the aforesaid internal rules.
Therefore, the areas whose business is exposed to compliance risk implement and
manage level one controls to detect potential non-compliance risks and act effectively
to mitigate them. They must also ensure that their procedures are at all times consistent
with current legislation, regulatory standards and codes of conduct and standards,
putting in place mechanisms to prevent issues arising, detect trends and understand
new developments as they arise. Cooperation with advisory functions is therefore
essential.
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (ICFR)
Describe the mechanisms which comprise the internal control over financial reporting
(ICFR) risk control and management system at the entity.

F.1.

Company's control environment
Specify at least the following components with a description of their main
characteristics:
F.1.1. The bodies and/or functions responsible for: (i) the existence and regular
updating of a suitable, effective ICFR; (ii) its implementation; and (iii) its
monitoring.
In their response, entities should note whether the Board of Directors, as laid
down in its regulations, is ultimately accountable for the existence and regular
updating of a suitable, effective ICFR and whether the audit committee,
pursuant to its regulations, is assigned responsibility for its oversight. Likewise,
entities should state whether other internal codes assign senior management
responsibility for the design and management of ICFR.
The ICFR Policy specifically establishes, in addition to other aspects, the roles,
responsibilities and internal control model applicable to ICFR, as described in
this section.
In this connection, the Board of Directors at CriteriaCaixa formally assumes
responsibility for ensuring the existence of a suitable, effective ICFR and has
delegated powers to the Deputy General Manager of the Finance, Resources
and Human Resources Division for its design, implementation and monitoring.
It is also the competent body for the approval of the ICFR Policy and any changes
to it.
CriteriaCaixa's Bylaws state that the Audit and Control Committee's
responsibilities shall include at least the following:
-

Overseeing the process for preparing and submitting required financial
information and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
systems, internal audit and risk management system, including tax risks,
and to discuss with the auditors of accounts any significant weaknesses
in the internal control system identified during the course of the audit;

-

Reviewing the Company’s accounts and periodic financial reporting
which the Board must furnish to the markets and their supervisory
bodies and, in general, to monitor compliance with legal requisites on
this subject matter and the correct application of generally accepted
accounting principles.

Consequently, the Audit and Control Committee is responsible for supervising
the ICFR activities and to this end, receives support from: (i) the functional area
for Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR); (ii) the Internal Audit Area;
(iii) external auditors (as they review the pre-defined procedures in terms of the
ICFR section of the Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR) of CriteriaCaixa
each year); and (iv) other experts as deemed appropriate.
The Management Committee is responsible for revising and approving the ICFR
Process.
The Policy describes the internal control model, as part of which a
methodological and organisational approach has been taken based on the
3 lines of defence applicable to ICFR:
First line of defence: CriteriaCaixa Group Areas/Businesses
The Areas/Business Units assigned the following responsibilities:
- Undertaking transactions that are reflected in accounts.
- Participating in the process for preparing and/or reviewing financial
information.
Second line of defence: Internal control of Financial Reporting
The ICFR function monitors whether the practices and processes in place at the
Company ensure the reliability of the financial information and compliance with
applicable regulations.
Accordingly, it has the responsibility to ensure that financial reporting complies
with the following principles:
- The transactions, facts and other events presented in the financial
information in fact exist and were recorded at the right time (existence
and occurrence).
- The information includes all transactions, facts and other events in
which the Group is the affected party (completeness).
- The transactions, facts and other events are recorded and valued in
accordance with applicable standards (valuation).
- The transactions, facts and other events are classified, presented and
disclosed in the financial information in accordance with applicable
standards (presentation, disclosure and comparability).

- The financial information shows, at the corresponding date, the entity’s
rights and obligations through the corresponding assets and liabilities,
in accordance with applicable standards (rights and obligations).
Third line of defence: Internal Audit
This division is responsible for continuously reviewing the design,
implementation and operation of ICFR at the CriteriaCaixa Group. creating and
issuing reports which help CriteriaCaixa's Audit and Control Committee oversee
ICFR.
F.1.2. The existence or otherwise of the following components, especially in
connection with the financial reporting process:
The departments and/or mechanisms in charge of: (i) the design and review of
the organisational structure; (ii) defining clear lines of responsibility and
authority, with an appropriate distribution of tasks and functions; and
(iii) deploying procedures so this structure is communicated effectively
throughout the entity, with particular regard to the financial reporting
process.
The bank should report the main characteristics of the procedures for the
design, review and updating of the organisational structure, the lines of
responsibility and authority and if these have been documented and distributed
to all employees involved in preparing financial information at the bank and its
group.
CriteriaCaixa’s Board of Directors, its Management Committee and
Appointments and Remuneration Committee, its Management Committee and
through its General Manager, reviews the organisational structure and the lines
of responsibility and authority at the entity.
The lines of responsibility and authority for drawing up the entity’s financial
information are clearly defined. It also has a comprehensive plan which includes,
amongst other issues, the allocation of tasks, key dates and the various revisions
to be carried out by each of the hierarchical levels. Both the above-mentioned
lines of authority and responsibility and planning have been duly documented
and all of those people taking part in the financial reporting process have been
informed of the same.
The ICFR Function reviews, at least once a year and whenever annual or interim
financial statements are issued, all the risks within the ICFR scope and all control
activities designed to mitigate these. This process is carried out in conjunction
with all the areas involved. However, if, during the course of the year,
unidentified circumstances arise that could affect the preparation of financial
information, the ICFR function must evaluate the existence of risks in addition
to those already identified.

Code of conduct, approving body, degree of dissemination and instruction,
principles and values covered (stating whether it makes specific reference to
record keeping and financial reporting), body in charge of investigating
breaches and proposing corrective or disciplinary action.
With regard to the code of conduct, the entity should include information on
how this is distributed, whether employees must formally adhere to it and what
training is given on the code.
CriteriaCaixa has a Code of Ethics approved by its Board of Directors, which sets
forth the values that are specifically to be preserved and the manner in which
the Company is to implement its business activity, establishing enhanced
standards of action which all persons, whether managers, executives or
employees, who perform professional services for CriteriaCaixa are to abide by.
The Code is available to all employees on the Company's intranet. In addition,
the initial text and later amendments approved by CriteriaCaixa's Board of
Directors are sent to persons subject to the Code of Ethics, including proof of
receipt, awareness and commitment to compliance. The same
acknowledgement form is signed by new entrants to CriteriaCaixa's staff.
The reinforced conduct standards of CriteriaCaixa are: CriteriaCaixa’s enhanced
standards of conduct are: regulatory compliance, prevention of conflicts of
interest, protection of the Company’s property and assets, preservation of the
corporate reputation, promotion of competition amongst suppliers, excellence
in the professional exercise of entrusted activities, teamwork, integrity through
rigour in internal control, prevention of fraudulent practices and prohibition of
accepting gifts and presents, compliance with the Internal protocol on relations
between on the one hand "La Caixa" Banking Foundation and CriteriaCaixa and
its subsidiaries and on the other CaixaBank and its subsidiaries, and, lastly, the
preservation of confidentiality. In addition, respect for people, for their dignity
and diversity, for cultures and for their contribution to progress, and
commitment to social and environmental responsibility are CriteriaCaixa values.
Employees have access to a consulting and whistle-blowing channel for cases of
noncompliance with the Code of Ethics that is managed internally and regarding
which CriteriaCaixa ensures confidentiality of communications, and protects the
identity of the person reporting and his/her indemnity.
In addition, CriteriaCaixa has an Internal Code of Conduct for the Securities
Market which regulates the conduct of Directors, officers, employees and
certain third parties who provide services to the Company in such a way that all
of them adjust their actions to the rules of conduct that the Securities Market
Act, Regulation 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council on
Market Abuse and its implementing regulations provide for issuers of securities,
thereby promoting transparency in the markets and protecting, at all times, the
legitimate interest of investors.

The Code is available to all employees on the Company's intranet. In addition,
both the initial text and later amendments approved by CriteriaCaixa's Board of
Directors are sent to the Covered Persons (as defined in the Internal Code of
Conduct), who must sign the corresponding acknowledgement of receipt and
awareness.
CriteriaCaixa also has an IT Policy that was approved by its Board of Directors,
and which applies to all Directors, executives and employees.
The main objectives of this Policy are to raise awareness on and ensure the
proper use and security of the Company’s technological media and of the
information that they contain and that is managed thereon. In addition, it is
permanently available to all employees of CriteriaCaixa through the corporate
intranet.
Communications on possible cases of noncompliance with the IT Policy are sent
to the Deputy General Manager responsible for Legal and Tax Services and any
questions that may arise regarding the interpretation or application thereof are
forwarded to the Resources Area.
The Policy contains clear rules for the proper and efficient use of the
communications and of the IT tools to ensure the quality, integrity,
confidentiality and inviolability of the information, and that the commitments
assumed with counterparties, clients, suppliers and employees are abided by.
‘Whistle-blowing’ channel, for the reporting to the audit committee of any
irregularities of a financial or accounting nature, as well as breaches of the
code of conduct and malpractice within the organisation, stating whether
reports made through this channel are confidential.
The entity should inform all employees of how to access the whistle-blowing
channel (by phone, email, in writing, etc. ) and that all reports are dealt with
confidentially prior to being examined by members of the audit committee.
Reports of possible breaches of the Code of Ethics, the Crime Prevention Policy,
and of the System for Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) and of the
IT Policy may be submitted through the Confidential Consulting and Whistleblowing Channel available on the Company’s intranet for all employees. Once
the report is received, the Deputy General Manager responsible for the Legal
and Tax Area, with the exception of reports made by the Deputy General
Manager him/herself, which will be forwarded to the Chief Executive Officer,
investigates the report, ensuring the confidentiality of the reporting employee's
identity. Once the investigation has ended, the Deputy General Manager
responsible for the Legal and Tax Area or the Chief Executive Officer will
conclude the case, informing the reporting employee of the outcome.
All reports must be individual and confidential. The whistle-blower is only
identified to the persons involved in the investigation, and only if it is absolutely
necessary to do so and only with the employee’s consent.

Internal Audit has access to statistics on the use of the confidential consulting
and whistle-blowing channel, without access to the content of reports made.
Reports and possible failures to comply with the Internal Rules of Conduct on
Matters related to the Securities Market shall be forwarded to the Monitoring
Committee of the Internal Rules of Conduct, made up of three members of
CriteriaCaixa designated by the Board of Directors. The Monitoring Committee
is responsible for enforcing the rules of conduct of the securities markets and
the internal rules of conduct, interpreting the contents thereof, and preparing
disciplinary files in the event of noncompliance.
The relevant Monitoring Committees report to the Audit and Control Committee
on any complaints that may arise.
Periodic training and refresher courses for personnel involved in preparing and
reviewing financial information or evaluating ICFR which address, at least,
accounting rules, auditing, internal control and risk management.

Entities should provide summarised information on the subjects covered in the
training and refresher courses as well as other significant quantitative (the
number of employees who have received the training, etc.) and qualitative
information.
As part of training within the Criteria Group, in 2018, CriteriaCaixa had training
programmes for employees, including 955 hours of technical training, primarily
in the Finance Area and Investment Area, on top of topics such as investee sector
topics and accounts management.
In 2018, 9 CriteriaCaixa employees from the Investment Area, the Finance Area,
the Human Resources Area, the Audit Area and the Legal Services and Corporate
Secretary's Office attended the training course on ICFRS, in addition to the 58
employees who were called in previous years. Also, for certain Criteria Group
employees, basically employees of subsidiaries related to the real estate
business, the ICFRS training course was launched in 2018 and was completed
and passed by 15 employees, in addition to the 18 employees who trained last
year.
In addition, in January 2019, a training session was held on the use of the GRC
Suite computer tool, an application that supports the system used to manage
ICFRS, for new users of this tool.
In addition, the Office of the Deputy General Manager of Finance, Resources and
Human Resources Division of CriteriaCaixa also subscribes to various national
and international accounting and financial publications, journals and websites.
These are checked regularly to ensure that the entity takes into account any
developments when preparing financial information.

F.2.

Risk assessment in financial reporting: The purpose of these indicators is to inform the
market about the degree of development and systematisation in the entity’s process for
identifying the sources and risks of errors or irregularities in its financial reporting.
Associated activities should contemplate both routine or typical transactions as well as
less frequent and potentially more complex ones.
F.2.1. The main characteristics of the risk identification process, including risks of
error or fraud.
With regard to the risk or fraud identification process, entities should provide
information on the process established. It is no necessary to list the risks of error
or fraud identified.
Report the main characteristics of the risk identification process, including risks
of error or fraud, stating whether:
 The process exists and is documented.
 The process covers all financial reporting objectives, (existence and
occurrence; completeness; valuation; presentation, disclosure and
comparability; and rights and obligations), is updated and with what
frequency.
 A specific process is in place to define the consolidation perimeter, with
reference to the possible existence of complex corporate structures, special
purpose entities, holding companies. etc.
 The process addresses other types of risk (operational, technological,
financial, legal, reputational, environmental, etc.) insofar as they may affect
the financial statements.
 Finally, which of the entity’s governing bodies is responsible for overseeing
the process.
The ICFR Policy mentioned in section F.1.1. is complemented by CriteriaCaixa's
ICFR Process, approved by CriteriaCaixa's Management Committee, which
provides a more detailed description of ICFR-related procedures.
The ICFR Process establishes that, at the start of each financial year, the
individual responsible for ICFR matters at the Criteria Group must revise the
scope of the ICFR Model and plan the activities to be undertaken in the following
year, by:
1. Identifying the headings, accounts and disclosures that bear a
significant risk and potentially have a material impact on financial
information, thereby warranting special attention based on the
materiality criteria defined.
2. Linking these headings/accounts to business and support processes.
3. Identifying the companies subject to supervision.

Highlights include:
-

CriteriaCaixa's ICFR Function is responsible for supervising
the implementation of the ICFR model at CriteriaCaixa
subsidiaries, in addition to ensuring the appropriateness of
the methodology implemented at each company and the
homogenisation of the different ICFR models at the Criteria
Group.

-

In the event that a subsidiary has its own ICFR model,
responsibility for overseeing it lies with the Board of
Directors for said subsidiary, subject to supervision by
CriteriaCaixa's ICFR Function.

As indicated in the ICFR Process, the Criteria Group has a methodology to
identify, revise and update the risks and controls that affect the generation of
financial information, including risks of error or fraud.
Responsibility for the process for identifying risks and controlling activities and
transactions that may materially affect the financial statements of CriteriaCaixa
and the Criteria Group lies with the ICFR function, with support from the Areas
responsible for the selected processes subject to review.
This process is performed by drawing up risk matrixes and controls. The
components that comprise these matrixes are as follows:
Processes:
-

Risks and control activities relating to the aforementioned
processes are identified.

-

Risks identification shall relate exclusively to the risk of
material error and fraud in financial information reported
to the markets. Risks of error shall be considered those
risks that could affect the individual and consolidated
financial information of the Criteria Group.

-

Furthermore, the impact of other types of risk (operational,
financial, technological, and compliance, etc.) shall be
taken into account in the identification of risks of material
error in the financial information.

-

As part of risks identification, possible reports received via
the confidential consulting and whistle-blowing channel in
terms of the lack of reliability in terms of the financial
information shall be considered.

Risks:

The ICFR Function reviews, at least once a year and whenever annual or interim
financial statements are issued, all the risks within the ICFR scope and all control
activities designed to mitigate these. This process is carried out in conjunction
with all the areas involved. However, if, during the course of the year,
unidentified circumstances arise that could affect the preparation of financial
information, the ICFR function must evaluate the existence of risks in addition
to those already identified. In any case, risks will refer to possible errors
(intentional or otherwise) in relation to the financial information objectives:
existence and occurrence; completeness; valuation; presentation, disclosure
and comparability; and rights and obligations.
The GRC Suite IT tool, designed to ensure the integrity of ICFR, uniformly reflects
all the activities involved in a process and associates them with existing risks and
controls.
Furthermore, the governing and management bodies receive periodic details on
financial information, while the Audit and Control Committee monitors the
generation, development and review of the financial information via the
Internal Audit function and the opinion of both External Audit and Supervisory
Bodies.

F.3.

Control activities: Investors should be reliably informed of the scope of the specific
control activities the entity has implemented to mitigate the risk of errors or
irregularities in financial reporting. Hands-on experience has helped identify certain
critical areas such as: (i) procedures for confirming estimates and critical judgements;
(ii) outsourced functions; and (iii) the systematisation and documentation of closing
procedures.
F.3.1. Procedures for reviewing and authorising the financial information and
description of ICFR to be disclosed to the markets, stating who is responsible
in each case and documentation and flow charts of activities and controls
(including those addressing the risk of fraud) for each type of transaction that
may materially affect the financial statements, including procedures for the
closing of accounts and for the separate review of critical judgements,
estimates, evaluations and projections.
The Deputy General Manager of Finance, Resources and Human Resources
Division is responsible for preparing and reviewing financial information,
requesting that the other Business Areas and Criteria Group companies ensure
that the financial information submitted is sufficiently detailed.
Financial information is the cornerstone of the control and decision-making
process of the Company’s senior Governing Bodies and Management.
The preparation and review of all financial information hinge on suitable human
and technical resources which enable the Criteria Group to disclose accurate,
truthful and understandable information on its transactions in compliance with
applicable standards.

In particular, the professional experience of the personnel involved in reviewing
and authorising the financial information is of a suitable standard and all are
appointed in light of their knowledge and experience in accounting, audit and/or
risk management. Likewise, by establishing control mechanisms, the technical
measures and IT systems ensure that the financial information is reliable and
complete. Also, financial reporting is monitored by the various hierarchical
levels of the Office of the Assistant Deputy General of Finance, Resources and
Human Resources, and, where applicable, double-checked with other Business
Areas of the Criteria Group. Finally, the key financial information disclosed to
the market is examined and, if applicable, approved by the senior Governing
Bodies of the Criteria Group.
With regard to activities and control procedures directly related to transactions
which may have a material impact on the financial statements, the Criteria
Group has in place a process whereby it constantly revises all documentation
concerning the activities carried out, any risks inherent in reporting the financial
information and the controls needed to mitigate critical risks. This ensures that
all documentation is complete and up-to-date.
In this connection, the documentation of the critical processes and control
activities contains the following information:
-

Description of control activities.

-

Evidence to support the undertaking of said control activities.

-

Control status: implemented, non-existent, not formally arranged.

-

Purpose of control activities:
 Preventive: mitigate the risk resulting from errors or fraud
in financial information.
 Detective: identifies errors and fraud when they occur.

-

Whether the control mitigates a risk that may result in fraud or not.

-

Importance of the control: Key or standard control.

-

Nature of the control: analysis, review and monitoring, policies and
procedures, specialist external advice, system controls, exception reports
or limits of authority/responsibility.

-

Level of control activity automation: manual, semiautomatic and
automatic.

-

Executor and supervisor of the control: in order to ensure the doublecheck, the roles of executor and supervisor of the control must be
separate, provided that this is possible in the organisational structure.

-

Control frequency: annually, half-yearly, quarterly, monthly, weekly,
daily, constant, as required.

-

Control support system.

-

Financial assertions: existence and occurrence, completeness, valuation,
rights and obligations, presentation, disclosure and comparability.

-

Action plans identified associated with the control activity.

All activities and controls are designed to guarantee that all transactions carried
out are correctly recorded, valued, presented and itemised.
The ICFR function analyses the design and level of functionality of control
activities.
The ICFR function will assess the effectiveness of control activities through the
results of evaluations received via IT tools, meetings to ascertain understanding
and verification with process supervisors and/or control activity supervisors, in
addition to the information obtained from the Internal Audit Area.
Based on the information provided, ICFR will take a decision on the
appropriateness and sufficiency of the controls implemented, proposing the
definition of corrective measures, where applicable, for controls that are not
deemed appropriate or sufficient.
Furthermore, the ICFR function determines, as applicable, whether the
weaknesses detected may be indicative of material errors in financial reporting.
Evaluation activities and related evidence are performed through the GRC Suite
software tool.
In relation to the accounting close process, in addition to and as a supplement
to the control activities described above, there are review and approval
procedures applicable to balances and transactions qualifying as significant and
containing a high degree of estimation or judgment, provided that the estimates
or judgments used in the hypothetical scenario have a significant impact on
financial reporting, and are documented in the Report of Judgments and
Estimates submitted to Management and the Audit and Control Committee for
review.
The Criteria Group has an upward internal key control certification process to
ensure the reliability of financial information disclosed to the markets. The
persons responsible for each of the controls identified shall submit certifications
guaranteeing their efficient execution during the period in question. The process
is carried out annually although there are also ad-hoc attestations where
controls of financial reporting are carried out during different periods.
The Assistant Deputy General Manager of Finance, Resources and Human
Resources informs the Audit and Control Committee of the outcome of this
attestation process. Likewise, the Chairman of the Audit and Control Committee
presents a summary of the attestation process to the Board of Directors, for
information purposes.

F.3.2. Internal control policies and procedures for IT systems (including secure
access, control of changes, system operation, continuity and segregation of
duties) giving support to key processes regarding the preparation and
publication of financial information.

The IT systems referred to above are those used to directly prepare the financial
information as well as those which are relevant in processing or controlling
those transactions reflected in this information.
The policies and procedures referred to are those which establish how the
systems and applications operate to: (a) maintain adequate control over access
to applications and systems; (b) establish the steps to be followed to ensure that
new applications, or existing ones when these are modified, process the
transactions adequately and provide reliable information; and (c) establish data
recovery mechanisms as well as providing continuity to the processing and
recording of transactions should the usual operating systems be interrupted.
CriteriaCaixa's Resources Area manages information systems and has its own set
of rules and regulations for using them properly. The IT systems which give
support to processes regarding the preparation of Criteria's financial
information are subject to internal control policies and procedures which ensure
completeness when preparing and publishing financial information, as listed
below:
I.

Information Systems Use Policy, which aims to ensure suitable use of
CriteriaCaixa's technical and computer resources.

II.

Information Security Policy, which aims to ensure that the technical and
organisational measures required to prevent alteration, loss,
unavailability and unauthorised processing of or access to Company
resources and data are properly applied.

III.

Personal Data Protection Policy, which provides the guidelines that all
areas of the Company must follow regarding the protection of personal
data. As specified in the EU General Data Protection Regulation,
personal data means any information relating to an identified or
identifiable natural person.

IV.

Business Continuity Policy, which is intended to specify and establish the
business continuity plan for any person or company that works for the
Company on a universal basis, establishing the organisation's business
continuity guidelines and the commitment of any person or entity
related to CriteriaCaixa with respect to business continuity.

The operational management of CriteriaCaixa's information systems is
outsourced to companies in the CaixaBank Group, which apply internal control
policies and procedures in terms of information systems applicable to
CriteriaCaixa.
Specifically, the following policies apply with regard to:
I.

Information Security Management System: An Information Security
Management System (ISMS) based on international best practices is in
place. This ISMS has obtained, and each year renews, ISO 27001:2013
certification by the British Standards Institution (BSI). This system defines,

amongst other policies, those for accessing IT systems and the internal
and external controls which ensure all of the policies defined are correctly
applied.
II.

Operating and business continuity: An IT Contingency Plan is in place to
deal with serious situations to guarantee IT services are not interrupted.
It also has strategies in place to enable it to recover information in the
shortest time possible. This IT Contingency Plan has been designed and
operates according to ISO 27031:2011. Ernst&Young has certified that the
regulatory governance body for Technological Contingency at CaixaBank
has been designed, developed and is operating in accordance with this
regulation.
The British Standards Institution (BSI) has certified that CaixaBank’s
Business Continuity Management System is ISO 22301:2012 compliant.
These certifications attest:
‐ CaixaBank management’s commitment to business continuity and
technological contingency.
‐ The existence of business continuity and technological contingency
management best practices.
‐ A cyclical process based on continuous improvement.
‐ That CaixaBank has deployed and operates business continuity and
technological contingency management systems which are
compliant with international standards.

III.

Information technology (IT) governance: The Information Technology
Services (IT) governance model ensures that IT services are aligned with
the Entity's business strategy and comply with all regulatory, operational
and business requirements. IT governance is an essential part of overall
governance and encompasses organisational structures and guidelines to
ensure that the IT services support and facilitate the fulfilment of strategic
objectives. The governance model has been designed and developed
according to ISO 38500:2008 standard, and was certified by Deloitte
Advisory, S.L. in July 2014.
CaixaBank's IT services have been designed to meet the business' needs,
guaranteeing the following:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Segregation of duties;
Change management;
Incident management;
IT quality management;
Risk management; operational, reliability of financial
reporting, etc.;
‐ Identification, definition and monitoring of indicators (scorecard);

‐ Existence of governance, management and monitoring
Committees;
‐ Internal controls which include annual internal and external
audits.
F.3.3. Internal control policies and procedures for overseeing the management of
outsourced activities, and of the appraisal, calculation or valuation services
commissioned from independent experts, when these may materially affect
the financial statements.
With regards to the outsourced activities, the information should refer to those
which execute or process transactions reflected in the financial statements,
supervising its correct execution or process and other relevant activities
regarding ICFR at the bank.
For all appraisals, judgements or calculations carried out by third parties, the
bank should indicate if there are procedures in place to check the ability and
independence of the third party and other relevant aspects (methods used,
main assumptions, etc.).
CriteriaCaixa’s activity, with the exception of information system management
outsourced to the CaixaBank Group, with the greatest intervention of external
suppliers is real estate activity.
Concerning this activity, on the one hand, specific registration duties that give
support to processes regarding the preparation of financial information are
outsources, documented and, in large part, semiautomatic in information
systems. Furthermore, control and review procedures are in place to supervise
the adequate performance of the outsourced activities.
Furthermore, with regard to the measurement of the real estate activities
portfolio, the carrying amount of its properties is periodically compared with its
recoverable amount. To determine this recoverable amount, the Directors
consider primarily the appraisals made by independent third-party experts. To
this end, the Criteria Group has a corporate policy that guarantees the
professional competence, independence and objectivity of external valuation
agencies as provided for in legislation, under which these agencies must comply
with neutrality, transparency and technical rigour requirements. These
appraisals are carried out by independent appraisal companies registered on the
Bank of Spain's Official Register of Appraisal Companies.
F.4.

Information and communication: The information sought is so investors know whether
the entity has deployed procedures and mechanisms to convey the applicable control
directives to the staff engaged in drawing up financial information, and are cognisant of
the information systems giving support to such processes.

F.4.1. A specific function in charge of defining and maintaining accounting policies
(Accounting Policies Area or Department) and settling doubts or disputes over
their interpretation, which is in regular communication with the team in
charge of operations, and a manual of accounting policies regularly updated
and communicated to all the entity’s operating units.
Entities should accordingly state what Department or Area is entrusted with this
responsibility, what position they hold within the organisation and if this
function is exclusive. With regard to the manual of accounting policies, the bank
should report on aspects such as: (i) the frequency with which this is updated;
(ii) the main characteristics of the process; and (iii) the date of the latest update.
Responsibility for defining the accounting criteria of CriteriaCaixa lies with the
Financial Management Area, under the Deputy General Manager of Finance,
Resources and Human Resources Division. The objective of the Finance
Management Area is to establish the principles that govern the Criteria Group
in terms of the recognition, measurement and accounting of its transactions,
operations and events for the production and presentation of the Company's
individual and consolidated financial information.
Specifically in terms of accounting policies, the Finance Management Area is
tasked with solving any accounting matter regarding which questions arise in
terms of the interpretation thereof, either because it is a new type of operation
or because of any regulatory change. Furthermore, in terms of one-off
transactions, the Finance Management Area prepares documentation regarding
their analysis and the study of the impact of these transactions on accounts.
Furthermore, it is responsible for monitoring the regulatory implementation of
accounts aspects, and is responsible for training and updating the staff affected.
In addition, there is an Accounting and Management Control Policy, a Group
Accounting Principles Manual and other more specific accounting procedure
manuals applicable to the Group. All these documents are available on
CriteriaCaixa's intranet.

F.4.2. Mechanisms in standard format for the capture and preparation of financial
information, which are applied and used in all units within the entity or group,
and support its main financial statements and accompanying notes as well as
disclosures concerning ICFR.
With regard to this recommendation, entities should report the main
characteristics of the IT applications used by the units within the bank or group,
in order to provide the information used in the financial statements, including
those used in the aggregation and consolidation process of the information
reported by the various units.

The Criteria Group has internal IT tools which guarantee the completeness and
consistency of the processes for capturing and preparing financial information.
All of these applications have IT contingency mechanisms which guarantee that
the data is held and can be accessed in any circumstances.
To prepare the consolidated information, both CriteriaCaixa and other Criteria
Group companies use specialist tools providing mechanisms to capture, analyse
and prepare financial information in standard format. The accounts plan, which
is incorporated in the consolidation application, has been defined to comply
with requirements of the various regulators.
The GRC Suite IT tool ensures the integrity of ICFR and uniformly reflects all the
activities involved in a process and associates them with existing risks and
controls.
F.5.

Monitoring of system functionality: The itemised information provided should show
how the entity monitors ICFR, in order to prevent or remedy deficiencies in its design or
operation, as well as to correct any incidences or weaknesses detected. The points to be
covered concern ICFR monitoring by the audit committee and should reflect actions
taken to this end during the financial year.
F.5.1. The monitoring activities undertaken by the Audit Committee and whether the
bank has an internal audit function whose competencies include supporting
the audit committee in its role of monitoring the internal control system,
including ICFR. Describe the scope of the ICFR assessment conducted in the
year and the procedure for the person in charge to communicate its findings.
State also whether the bank has an action plan specifying corrective measures
for any flaws detected, and whether it has taken stock of their potential
impact on its financial information.
The ICFR monitoring activities refer to those undertaken by the audit
committee. The bank's response should include information on whether these
activities include (i) approval of the audit plans; (ii) ascertaining who shall carry
these out; (iii) assessing the adequacy of the work carried out; (iv) reviewing and
evaluating the results and their effect on financial information; and
(v) prioritising and monitoring the corrective actions.
The internal audit function should state its position in the organisational chart,
who it reports to, the main activities carried out and other relevant aspects
(resources available, exclusivity in carrying out the function, etc.).
The statements on the scope of the ICFR assessment should reveal to what
extent the various components of the financial information published have been
supervised in the year (for example, whether the process for identifying and
assessing risks in financial reporting has been assessed; whether the practices
of the control environment and information system controls have been
assessed; whether the efficiency of the design and the effective working of the
system has been reviewed, etc.).

Notwithstanding the risk management and control functions of the Board of
Directors, the Audit and Control Committee is entrusted with overseeing the
process for preparing and submitting regular financial account information and
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control environment, internal audit
and risk management system and to discuss with auditors of accounts any
significant weaknesses in the internal control system identified during the
course of the audit.
The duties of the Audit and Control Committee include those related to
overseeing the process for preparing and submitting regular financial
information as described in heading F.1.1.
In addition, the Audit and Control Committee carries out, inter alia, the following
activities:
- Review and, where appropriate, submission to the Board of Directors for
approval of the Annual Internal Audit Plan, ensuring that its scope is
sufficient to provide adequate coverage for the main risks to which
CriteriaCaixa and its wholly owned subsidiaries are exposed1.
- Assessment of the conclusions of the internal and external audits carried out
and the possible impact on financial reporting, where applicable.
- Monitoring of corrective action, prioritising each one.
CriteriaCaixa has an Internal Audit unit whose mission is to ensure the proper
management and supervision of the internal control and risk management
system of CriteriaCaixa and its wholly owned subsidiaries. This division, under
the Management team of the Audit and Internal Control Area functionally
reports to the Audit and Control Committee and answers, administratively, to
the Chief Executive Management. It carries out its activities according to the
principles of independence, objectivity and confidentiality, as set forth in its
Regulatory Standard of the Internal Audit Function, approved by the Board of
Directors after review by the Audit and Control Committee.
Its mission is, first, to add value and improve the effectiveness of the internal
control system in the various Areas of CriteriaCaixa and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, contributing to the achievement of its objectives, and, secondly, to
provide a systematic and disciplined approach in evaluating and improving the
risk management and control processes established in CriteriaCaixa and its
wholly owned subsidiaries.
Internal Audit is responsible for:
-

1

Carrying out its professional duties in accordance with generally accepted
internal auditing norms and procedures.
Annual planning of Internal Audit activities, focusing on the key risks
identified within CriteriaCaixa and its fully owned subsidiaries.
Submit the annual planning to the Audit and Control Committee for review
and, where appropriate, submission to the Board of Directors for approval.

For clarification purposes: Saba Infraestructuras S.A., 99.50% owned by Criteria, and its company group, have their
own Internal Audit Department and periodically report to Criteria's Internal Audit Department with any updates on
the main risks faced by the company, the annual audit plan and the conclusions of the audit engagements.

-

-

Attending to the requirements of the regulatory or oversight bodies, and
replying to the ad hoc requests submitted by the Governing Bodies and/or
Management.
Monitoring the implementation of the recommendations formulated in the
Internal Audit reports.

In carrying out its work, Internal Audit:
-

Identifies objectives and analyses the effectiveness of established controls.
Verifies proper compliance with established controls.
Identifies opportunities to improve said controls.
Reports its conclusions to the Area audited, from which it receives a reply
on its conclusion.
Issues a report containing the opinion and, where applicable,
recommendations on the audited process.

Specifically, Internal Audit issues an overall report each year that includes an
evaluation of the functioning of the ICFR during the year, which, together with
the review of the existing controls and audits of other processes, this report
makes it possible to draw a conclusion on the status of the ICFR at the Criteria
Group level.
The annual ICFR assessment at 31 December 2018 has focussed on the following
activities:
-

-

-

Revising the application of the framework defined in the document “Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in Listed Companies” published by the
CNMV which sets out the best practices for internal control over financial
reporting.
Verification of the application of the ICFR Policy and Process in order to
ensure that ICFR at the Criteria Group level is adequate and effective.
Verification of the operation of the GRC Suite tool, the purpose of which is
to monitor the operation of the ICFR through control and evaluation
activities aimed at employees in the Areas involved in the preparation of
financial reporting.
Assessing the hierarchical attestation of the key controls identified process.
Evaluating the descriptive documentation of the relevant processes, risks
and controls in drafting financial information

The Audit and Control Committee and senior management will be informed of
the results of the ICFR evaluation. These reports contain recommendations,
their criticality, the timeframe for resolving them and an action plan detailing
corrective measures, their urgency to mitigate risks in financial information.

F.5.2. A discussion procedure whereby the auditor (pursuant to TAS), the internal
audit function and other experts can report any significant internal control
weaknesses encountered during their review of the financial statements or
other assignments, to the entity’s senior management and its audit committee
or Board of Directors. State also whether the entity has an action plan to
correct or mitigate the weaknesses found.

The entity should report whether the audit committee has established a formal
procedure whereby any significant internal control weaknesses can be reported
to the bodies in question, as well as whether this procedure includes an
assessment and corrective measures of the impact on its financial information.
CriteriaCaixa maintains fluid communication with the accounts auditor, who
communicates with the members of the Audit and Control Committee.
Management is kept permanently informed of the conclusions reached during
the review of the financial statements. The audit team attend meetings of the
Audit and Control Committee, at which they report on the audit plan, the state
of progress in the review of annual and interim financial reporting, and their
conclusions prior to the authorisation for issue of the accounts, including, if
applicable, any internal control weaknesses.
In addition, and within its areas of activity, Internal Audit's reviews conclude
with the issue of a report evaluating the relevant risks and the effectiveness of
internal control of the processes and the transactions analysed. It also evaluates
the possible control weaknesses and shortcomings and formulates
recommendations to correct them. The Internal Audit reports are forwarded to
Management, and the Audit and Control Committee is informed of the main
conclusions from all of the reports. In addition, the Audit and Control Committee
at all of the its ordinary meetings also issues a report on the activities carried
out by the Internal Audit Area, with specific information on all significant
weaknesses identified during the reviews.
Internal Audit continuously monitors compliance with all recommendations
issued. This monitoring information, as well as the relevant incidents identified
in the Internal Audit reviews, are reported to the Audit and Control Committee
and senior management.
F.6.

Other relevant information: The entity should list here any additional information it
deems necessary to better interpret its ICFR mechanisms, providing these have not been
detailed previous responses.
N/A

F.7.

External auditor’s report
F.7.1. The ICFR information supplied to the market has been reviewed by the
external auditor, in which case the corresponding report should be attached.
Otherwise, explain the reasons for the absence of this review.
If section F of the ACGR regarding the description of the main characteristics of
internal control over financial reporting has been reviewed by the external
auditor, pursuant to the professional guidelines established for corporations,
this report shall be published in its entirety as an appendix to the ACGR. If this is
not the case, the ACGR shall contain an explanation as to the reasons why the
ICFR information has not been reviewed by the auditor.

Alternatively, if the auditor has carried out a more extensive review of the
international generally-accepted auditing standards, using as reference a
generally-accepted internal control framework, which offer a certain degree of
security on the design and/or working and/or efficiency of ICFR (along the lines
of the SOX compliance report in the United States), this report shall also be
published as an appendix to the ACGR.
In accordance with the recommendation concerning the Auditor's Report
included in the guidelines on the information relating to Internal Control over
Financial Reporting in Listed Companies published by the National Securities
Market Commission on its website, the accounts auditor of CriteriaCaixa has
reviewed the information on internal control over financial reporting system.
The final report concludes that, as a result of the procedures applied regarding
information on ICFR, there are no relevant inconsistencies or incidents.
This report is attached as an Appendix to the Annual Corporate Governance
Report.
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OTHER INFORMATION OF INTEREST

-

A.2: CriteriaCaixa is wholly owned by Fundación Bancaria "la Caixa", so it is not necessary to
complete this section.

-

C.1.8 The term of office of the Directors is 4 years, and they may be re-elected indefinitely
for periods of equal duration.

-

C.1.11 The position of Secretary of the Board of Directors has been vacant since
18 October 2016. The Deputy Secretary of the Board of Directors is not a Director.

-

C.2.2: At its meeting of 13 March 2019, the Appointments and Remuneration Committee
acknowledged that, in view of the appointment of Ms Isabel Estapé Tous as Trustee of
Fundación Bancaria ”la Caixa”, she is no longer an independent Director of the Company,
and must be reclassified as a proprietary Director. This will be formalised during the current
financial year. Such reclassification will also imply the modification of the composition of the
Board of Directors’ Commissions in order to comply with the regulations in force.
There is no executive or delegate committee. Nor is there a strategic and investments
committee or any other committee other than the Audit and Control Committee and the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

-

D.3. Interest rate hedges for notional value of EUR 1,100,000,000 were entered into in 2015.

-

It should be noted that all information provided on CaixaBank referred to in section F.3.2 of
this document has been produced based on the information provided by said entity.

This annual corporate governance report was adopted by the bank’s Board of Directors at its
meeting held on 14 March 2019.
Indicate whether any Directors or members of the governing body voted against or abstained
from voting on the approval of this Report.
This annual corporate governance report was approved unanimously.

